
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are

in any doubt about the contents of this document or the action you should take, you should

immediately consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other

independent professional adviser duly authorised under the Financial Services and

Markets Act 2000 (as amended) (FSMA) if you are in the United Kingdom or, if not, from

another appropriately authorised independent adviser.

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all your JD Shares, please forward this Circular as soon
as possible to the purchaser or the transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through
whom the sale or transfer was effected, for delivery to the purchaser or transferee. If you have sold
part only of your holding of JD Shares, please consult the bank, stockbroker or other agent through
whom the sale or transfer was effected as to the action you should take.

This document does not constitute or form part of any offer or invitation to purchase, otherwise
acquire, subscribe for, sell, otherwise dispose of or issue, or any solicitation of any offer to sell,
otherwise dispose of, issue, purchase, otherwise acquire or subscribe for, any security.

JD SPORTS FASHION PLC
(Registered in England and Wales No. 1888425)

Proposed acquisition of The Finish Line, Inc.

and

Notice of General Meeting

This document should be read as a whole. Your attention is drawn to the letter from the

Chairman of the Company, which is set out in Part I of this Circular. That letter contains the

recommendation of the Board that you vote in favour of the Resolution to be proposed at

the General Meeting. Your attention is also drawn to the risk factors which are set out in

Part II of this Circular. You should not rely solely on the information summarised in this

document.

Notice of a General Meeting of the Company to be held at Hollinsbrook Way, Pilsworth, Bury,
Lancashire, BL9 8RR at 9.00 a.m. on 15 June 2018 is set out at the end of this Circular.
Shareholders will find enclosed a Form of Proxy for use in connection with the General Meeting.
Whether or not you intend to attend the General Meeting in person, you are requested to complete
the Form of Proxy in accordance with the instructions printed on it and return it as soon as possible
by post or (during normal business hours only) by hand but, in any event, so as to be received by
the Company’s registrar, Equiniti Limited (Equiniti or the Registrar), no later than 9.00 a.m. on
13 June 2018. If you hold JD Shares in CREST, you may appoint a proxy by completing and
transmitting a CREST Proxy Instruction to the Registrar, CREST participant ID number RA19 using
the CREST electronic proxy appointment service, so that it is received by no later than 9.00 a.m.
on 13 June 2018.

The return of the completed Form of Proxy or CREST Proxy Instruction will not prevent you

from attending the General Meeting and voting in person (in substitution for your proxy

vote) if you wish to do so and are so entitled. A summary of the action to be taken by

Shareholders is set out on page 15 of this Circular and in the accompanying Notice.

The proposals in this Circular are conditional on, among other things, the approval of Shareholders
at the General Meeting.

Investec Bank plc (Investec) has been appointed as sponsor to the Company. Investec is
authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and regulated by the PRA and the
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and is acting exclusively for JD Sports and for no-one else in
connection with the Acquisition and will not regard any other person (whether or not a recipient of



this document) as a client in relation to the Acquisition and will not be responsible to anyone other
than JD Sports for providing the protections afforded to its clients, nor for providing advice to any
other person in relation to the Acquisition, the contents of this Circular or any other matter referred
to in this Circular.

Apart from the responsibilities and liabilities, if any, that may be imposed on Investec by FSMA or
the regulatory regime established thereunder, or under the regulatory regime of any jurisdiction
where the exclusion of liability under the relevant regulatory regime would be illegal, void or
unenforceable, Investec accepts no responsibility whatsoever for and makes no representation or
warranty, express or implied, as to the contents of this Circular or for any other statement made or
purported to be made by it, or on its behalf, in connection with JD Sports, Finish Line or the
Acquisition and nothing in this Circular will be relied upon as a promise or representation in this
respect, whether or not to the past or future. Investec accordingly disclaims all and any liability
whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise
have in respect of this Circular or any such statement.

Barclays Bank PLC, acting through its Investment Bank (Barclays), which is authorised and
regulated in the United Kingdom by the FCA and the PRA, is acting exclusively for JD Sports and
for no-one else in connection with the Acquisition and other matters described in this Circular and
will not be responsible to anyone other than JD Sports for providing the protections afforded to
clients of Barclays, nor for providing advice to any other person in relation to the Acquisition, the
contents of this Circular or any other matter referred to in this Circular.

Exchange rates
Throughout this Circular, unless otherwise stated, the USD to GBP exchange rate used in this
Circular is as derived from www.xe.com on the Last Practicable Date, being $1.33 to £1.00. The
information presented in Part IV (Unaudited Reconciliation of Financial Information on Finish Line
to IFRS as applied by the JD Group) and Part VI (Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information) of
this Circular has been prepared on the basis of the notes set out therein.

No profit forecasts or estimates
Unless otherwise stated, no statement in this Circular is intended as a profit forecast or estimate
for any period and no statement in this Circular should be interpreted to mean that earnings,
earnings per share or income, cash flow from operations or free cash flow for the JD Group, Finish
Line or the Enlarged Group, as appropriate, for the current or future financial years would
necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings, earnings per share or income, cash
flow from operations or free cash flow for the JD Group, Finish Line or the Enlarged Group, as
appropriate.

No incorporation of website information
Information on or accessible through the JD Group’s website (www.jdplc.com) and Finish Line’s
website (www.finishline.com) or any other website referred to in this Circular (including any
hyperlinks accessible from those websites) do not form part of, and are not incorporated into, this
Circular.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document, including information included or incorporated by reference in this document, may
contain “forward-looking statements” concerning JD Sports and Finish Line. All statements other
than statements of historical fact included in this Circular may be forward-looking statements.
Without limitation, any statements preceded or followed by or that include the words “will”, “may”,
“targets”, “plans”, “continues”, “believes”, “expects”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “aims”, “estimates” or
words or terms of similar substance or the negative thereof identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements include statements relating to the following: (i) future capital
expenditures, expenses, revenues, earnings, synergies, economic performance, indebtedness,
financial condition, dividend policy, losses and future prospects; (ii) business and management
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strategies and the expansion and growth of JD Sports’, Finish Line’s or the Enlarged Group’s
operations; and (iii) the effects of government regulation on JD Sports’, Finish Line’s or the
Enlarged Group’s business.

The statements above relating to forward looking statements should not be construed as a
qualification on the opinion as to working capital of the Enlarged Group set out in paragraph 10 of
Part VIII (Additional Information) of this Circular.

These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. They have not been
reviewed by the auditors of JD Sports or of Finish Line. These forward-looking statements involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results,
performance or achievements of any such person, or industry results, to be materially different
from any results, performance or achievements expressed or implied to differ materially from those
expressed in the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on
numerous assumptions regarding the present and future business strategies of such persons and
the environment in which each will operate in the future. You are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on the forward-looking statements, which speak only as at the date they were made. All
subsequent oral or written forward-looking statements attributable to JD Sports or Finish Line or
any of their members or any persons acting on their behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety
by the cautionary statement above. All forward-looking statements included in this Circular are
based on information available to the relevant parties on the date hereof. Investors should not
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, and none of JD Sports or Finish Line nor their
respective directors nor Investec undertakes any obligation in respect of, and do not intend to
update or revise, any forward-looking statements, except as required by the Listing Rules, the
DTR, MAR or applicable law or regulation.

Important factors which may cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to, those
described in Part II of this Circular.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Reference to “£”, “pounds”, “pounds sterling”, “sterling”, “p”, “penny” or “pence” is to the lawful
currency of the UK.

Reference to “$”, “USD”, “US$” or “US Dollars” is to the lawful currency of the United States.

Percentages and certain amounts included in this Circular have been rounded for ease of
presentation. Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the precise sum of
the figures that precede them.

DEFINITIONS

Certain terms used in this Circular, including capitalised terms and certain technical terms, are
defined and explained in the “Definitions” section, starting on page 98.
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indicative only and is subject to change. If any of the above times change, the revised times

and/or dates will be notified to Shareholders by announcement through a Regulatory
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                                                    PART I                                                     

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF JD SPORTS FASHION PLC
(Registered in England and Wales with number 1888425)

Directors                                                                                                                 Registered Office
Peter Cowgill (Executive Chairman) Hollinsbrook Way
Brian Small (Chief Financial Officer) Pilsworth
Andrew Leslie (Non-Executive Director) Bury
Martin Davies (Non-Executive Director) Lancashire
Heather Jackson (Non-Executive Director) BL9 8RR
Andrew Rubin (Non-Executive Director)

30 May 2018

Dear Shareholder

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF FINISH LINE

1.       Introduction                                                                                                                             

On 26 March 2018, JD Sports announced that it had entered into a conditional acquisition
agreement pursuant to which Genesis Merger Sub, Inc., a JD Group Company, will merge with and
into Finish Line, with Finish Line surviving such merger as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

Under the terms of the Acquisition, Finish Line shareholders will receive $13.50 in cash for each
Finish Line Share (without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes), valuing the total
equity of Finish Line at approximately $558 million (approximately £420 million).

Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, it is currently expected that completion of the
Acquisition will occur on 18 June 2018 (being 1 Business Day after the General Meeting). The
terms and conditions of the Acquisition are contained in the Acquisition Agreement, which is
summarised in Part VII of this Circular.

The Acquisition, because of its size in relation to JD Sports, is a Class 1 transaction under the
Listing Rules and is therefore conditional upon, among other things, the approval of Shareholders.
A General Meeting is to be held at Hollinsbrook Way, Pilsworth, Bury, Lancashire, BL9 8RR at
9.00 a.m. on 15 June 2018 to seek such approval and a notice convening the General Meeting, at
which the Resolution will be proposed, is set out at the end of this Circular.

The purpose of this Circular is to provide details of the Acquisition, to explain why the Board
considers it to be in the best interests of JD Sports and Shareholders as a whole and to
recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of the Resolution.

2.       Information on Finish Line                                                                                                    

Finish Line is one of the largest retailers of premium multi branded athletic footwear, apparel and
accessories in the United States. It is listed on the NASDAQ stock exchange with a market
capitalisation of approximately $425 million as at 23 March 2018, being the last practicable date
prior to the announcement of the Acquisition. Headquartered in Indianapolis, as at 3 May 2018
Finish Line operated 555 Finish Line branded retail stores, typically in mall-based locations, across
44 US states and Puerto Rico. Finish Line also operates an e-commerce site.

Finish Line retails men’s, women’s and children’s athletic footwear, as well as an assortment of
apparel and accessories. Brand names offered by Finish Line include Nike, Brand Jordan, Adidas,
Under Armour, Puma, New Balance and other globally recognised premium sports brands.
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Additionally, Finish Line is the exclusive retailer of athletic footwear, both in-store and online, for
Macy’s Retail Holdings, Inc. and Macys.com, Inc. Macy’s is one of the US’ premier retailers,
operating more than 690 department stores under the Macy’s and Bloomingdale’s fascias as well
as a number of e-commerce sites. Among other things, Finish Line is responsible for the athletic
footwear assortment at most of Macy’s locations, through Finish Line-branded and unbranded
concessions, and at www.macys.com. As at 3 May 2018, Finish Line operated 375 Finish Line-
branded and 188 unbranded concessions in Macy’s department stores in 38 US states, the District
of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam. These concessions retail men’s, women’s and children’s
athletic shoes as well as a small assortment of apparel and accessories. Brand names offered in
these concessions include, among others, Nike, Skechers, Converse, Puma, New Balance and
Adidas.

For Finish Line’s year ended 3 March 2018, Finish Line had, from continuing operations, net sales
of $1,839.0 million, of which footwear accounted for 94 per cent., operating income of $8.9 million,
income from continuing operations before income tax of $9.0 million and as at 3 March 2018, total
assets were $675.0 million. At 3 March 2018, Finish Line employed a total of 13,300 persons,
3,700 of whom were in full-time employment with the balance in part-time employment.

Marketing and loyalty programmes
Finish Line looks to reach its target audience by using a multifaceted approach to marketing on
national, regional and local levels. These approaches include, but are not limited to, utilising store
windows, e-mail marketing, social media, search engine optimisation, key word searches and
affiliate programmes. Finish Line also benefits from advertising and promotional assistance, such
as co-operative advertising programmes, in-store sales incentives and product training for
employees, from many of its suppliers. Additionally, Finish Line benefits from the multi-million dollar
advertising campaigns of its key suppliers, such as Nike, Adidas and Under Armour.

Finish Line also operates a customer loyalty programme called “Winner’s Circle” where members
can earn financial reward certificates and receive special offers on footwear, apparel and
accessories and receive first and exclusive access to products. There are currently approximately
10 million active members of “Winner’s Circle” and Finish Line maintains a database of all
members which it uses to regularly communicate key initiatives, product offerings and promotions.

Merchandising and distribution
The Finish Line Directors believe that Finish Line’s scale enables it to obtain attractive pricing and
trade terms with its key suppliers. Finish Line currently purchases product from approximately 60
suppliers and manufacturers of athletic and fashion products, the largest of which (Nike)
accounted for approximately 66 per cent. of total purchases in the financial year ended 3 March
2018. Finish Line purchased approximately 94 per cent. of its total merchandise from its five
largest suppliers in the financial year ended 3 March 2018.

Nearly all of Finish Line’s merchandise is shipped directly from suppliers to Finish Line’s
distribution centre in Indianapolis where Finish Line processes and ships by contract and common
carriers to its stores/concessions or direct to customers.

Technology
Finish Line has invested over $105 million since 2015 with a view to creating a multi-channel
customer experience which delivers a consistent, seamless brand experience for customers
across all of its sales channels. Over the last few years, Finish Line has launched a new mobile
app, replaced its existing warehouse and order management system, enhanced its customer data
and analysis systems, and upgraded its digital platform.
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Store improvement programme
In conjunction with the investment in its online and mobile capabilities, Finish Line continues to
make improvements across its store estate with enhancements which, among other things, serve
to connect Finish Line’s mobile app and web customer experience with its store environment.

As well as remodelling many aspects of its existing stores, including shoe walls, store fronts and
logos, Finish Line has been integrating in-store beacon and geo-fencing features which it has
added to its mobile app, into individual Finish Line stores. These features launch tailored offers and
in-store opportunities based on individual customer’s preferences, encouraging nearby “Winner’s
Circle” members to visit stores.

Finish Line financial information
Summary of certain financial information for the financial years ended 27 February 2016,

25 February 2017 and 3 March 2018

                                                                                        Year ended      Year ended      Year ended
                                                                                       27 February     25 February           3 March
Summarised financial information                                              2016                2017                2018
($ million)                                                                           (52 weeks)       (52 weeks)       (53 weeks)
Net sales                                                                                1,799.0            1,844.4            1,839.0
EBITDA                                                                                     128.4                116.9                 98.5
Operating income                                                                       42.5                 54.2                   8.9
Income from continuing operations before

income taxes                                                                           42.5                 53.9                   9.0
                                                                                        –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––
Total assets                                                                               817.5               746.5               675.0
                                                                                        –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––
Cash and cash equivalents                                                        79.5                 90.9                 93.4                                                                                        –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––
Note: The above figures are taken from Finish Line’s U.S. GAAP SEC filings for the relevant periods and so are presented
under Finish Line’s U.S. GAAP accounting policies. Please refer to Part IV (Unaudited Reconciliation of Financial
Information on Finish Line to IFRS as applied by the JD Group) for a presentation of this information on a basis which is
consistent in all material respects with the Company’s accounting policies.

Note: the above figures are on a continuing operations basis only.

3.       Background to and reasons for the Acquisition                                                                 

The Acquisition is fully aligned with the Company’s well established focus of acquiring businesses
which have relevance to the Company’s core strength and the capability of enhancing profitability.

Finish Line’s retail offering is almost entirely based in the US which, with a population in excess of
300 million people, is the largest sportswear market in the World and it is where sneaker culture
was created and the athleisure trend originated. The US continues to be the major influence over
sneaker and athleisure innovation and to be a major presence in that market is considered by the
Directors to be a key strategic benefit in terms of JD Sports’ international growth strategy.

The US is also the home of Nike, the largest global sportswear brand and a key supplier to both
the Company and Finish Line.

Given the importance of the market in the global sportswear industry, the Company has long
identified and researched the US market as a key expansion target to maintain its own growth
strategy.

The scale of the Finish Line business represents a highly attractive opportunity for the Company
to gain a significant physical and online retail presence in the US; a presence which the Directors
believe the Company could not achieve, in the short to medium term, through organic means
alone.
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The Acquisition is expected to significantly increase the global scale of the Company and therefore
its importance to its major international brand partners. The combined purchasing power of the
Company and Finish Line, coupled with strategic alignment in North America with the major
international sportswear brands, is expected to enable the Enlarged Group to bring a highly
differentiated multi-channel retail proposition to the market. The Directors believe that they will be
able to bring new and differentiated product to the US market through the opening of a number of
JD branded stores and accelerated refurbishment of the Finish Line stores.

4.       Strategy of the Enlarged Group

The Company is a leading multi-channel retailer, enabling customers to shop seamlessly across
well invested physical retail stores and digital channels.

The global scale of the Enlarged Group is expected to enable a greater degree of product
differentiation to be delivered to the market by the major international brands as well as enhancing
the Enlarged Group’s negotiating position with these major brands.

Through continual innovation, the Company aims to meet rapidly changing consumer demands
and successfully partner with major international brands to provide highly differentiated and market
leading consumer experiences across the UK, Europe and other selected global markets.

It is the Company’s current intention to initially operate a dual fascia strategy in the US, working
with the incumbent Finish Line management team to roll out the JD product and multi-channel
retail concept in key locations. Through collaboration with the major international sportswear
brands, the market insight from the incumbent Finish Line management team and utilising Finish
Line’s existing infrastructure, the JD multi-channel retail concept will be continually evolved to meet
the demands of the US consumer. If the results are compelling, the concept may be rolled out
across the remaining Finish Line stores and concession estate over time. Following Completion,
JD Sports also intends to work with Finish Line’s management to continue to consolidate Finish
Line’s retail estate and improve its retail offer.

The strategy of the Enlarged Group will focus on bringing the Company’s highly differentiated
multi-channel retail proposition to the US market.

A number of Finish Line stores have undergone significant capital investment in the last two years
in which a multichannel environment has been developed which the Finish Line Directors believe
is more aligned with its brand partners. Following Completion, the Company intends to continue to
invest in this reinvigoration of the store estate. The Directors believe that ongoing investment in
the Finish Line estate will further enhance the Enlarged Group’s relationships with key brands.

Finish Line’s digital platforms have also received significant investment and the Directors intend to
continue operating both the Company and Finish Line/Macy’s digital platforms with an enlarged
digital team utilising the best aspects of both the Company’s and Finish Line’s digital frameworks
for the benefit of the Enlarged Group.

5.       Financial effects of the Acquisition                                                                                      

Financial terms
The Company has entered into the Acquisition Agreement to acquire Finish Line for $13.50 per
Finish Line Share in cash, valuing Finish Line’s total equity at approximately $558 million
(approximately £420 million). The terms of the acquisition represent a premium of 28 per cent. to
the closing price of Finish Line Shares of $10.55 on 23 March 2018 (being the last practicable date
before the Company announced the terms of the Acquisition).

Synergies and integration                                                                                                               
The distinct geographies and markets in which the Finish Line and the JD Sports businesses
operate demand their own dedicated teams which the Directors do not believe would benefit from
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rationalisation. As such, the Directors do not envisage any significant adjustments to the
headcounts of either the Finish Line or the Company’s businesses as a result of the Acquisition
and it is currently intended that the existing senior management team of Finish Line will continue
to lead the Finish Line business with oversight and input from the Company’s executive and senior
management.

Finish Line will be delisted from the NASDAQ stock exchange following Completion. This process
is expected to deliver a small future cost saving.

New debt facility
The Company’s balance sheet prior to the Acquisition had limited leverage with a £215 million
revolving credit facility (JD RCF) available. The JD RCF, agreed in September 2015, has been
largely unutilised since then, with the Company’s working capital cycle, capital expenditure and
other cash costs being financed from cash reserves.

On 29 May 2018, the JD RCF was replaced with a new multi-currency revolving credit facility
consisting of a £400 million revolving credit facility (New RCF), up to £25 million of which can be
used as an ancillary facility, with a maximum draw down available of £400 million. The New RCF
was initially jointly underwritten by Barclays Bank PLC and HSBC Bank plc but has now been
syndicated across five banks through the Company’s existing banking network.

Financing the Acquisition                                                                                                               
As set out above, under the terms of the Acquisition, Finish Line shareholders will receive $13.50
per Finish Line Share in cash, valuing Finish Line’s total equity at approximately $558 million. This
is to be funded as follows:

•         $150 million of funding will be provided through leveraging the Finish Line balance sheet
(with Finish Line’s existing revolving credit facility of $125 million being terminated on
Completion) via a new asset based lending facility (ABL Facility) of $315 million,
underwritten by PNC Capital Markets LLC; and

•         the acquisition cost balance of $408 million will be drawn down against the New RCF (with
the dollar cost of acquisition hedged at $1.41:£1).

The total ABL Facility agreed with and underwritten by PNC Capital Markets LLC is for $315 million
and the available balance will be used to provide working capital headroom for the Finish Line
business post Completion. The ABL Facility will be secured through a first ranking charge against
the inventory and receivables of Finish Line. Capital and interest charges relating to the ABL
Facility will be financed in the US by Finish Line with no recourse to the UK for this debt.

The Directors envisage being able to reduce the core level of UK borrowing utilised to fund the
Acquisition through cashflow generated by the Company’s existing domestic and international
businesses over the medium term.

Additional costs relating to the Acquisition
As with many listed businesses, Finish Line has in place a number of management incentive
schemes. The liabilities of these schemes will crystallise upon a change in control of Finish Line,
including as a result of the Acquisition. The anticipated costs to the Company of settling such
schemes total an additional $1.4 million. This is to be financed via the existing cash in Finish Line.

Other costs specific to the Acquisition are anticipated to total approximately £3.8 million for the
account of the Company and $8.6 million for the account of Finish Line. These are to be financed
via the New RCF and/or available cash balances.
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Earnings per share and other financial information
The Acquisition is anticipated to make a small incremental positive contribution to the Company’s
results and earnings per share in the period to 2 February 2019. Thereafter, the longer term
financial benefit derived from the Acquisition will depend on how quickly JD can, alongside Finish
Line’s management, make changes to the Finish Line business and improve the retail offer.

An unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the Enlarged Group is set out in Part VI
(Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information).

Dividend policy
Following Completion and subject to the Enlarged Group’s trading prospects being satisfactory, the
Board intends to continue its approach of looking to strike a fair balance for shareholders with
appropriate capital retained to facilitate ongoing investment and developments, which will drive
growth in the business over the longer term.

6.       Current trading and prospects                                                                                              

JD Sports
On 17 April 2018, the Company released its results for the year ended 3 February 2018. The
update on outlook was as follows:

“Given the significant change in the timing of Easter relative to last year, it is not relevant to issue
any detailed update at this time on trading to date in the new financial year. However, at this early
stage, we are satisfied with progress and remain confident about the prospects for the current
financial year. Our next scheduled update will take place upon the announcement of our Interim
Results which is scheduled for 11 September 2018.”

“The Board remains confident in the robustness and international potential of the JD proposition
and is excited by the major developments ahead.”

The JD Group’s trading remains in line with the contents of that announcement.

Finish Line

On 29 March 2018, Finish Line reported results for its 14 week and 53 week periods ended 2
March 2018, compared to the 13 week and 52 week periods ended 25 February 2017 and issued
a press release which included the following commentary on such results:

For the 14 weeks ended 3 March 2018 compared to the 13 weeks ended 25 February 2017*:

•         Consolidated net sales were $561.3 million, an increase of 0.7 per cent. over the prior year
period. 

•         Finish Line’s sales decreased 0.9 per cent.

–        Finish Line comparable sales decreased 7.9 per cent.**

•         Finish Line Macy’s sales increased 8.5 per cent.

•         On a GAAP basis, diluted earnings per share from continuing operations were $0.40.

–        Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share from continuing operations, which primarily
excludes the impact from impairment charges and store closing costs and the
company’s revaluation of its deferred tax liability as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act, were $0.59.
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For the 53 weeks ended 3 March 2018 compared to the 52 weeks ended 25 February 2017*:

•         Consolidated net sales were $1.84 billion, a decrease of 0.3 per cent. from the prior year
period.

•         Finish Line’s sales decreased 1.9 per cent.

–        Finish Line comparable sales decreased 3.9 per cent.**

•         Finish Line Macy’s sales increased 7.5 per cent.

•         On a GAAP basis, diluted earnings per share from continuing operations were $0.36.

•         Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share from continuing operations, which primarily excludes
the impact from impairment charges and store closing costs and the company’s revaluation
of its deferred tax liability as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, were $0.69.

*      Excludes comparable sales.

**     Finish Line comparable sales were calculated by comparing the 14 week and 53 week periods ended 3 March 2018

to the 14 week and 53 week periods ended 4 March 2017.

7.       Principal terms of the Acquisition                                                                                        

This section summarises the principal terms and conditions of the Acquisition Agreement which is
governed by the laws of the State of Indiana (except for any dispute or claim against any lender or
any of its affiliates providing acquisition finance, which is governed by the laws of the State of New
York). Further details of the Acquisition Agreement are set out in Part VII of this Circular.

Closing Conditions
The Acquisition constitutes a Class 1 transaction for the Company, and therefore, under the UK
Listing Rules, will require approval by a majority of the Company’s shareholders.

In addition, the Acquisition Agreement contains a number of customary conditions which must be
satisfied by one or both of the parties prior to the completion of the Acquisition Agreement
(Closing), including:

•         The approval by the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding Finish Line Shares;

•         The expiration of the 30 days’ waiting period after the submission of anti-trust filings by both
Finish Line and the Company under the US federal anti-trust laws, such period having
expired early on 16 April 2018;

•         The absence of a Company Material Adverse Effect in the period between the signing of the
Acquisition Agreement and the Closing; and

•         The continuing accuracy of a number of representations and warranties which are
customary in a transaction of this nature and the performance of, and compliance with, the
covenants set out in the Acquisition Agreement.

“No Shop” Obligation
The Acquisition Agreement contains a “no shop” obligation, pursuant to which Finish Line is
prohibited from soliciting any competing transaction proposals. Moreover, Finish Line is required
to enforce its “poison pill” and applicable anti-takeover laws (including Indiana “control share” and
“business combination” statutes) against anyone other than the Company and Genesis Merger
Sub, Inc., is prohibited from engaging in discussions with respect to any competing transaction
proposal, and the Finish Line Board is prohibited from withdrawing or qualifying its
recommendation to the holders of Finish Line Shares to approve the Acquisition Agreement, in
each case, unless a third party makes an acquisition offer that the Finish Line Board concludes in
accordance with the parameters set forth in the Acquisition Agreement to be a Superior Proposal.
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However, if at any time before the Finish Line Shareholder Approval has been obtained, the Finish
Line Board concludes that the failure to withdraw its recommendation to the holders of Finish Line
Shares to approve the Acquisition Agreement or to terminate the Acquisition Agreement in
response to a Superior Proposal would be a breach of its fiduciary duties under applicable law,
then the Finish Line Board may under certain circumstances change its recommendation or
terminate the Acquisition Agreement in order to enter into such Superior Proposal, provided that
Finish Line is required to notify, and negotiate with, the Company in order to allow the Company
to improve the terms of the Acquisition, that Finish Line has not breached its “no shop” obligation
and, prior to such termination of the Acquisition Agreement, and that Finish Line has paid a
$28 million “break fee” to the Company.

“Break Fee” and Expense Reimbursement
There is a certain level of “deal risk” in this Acquisition, as is customary for a US public company
transaction. Such “deal risk” refers to the possibility of a third party making a Superior Proposal
during the period between the signing of the Acquisition Agreement and the Finish Line
Shareholder Approval, and thereby causing the Finish Line Board to terminate the Acquisition
Agreement. Therefore, in the Acquisition Agreement, the Company has negotiated certain
protectionary provisions which mean that the Company would be entitled to a “break fee” in the
sum of $28 million (minus any Expense Reimbursement paid or payable, further details of which
are set out below) under certain circumstances, including:

•         Finish Line terminates the Acquisition Agreement in order to accept a Superior Proposal
(provided, that Finish Line may only do so if it has complied with its “no shop” obligation
summarised above, and described in more detail in Part VII);

•         The Company terminates the Acquisition Agreement because the Finish Line Board (i) has
withdrawn, changed or qualified its recommendation to the holders of Finish Line Shares to
approve the Acquisition Agreement or (ii) has breached its “no shop” obligation;

•         Either party terminates the Acquisition Agreement because the consummation of the
Acquisition has not occurred on or before 25 September 2018, or the Company terminates
the Acquisition Agreement because (i) the Finish Line Shareholder Approval has not been
obtained at the Finish Line Shareholder Meeting, as defined in Part VII of this Circular, or
any adjournment thereof, or (ii) the Finish Line Board has withdrawn, changed or qualified
its recommendation to the holders of Finish Line Shares to approve the Acquisition
Agreement or has breached the “no shop” obligation or (iii) there is a continuing inaccuracy
of the representations and warranties of Finish Line or Finish Line is failing to perform or
comply with its covenants and such breach has not been cured, and the following conditions
are met:

–        prior to such termination, an Alternative Transaction Proposal has been made and was
still pending at such termination; and

–        within 12 months after such termination, Finish Line agrees to undergo (and
subsequently consummates) or otherwise consummates a change of control
transaction.

In addition, Finish Line must reimburse the Company’s reasonable and documented out-of-pocket
fees and expenses incurred in connection with the contemplated Acquisition up to $5.6 million
(Expense Reimbursement) including if the Acquisition Agreement is terminated because:

•         the consummation of the Acquisition has not occurred on or before 25 September 2018, and
prior to such termination, an Alternative Transaction Proposal has been made and is still
pending;

•         the Finish Line Shareholder Approval has not been obtained at the Finish Line Shareholder
Meeting or any adjournment thereof;
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•         the Finish Line Board has withdrawn, changed or qualified its recommendation to the holders
of Finish Line Shares to approve the Acquisition;

•         Finish Line has breached its “no shop” obligations;

•         there is a continuing inaccuracy in Finish Line’s representations and warranties; or

•         Finish Line has not complied with its covenants in all material respects.

Any such Expense Reimbursement will be credited against any “break fee” paid or payable such
that Finish Line, in the aggregate, will not be required to pay more than $28 million.

8.       General Meeting

As described above, the Acquisition is conditional upon, among other things, the approval of
Shareholders at the General Meeting. Set out at the end of this Circular is a notice convening the
General Meeting. The General Meeting will be held at Hollinsbrook Way, Pilsworth, Bury,
Lancashire, BL9 8RR at 9.00 a.m. on 15 June 2018. The Resolution for Shareholders to approve
the Acquisition will be proposed as an ordinary resolution requiring a simple majority of votes in
favour to be passed. The Acquisition will not proceed if the Resolution is not passed. The full text
of the Resolution is set out in the Notice.

In order to be willing to enter into the Acquisition Agreement and to recommend it to their
shareholders, the board of Finish Line required the Company to deliver to it irrevocable
undertakings from the Company’s directors holding shares and its majority shareholder to vote in
favour of a resolution to be put to the Company’s shareholders to approve the Acquisition.
Accordingly, at the Board’s request, Pentland Group plc has provided an irrevocable undertaking
to the Company to vote in favour of the Resolution and against any resolution, proposal or motion
that the Resolution be withdrawn or otherwise not be voted on, in respect of their entire holding in
the Company, representing approximately 57.47 per cent. of the total issued share capital of the
Company. Andrew Rubin is a Director and also a shareholder of Pentland Group plc.

Furthermore, the Directors have irrevocably undertaken to vote in favour of the Resolution and
against any resolution, proposal or motion that the Resolution be withdrawn or otherwise not be
voted on, in respect of their beneficial holdings of 8,924,260 JD Shares in aggregate, representing
approximately 0.92 per cent. of the total issued share capital of the Company.

Accordingly, the Company has, in aggregate, received irrevocable undertakings to vote in favour
of the Resolution in respect of 568,198,700 JD Shares, representing approximately 58.38 per cent.
of the Company’s issued share capital.

9.       Further information                                                                                                                

Shareholders should read the whole of this Circular and not just rely on the summarised
information, including the summarised financial information, contained in this Part I. In particular,
your attention is drawn to the risk factors set out in Part II of this Circular and the information set
out in Part VII.

10.     Action to be taken

You will find enclosed with this Circular a Form of Proxy for use at the General Meeting.

Whether or not you propose to attend the General Meeting in person, you are asked to

complete the Form of Proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return

it to Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA, so

as to arrive as soon as possible, but in any event so as to be received by no later than

9.00 a.m. on 13 June 2018.

If you hold JD Shares in CREST, you may appoint a proxy by completing and transmitting a
CREST Proxy Instruction to Equiniti Limited, (CREST participant ID RA19) so that it is received no
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later than 9.00 a.m. on 13 June 2018. Completion and return of the Form of Proxy or CREST Proxy
Instruction will not prevent you from attending and voting in person if you wish to do so (and are
so entitled).

Completion and return of a Form of Proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting at the
General Meeting in person if you wish.

11.     Recommendation                                                                                                                    

The Board considers the Acquisition to be in the best interests of the JD Shareholders as

a whole and unanimously recommends that JD Shareholders vote in favour of the

Resolution, as the Directors who hold JD Shares have irrevocably undertaken to do so in

respect of their own beneficial holdings, which as at the Last Practicable Date amount to

8,924,260 JD Shares in aggregate, representing approximately 0.92 per cent. of the total

issued share capital of the Company.

Yours faithfully

Peter Cowgill

Executive Chairman
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                                                   PART II                                                    

RISK FACTORS

Shareholders should be aware that a shareholding in the Company involves a degree of

risk. In addition to the other information contained in, or incorporated by reference in, this

Circular, the following risk factors should be considered carefully in evaluating whether to

vote on the Resolution.

The risks and uncertainties described below represent those known to the Board as at the

date of this Circular which the Board consider to be material risks relating to the

Acquisition, in addition to material risks relating to the Enlarged Group which result from

or are impacted by the Acquisition. However, these risks and uncertainties are not the only

ones facing the JD Group, the Finish Line Group or, following Completion, the Enlarged

Group. Additional risks and uncertainties that do not currently exist or that are not currently

known to the Board, or that the Board currently consider to be immaterial, could also have

a material adverse effect on the business, operations, financial condition or prospects of

the JD Group, the Finish Line Group or, following Completion, the Enlarged Group.

If any or a combination of the events described below actually occurs, the business,

operations, financial condition or prospects of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group or,

following Completion, the Enlarged Group could be materially and adversely affected. In

such case, the market price of the JD Shares could decline and investors may lose all or

part of their investment.

The order in which the following risk factors are presented does not necessarily reflect the

likelihood of their occurrence or the relative magnitude of their potential material adverse

effect on the JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s or, following Completion, the Enlarged

Group’s, business, financial condition, results, operations, future prospects or the market

price of the JD Shares.

Shareholders should read this Circular as a whole and not rely solely on the information set

out in this section.

The information given is as of the date of this Circular and, except as required by the FCA,

the LSE, the Listing Rules, the DTRs or any other law or regulation, will not be updated.

1.       Risks related to the Acquisition

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions which, if
not satisfied, may result in the Acquisition not proceeding

Under the Acquisition Agreement, completion of the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of certain customary closing conditions, including:

•         in the case of both party’s obligations to consummate the Acquisition:

–        approval by the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding Finish Line Shares;

–        adoption of the Resolution at the General Meeting or any adjournment thereof, since
the Acquisition constitutes a Class 1 transaction for the purposes of the Listing Rules
(Shareholder Approval Condition);

–        expiration of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements
Act of 1976 (which occurred on 16 April 2018);
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•         in the case of the Company’s obligations to consummate the Acquisition:

–        absence of a material adverse effect regarding Finish Line since the signing of the
Acquisition Agreement;

–        absence of any action challenging the Acquisition Agreement or the consummation of
the Acquisition, or seeking to compel Finish Line, the Company or any of their
respective subsidiaries to divest themselves, or dispose of, or restrict the operation of,
their assets or businesses or the exercise of voting rights; and

–        absence of any law, action, order or other legal restraint or prohibition with respect to
the Acquisition that effectively prohibits, renders illegal or enjoins the consummation
of the Acquisition;

•         in the case of each party’s obligation to consummate the Acquisition:

–        the continuing accuracy of the respective other party’s representations and warranties
contained in the Acquisition Agreement (subject to certain materiality standards); and

–        the other party’s compliance with its covenants and agreements contained in the
Acquisition Agreement in all material respects.

The satisfaction of certain of these conditions is beyond the Company’s control and dependent on
the actions of third parties. The Shareholder Approval Condition cannot be waived by the parties
to the Acquisition Agreement and, therefore, if the Shareholder Approval Condition is not fulfilled,
the Acquisition will not complete.

Failure to complete the Acquisition may have a material adverse effect on the price at which the
JD Shares are traded and may affect the Company’s ability to deliver shareholder value.

Representations and warranties contained in the Acquisition Agreement provide limited
recourse for the Company
The Acquisition Agreement contains representations and warranties on the part of Finish Line
which, as is usual in a transaction of this nature, cannot be enforced after Completion. The
Company’s only remedy in the event of a breach or inaccuracy of Finish Line’s representations and
warranties prior to Completion is, under certain circumstances and subject to certain requirements
being met, the right to terminate the Acquisition Agreement (which could result in a “break fee” of
$28 million or an expense reimbursement of up to $5.6 million (which would be credited against
any “break fee” paid or payable by Finish Line to the Company such that in the aggregate, Finish
Line will not be required to pay more than $28 million) becoming payable by Finish Line to the
Company, as more fully described in Part VII). However, the Company would not have a right to
recover damages or compensation in the event of an undisclosed liability of Finish Line arising
after Completion. In addition, the Company may not have had access to full information about
Finish Line prior to the signing of the Acquisition Agreement as is the nature with due diligence
processes in transactions. Limitations in the ability of the Company to enforce the representations
and warranties in the Acquisition Agreement could result in the Company assuming undisclosed
liabilities as a result of the Acquisition and/or realising a lower value from the Acquisition than
anticipated.

Finish Line’s stockholders may bring legal action in connection with the Acquisition
As is commonly the case with similar transactions in the US, holders of Finish Line Shares could
bring action (also by way of class action) against Finish Line’s directors for alleged breach of their
fiduciary duties or securities laws, and against other defendants for aiding and abetting in such
alleged breach of fiduciary duties or securities laws, seeking, among other things, injunctive relief
to prevent the Acquisition from closing. They may not bring an action to invalidate the transaction,
however. Further, under Indiana law, there is a statutory standard of review of whether the directors
acted with “willful misconduct or reckless disregard” of their fiduciary duties, which the Courts have
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consistently applied, before there can be any personal liability on the part of the directors. The
Indiana statute protects both directors and the validity of the corporate action taken by them in the
good faith exercise of their business judgement after reasonable investigation. Nevertheless, any
such action by holders of Finish Line Shares could delay Completion, or otherwise have adverse
effects on the Acquisition, Finish Line and/or the Company.

Under Chapter 44 of the Indiana Business Corporation Law, holders of shares of an Indiana
corporation that are entitled to vote on a merger or similar transaction and that are traded on
NASDAQ do not have the right to dissent and seek payment of the “fair value” of those shares
involved in a merger. Since Finish Line is an Indiana corporation and the Finish Line Shares are
traded on NASDAQ, holders of Finish Line Shares will accordingly not be entitled to exercise
dissenters’ rights (such as “appraisal rights”) in connection with the Acquisition.

Events may occur which have an adverse effect on the Finish Line Group but do not entitle
the Company to terminate the Acquisition
The Company will be entitled to terminate the Acquisition Agreement only in certain limited
circumstances more fully described in Part VII. Other events or developments may occur during
the period to Completion which have an adverse effect on the Finish Line Group, but the Company
would be required to proceed with Completion, and this could have a material and adverse effect
on the business of the Enlarged Group.

The Company’s Acquisition-related costs may be greater than expected
The Company expects to incur a number of costs in relation to the Acquisition, including integration
and post-Completion costs in connection with combining the operations of the JD Group and the
Finish Line Group. The actual costs of integration may exceed those estimated and there may be
further additional and unforeseen expenses incurred in connection with the Acquisition. In addition,
the Company will incur legal, accounting, transaction fees and other costs relating to the
Acquisition, some of which are payable whether or not the Acquisition completes.

Although the Board believes that the integration and Acquisition costs will be more than offset by
the realisation of the synergies resulting from the Acquisition, this net benefit may not be achieved
in the short-term or at all. In such case, the results of operations and financial condition of the
Enlarged Group may be materially adversely affected.

The Enlarged Group may not realise, or it might take the Enlarged Group longer than
expected to realise, the expected benefits, synergies and cost efficiencies of the
Acquisition.
The Company may not realise the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition set out in Part I, or it may
take longer than expected to realise those benefits. To the extent that the Company incurs higher
integration costs, achieves lower margin benefits or fewer cost savings than expected, the financial
condition of the Enlarged Group may suffer, which may have a material adverse effect on the price
at which the JD Shares are traded.

The expected cost synergies are based upon assumptions about the Enlarged Group’s ability to
implement these measures in a timely fashion and within certain cost parameters. The Enlarged
Group’s ability to achieve the planned cost synergies is dependent upon a significant number of
factors, some of which may be beyond its control. If one or more of the underlying assumptions
regarding the integration of the two businesses prove to be incorrect, it may not be possible to
achieve the expected cost synergies.

Any inability of the Enlarged Group to realise the anticipated cost savings, synergies and revenue
enhancements from the Acquisition could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. This could have a material adverse effect on
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relationships with customers, regulators, employees, suppliers and other market participants. In
addition, cost and operational efficiencies realised as the result of integrating the two businesses
may not be sustainable in the long-term, and may be negatively affected by unforeseen legal,
regulatory, contractual or other issues or other costs, which could have a material adverse effect
on the Enlarged Group.

The Enlarged Group may experience difficulties in integrating the businesses of the
Company and Finish Line
If the Acquisition completes, achieving the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition will depend in part
upon whether the Company and Finish Line integrate their businesses in an effective and efficient
manner. While the Board is confident in its ability to integrate the Finish Line business, there is
nevertheless a material risk that the Company and Finish Line may not be able to accomplish this
integration process successfully, either in full or in part, which could have a material adverse effect
on the Enlarged Group’s results of operations, financial condition and/or prospects. The integration
of businesses is complex and time-consuming. The difficulties that could be encountered include
the following:

•         integrating personnel, operations and systems, while executing the Enlarged Group’s
business plan;

•         co-ordinating a greater number of geographically dispersed organisations;

•         distraction of management and employees from operations;

•         changes or conflicts in corporate culture;

•         management’s inability to manage a significant increase in the number of employees;

•         management’s inability to train and integrate personnel;

•         retaining existing employees and attracting new employees;

•         maintaining business relationships; and

•         inefficiencies associated with the integration and management of the operations of the
Enlarged Group.

In addition, there will be integration costs and non-recurring transaction costs (such as fees paid
to legal, financial, accounting and other advisers and other fees paid in connection with the
Acquisition), including costs associated with combining the operations of the JD Group and the
Finish Line Group and achieving the potential cost savings within the Finish Line Group that have
been identified by the Company, and such costs may be significant.

An inability to realise the full extent of the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition, including potential
cost savings within the Finish Line Group that have been identified by the Company, as well as any
delays encountered in the integration process and realising such benefits, could have an adverse
effect upon the revenues, level of expenses and operating results of the Enlarged Group, which
may materially adversely affect the value of the JD Shares after Completion.

Management distraction in connection with the Acquisition could have an adverse effect on
the businesses of the Company and Finish Line
The Acquisition has required, and will continue to require, substantial amounts of both time and
focus from the management teams of the Company and Finish Line, which could adversely affect
their ability to operate the businesses. The management teams of the Company and Finish Line
will also be required to devote significant attention and resources to integrating the businesses.
There is a risk that the challenges associated with managing the Acquisition will result in
management distraction and that consequently the underlying businesses will not perform in line
with expectations.
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The Company will incur additional indebtedness in connection with the Acquisition, which
may decrease its ability to fund expansionary initiatives. All of the Company’s debt
obligations will have priority over the JD Shares with respect to payment in the event of a
liquidation
The Company is party to a multicurrency revolving facility with Barclays Bank PLC (as agent) and
others which it is proposed be drawn down in order to finance (in part) the Acquisition.

While the Board still expects to be able to invest in targeted acquisitions following Completion, the
Enlarged Group’s increased indebtedness following Completion could reduce funds available to
fund expansionary initiatives, including for currently uncommitted capital expenditure and future
acquisitions and may create competitive disadvantages for the Enlarged Group relative to other
companies with lower indebtedness levels.

In any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, JD Shares would rank behind all debt
claims against the Company or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, any convertible or exchangeable
securities or other equity securities that the Company may issue in the future may have rights,
preferences and privileges more favourable than those of JD Shares. As a result, holders of JD
Shares will not be entitled to receive any payment or other distribution of assets upon any
liquidation or dissolution until after the Company’s obligations to its debt holders and holders of
equity securities which rank senior to the JD Shares have been satisfied.

This risk factor is not intended to qualify the working capital statement set out in paragraph 10 of
Part VIII (Additional Information) of this Circular.

Lawsuits may be filed against, among others, the Company and/or Finish Line challenging
the Acquisition, and an adverse ruling in any such lawsuit may delay or prevent Completion
or result in an award of damages against the Company or Finish Line
Lawsuits arising out of or relating to the Acquisition Agreement or the Acquisition may be filed in
the future. The results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict and could delay or
prevent Completion. The existence of litigation relating to the Acquisition could impact the
likelihood of obtaining the shareholder approvals from either the Company or Finish Line.
Moreover, any future litigation could be time-consuming and expensive and could divert the
Company’s and Finish Line’s respective management’s attention away from their regular business.

One of the conditions to the Company’s obligations to consummate the Acquisition is the absence
of any law, action, order or judgment that enjoins or otherwise prohibits Completion. Accordingly,
if a plaintiff is successful in obtaining a judgment prohibiting Completion, then such judgment may
prevent Completion, or Completion within the expected timeframe.

The market price of JD Shares may decline as a result of the Acquisition

The market price of JD Shares may decline as a result of the Acquisition if, among other reasons:

•         Completion is delayed or does not occur on the terms and subject to the conditions
envisaged in the Acquisition Agreement;

•         the Company does not achieve the expected benefits of the Acquisition as rapidly or to the
extent it anticipates or to the extent anticipated by analysts and/or investors;

•         the effect of the Acquisition on the JD Group’s financial results is not consistent with the
Company’s expectations or the expectations of analysts and/or investors; or

•         JD Shareholders sell a significant number of JD Shares following Completion.

In addition, these factors could also make it more difficult for the Enlarged Group to raise funds
through future offerings of JD Shares.
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Finish Line may not perform in line with expectations
If the results and cash flows generated by the combination of the operations of the Finish Line
Group with those of the JD Group are not in line with the Directors’ expectations, a write-down may
be required against the carrying value of the JD Group’s investment in Finish Line. Such a write-
down may reduce the Enlarged Group’s ability to generate distributable reserves and consequently
affect its ability to pay dividends or return capital to JD Shareholders.

In the event that the Acquisition does not proceed, the Company may not be able to realise
shareholder value
The Directors believe that the Acquisition is in the best interests of JD Shareholders, and that it
currently provides the opportunity to deliver significant value to JD Shareholders. If the Acquisition
does not complete, the JD Group’s ability to deliver value for JD Shareholders, or to implement the
JD Group’s stated strategy, may be prejudiced, and the value of the JD Shares may be reduced.

2.       RISKS RELATING TO THE ENLARGED GROUP

The Enlarged Group may experience fluctuations due to seasonality of the business
The business of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, if the Acquisition proceeds to
Completion, the core retail business of the Enlarged Group will be subject to seasonal influences.
Historically, the Company’s most significant trading period arises in the Christmas season while
Finish Line experiences higher sales during the second and fourth quarters of its financial year with
comparable sales being subject to significant fluctuation on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis.
Seasonality causes operating results to vary considerably from one quarter to another and
additional expense is incurred in anticipation of the higher sale periods. If there is lower than
expected performance during the peak periods, there could be a material adverse effect on the
Enlarged Group’s business, operations and overall financial condition. Similarly, if there is a failure
to purchase sufficient merchandise in advance of peak season, there may not be enough supply
to meet the higher customer demand, which may have a negative impact on potential sales of the
Enlarged Group and potentially a material adverse effect on the business, operations and financial
condition of the Enlarged Group.

The JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s results
are also affected by periods of abnormal, severe or unseasonal weather conditions. Prolonged
unseasonal weather conditions or temporary severe weather during the JD Group’s, the Finish
Line Group’s and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s peak trading seasons could have a
material adverse effect on the JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s and, following Completion, the
Enlarged Group’s business, operations and financial condition.

Dependence on customer preferences
The business of each of the Company and Finish Line is subject to rapidly changing fashion trends
and preferences and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s revenues will be sensitive to
these changing preferences. The Enlarged Group must identify and interpret trends in the
sportswear retail market sufficiently. Failure to do so may result in excess inventory due to lower
sales and subsequent markdowns which could affect operating profit. Conversely, if the Enlarged
Group fails to successfully predict a trend, it may experience inventory shortages which could
negatively impact the brand image and result in lost sales.

There is no guarantee that merchandise will accurately reflect customer preference when offered
for sale, particularly given long lead times associated with ordering merchandise from
manufacturers overseas. If the Enlarged Group is unable to accurately anticipate the market for
merchandise or customer purchasing habits, it could have a material adverse effect on the
business, operations and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.
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Finish Line’s reliance on Macy’s

Finish Line operates selling space within the Macy’s department stores. These shops are
dependent on the Macy’s point of sale and other technological platforms and the strategies of
Macy’s may have an impact on the success of the Finish Line shops in such department stores.
Finish Line has a limited influence over these factors and so a shift in these factors or a significant
disruption to the business of Macy’s, including Macy’s store closures, could have a material
adverse effect on the business, operations and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.

Competitive pressures of the sector
The sportswear retail sector is highly competitive with performance heavily dependent on product
range and design, customer service and store location. The Enlarged Group will compete at local
and national level with a range of retailers of varying size and offerings. The competitors include
specialist retailers and general retailers as well as a combination of bricks and mortar shop
retailers and retailers with an online presence. Such competition, adoption of aggressive pricing
policies and sales methods will, following Completion, continue to put pressure on the Enlarged
Group to differentiate its offering. In addition, some third party brands may prefer to supply to
competitors of the Enlarged Group with alternative products to the Enlarged Group.

The Enlarged Group cannot guarantee that it will be able to compete successfully against current
and/or future businesses and the competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect on
the business, operations and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.

Other economic conditions affecting the business
As with other retailers, the demand for the products of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and,
following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s products will be influenced by a number of economic
factors. There are multiple influences over consumer spending in the UK, Europe and US, which
are out of the control of the Enlarged Group, such as the state of the economy, interest rates,
increased unemployment levels and financial market volatility. A change in these conditions could
have an adverse impact on the revenue of the Enlarged Group. Terrorist activity, or other
geopolitical uncertainty or restrictions on movement or government actions in the UK, Europe or
US could result in a significant reduction of consumer confidence and, therefore, spending levels
in the major markets of the Enlarged Group which could have a material adverse impact on the
Enlarged Group’s business, operations and financial condition.

Dependence on key personnel and changes to labour conditions
The success of the Enlarged Group will be dependent upon the continued service of its key
management personnel who have extensive experience and knowledge of the sportswear retail
market, and its ability to attract, retain and motivate suitably qualified employees. The loss of key
members of the senior management team and an inability to employ suitable replacements in a
timely manner could affect the business, operations and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.

In addition, the ability of the Enlarged Group to meet employee needs whilst controlling costs will
be subject to a number of external factors outside of its control, such as prevailing salary rates,
minimum wage legislation, changing demographics and unemployment levels. If the Enlarged
Group is unable to attract and retain quality sales staff and other key personnel, the ability to
sustain expected levels of profitability may be affected.

Significant business interruptions
The JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s and, if the Acquisition completes, the Enlarged Group’s
businesses could be impacted by numerous inherent risks, particularly unplanned events such as
inclement weather, explosions, fires, terrorist acts and other accidents. While insurance coverage
could offset losses relating to some of these types of events, the JD Group, the Finish Line Group
and, following Completion of the Acquisition, the Enlarged Group’s business, results of operations
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and financial condition could be materially adversely affected to the extent that any such losses
are not covered by insurance.

Reliance on key supplier relationships
The JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group is dependent,
to a significant degree, upon the ability to purchase premium brand-name merchandise at
competitive prices, including the receipt of volume discounts, co-operative advertising, markdown
allowances, and the ability to return merchandise to suppliers. For the financial year ended
3 March 2018, Finish Line purchased approximately 94 per cent. of its merchandise from its top
five suppliers and expects to continue to obtain a significant percentage of its product from these
suppliers in future periods. Approximately 66 per cent. of merchandise was purchased from one
vendor (Nike). For the 53 weeks ended 3 February 2018, the JD Group purchased approximately
80 per cent. of its merchandise from its top five suppliers and expects to continue to obtain a
significant percentage of its product from these suppliers in future periods.

The inability to obtain merchandise in a timely manner from major suppliers (particularly Nike) as
a result of business decisions by suppliers or disruptions in the global transportation network such
as a port strike, weather conditions, work stoppages, or other labour unrest could have a material
adverse effect on the business, financial condition, and results of operations of the JD Group, the
Finish Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group. Because of the strong
dependence on Nike, any adverse development in Nike’s distribution strategy, financial condition,
or results of operations or the inability of Nike to develop and manufacture products that appeal to
the JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s target
customers could also have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition, and results of
operations of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group.

Reliance on non-UK manufacturers
The JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group sources the
majority of the products it sells in its stores, either directly or through third-party suppliers, from
outside the UK and the United States, and principally from Asia. Therefore, JD Group, the Finish
Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group are subject to the risks associated with
international trade, particularly those risks which are common in the manufacturing and import of
goods from developing countries, including:

•         the imposition of taxes or other charges on imports;

•         compliance with, and changes to, import restrictions and regulations; and

•         exposure to different legal standards and the burden of complying with a variety of foreign
laws and changing foreign government policies.

The JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s imported
products are subject to customs duties. If customs duties were to increase substantially, it could
harm the Company’s, Finish Line’s and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s profitability.
The UK and the countries in which the Company’s, Finish Line’s and, following Completion, the
Enlarged Group’s products are manufactured could impose new quotas, duties, tariffs or other
restrictions, or adversely adjust prevailing quota, duty or tariff levels, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s, Finish Line’s and, following Completion, the Enlarged
Group’s business, operating profit or overall financial condition to the extent such costs cannot be
passed on to customers.

The JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group are also
subject to more general risks associated with conducting business in developing countries,
including:

•         expropriation or nationalisation of the assets of foreign manufacturers or suppliers;
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•         political instabilities and unrest, international hostilities and the war on terrorism;

•         changes to foreign government regulation, political unrest, work stoppages, shipment
disruption or delays; and

•         changes to economic conditions in the countries in which the JD Group’s, the Finish Line
Group’s and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s manufacturers and suppliers are
located.

If any of these risks were to affect the JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s and, following
Completion, the Enlarged Group’s ability to source products, particularly from Asia, it could affect
their business, operating profit and overall financial condition.

Damage to the Enlarged Group’s distribution centres and other factors affecting the
distribution of merchandise
The majority of the Company’s stock is held in a single distribution centre in Rochdale, UK, whilst
Finish Line’s distribution functions are primarily handled from a single facility in Indianapolis, US.
Although there are significant benefits in terms of capacity, product availability and quicker delivery
times associated with holding stock in one location, any significant disruption to the operation of
the distribution centres of the Enlarged Group due to, for example, natural disasters, accidents,
system issues or other unforeseen circumstances, could significantly impact on the Enlarged
Group’s ability to distribute merchandise to stores/shops and/or fulfill orders originating from any
of its e-commerce sites, which may have a significant adverse effect on the reputation, business,
operations and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.

Both the Company and Finish Line depend upon third-party carriers for shipment of a significant
amount of merchandise to both their stores/shops and directly to their consumers. Any interruption
in service by these third-party carriers for any reason could cause temporary disruptions in
business significant adverse effect on the reputation, business, operations and financial condition
of the Enlarged Group.

Freight costs are impacted by changes in fuel prices through surcharges, among other factors.
Fuel prices and surcharges affect freight costs both on inbound freight from suppliers to the
Company’s and Finish Line’s distribution centres as well as outbound freight from the distribution
centre to stores/shops, supplier returns and third party liquidators, and shipments of product to
customers. Increases in fuel prices, surcharges, and other potential factors may increase freight
costs.

Risks associated with leasing retail space
The vast majority of the store portfolio of the Company and Finish Line is held through leasehold
interests. The Company’s and Finish Line’s average remaining store lease term is relatively short
but both businesses may be exposed where they have committed to a long term lease in a location
which, for example, as a result of recent retail development may no longer be viable. Each of the
Company and Finish Line will also generally be subject to risks associated with rent reviews, lease
expiries and renegotiations. Any renewal for lease may be subject to competition in desirable
locations and also a number of factors which are outside the control of the Enlarged Group, such
as the local real estate market and relationships with landlords. All of these factors may result in a
significant alteration to rental terms or an inability to effect lease renewals and so could have a
material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business, operations and financial condition.

Compliance with laws, regulations and restrictions

Various aspects of each of the Company’s and Finish Line’s operations are subject to local laws,
rules, regulations and restrictions of many jurisdictions, including those of the United States, the
UK and other countries.
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Sanctions for failure by the JD Group, the Finish Line Group or, if the Acquisition completes, the
Enlarged Group, or others acting on their behalf, to comply with these laws, regulations and
restrictions could include fines, penalties or legal claims, as well as having an impact on reputation.
Such sanctions could have an impact on the JD Group’s, the Finish Line Group’s and, if the
Acquisition completes, the Enlarged Group’s businesses, financial position and future operations
and prospects. New legislation, changes in existing legislation and/or regulatory or enforcement
policies may also result in delays or additional costs or restrictions. The risks described in this
paragraph are particularly relevant in the United States, where a significant proportion of the Finish
Line Group’s revenues derive, and in the UK, where the Company is incorporated. Following
Completion of the Acquisition, the Enlarged Group’s exposure to such risks is likely to be higher
than that of the current JD Group or the current Finish Line Group in isolation. For example, if the
Acquisition completes there is a greater risk that the activities of the Finish Line Group will come
within the territorial scope of the UK Bribery Act 2010, thus increasing the Enlarged Group’s
exposure to that legislation. The Company has and, if the Acquisition completes, the Enlarged
Group will have policies and procedures in place, which are regularly reviewed and audited,
including procedures related to the use of sales and marketing representatives, anti-bribery and
anti-corruption, gifts and hospitality, whistleblowing and investigation of ethics and compliance
concerns. Training is and will be undertaken on a variety of compliance related subjects.

In addition to the foregoing, the JD Group and the Finish Line Group are and, if the Acquisition
completes, the Enlarged Group will be subject to a significant number and growing range of laws
and regulations including, amongst others, those relating to data protection (including the
European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) (GDPR)). Data
protection laws impact the records held by the JD Group on its customers, employees and
personnel. The Company requires that all members of the JD Group are compliant with data
protection laws in respect of such records. Accordingly, if the Acquisition completes, the increased
scale of the Enlarged Group will mean the relevant data protection laws and regulations to which
the Enlarged Group will be subject, and with which it will be obliged to comply, will increase. A
failure to comply with any such laws or regulations could have a material adverse effect on the
business, results of operations and financial condition of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and,
if the Acquisition completes, the Enlarged Group, on account of, among other things, the imposition
of substantial fines and/or other penalties, exposure to regulatory investigations, litigation and/or
reputational damage.

Changes in laws and regulations and litigation developments
Any of the laws and regulations may change from time to time and complying with the new
legislation may result in increased costs of the Enlarged Group directly for compliance or indirectly
due to the extent that the new requirements necessitate increases in prices of goods. Additionally,
any member of the Enlarged Group may be involved in litigation matters that arise in the ordinary
course of business. Increased costs associated with litigation or regulatory developments or failure
to comply with such changes to applicable laws and regulations could have a material adverse
effect on the business, operations and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.

Increased scale of the business and exposure to the US

If the Acquisition completes, the scale of the Enlarged Group will be increased. The greater scale
of the Enlarged Group may present different or enhanced challenges to those currently faced by
the JD Group, including greater exposure to market volatility in the US, which may lead to greater
economic and operational risks.

In particular, if the Acquisition completes, the Enlarged Group will have a significantly expanded
presence in, and exposure to, the US, as a significant portion of the Finish Line Group’s revenue
is derived from operations in that country. As a result, the risks highlighted above will be particularly
significant for the Enlarged Group in the US.
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Risks associated with the Enlarged Group’s US operations also include changes in economic
conditions (including potential slowdowns in the US economy, wage and cost inflation, currency
exchange rates, consumer spending and employment levels), changes in tax rates, potential
tariffs, duties and other trade barriers and increased competitive promotional activity. Moreover,
the Enlarged Group’s success in the US depends on its ability to predict, identify, interpret and
react to changes in US government policy in respect of the sector in which the Enlarged Group will
operate.

Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations

The JD Group’s reporting currency is in sterling. Branded product for the JD fascia throughout
Europe is purchased by the Company which is the main UK trading business. This business then
sells to the international businesses in their local currencies. Given the current geographical
location of the JD Group’s stores this results in an increasingly significant sterling/Euro exposure
in the UK trading business for the Euros which are remitted back for stock purchases. The JD
Group also has exposure in relation to sterling/US Dollar consequent to the sourcing of own brand
merchandise, where suppliers are located principally in the Far East or Indian Sub-Continent. This
exposure can adversely affect profits, cash flows and balance sheet positions, such as net debt.
The JD Group implements policies to manage these exposures on an ongoing basis.

The Acquisition will increase the amount of the JD Group’s (and therefore the Enlarged Group’s)
US Dollar earnings, cash flows and balance sheet values. The primary impact of fluctuations in
exchange rates for the Enlarged Group is expected to be translational (i.e. the translation of foreign
earnings and assets and liabilities into sterling for reporting purposes). An appreciation of sterling
against the US dollar (or other currencies) could result in a significant negative translational impact
on the Enlarged Group’s results of operations, as the contribution of its overseas operations, and
the value of overseas earnings and assets, when translated into pounds sterling, would decline.
The Enlarged Group will continue to be exposed to transactional currency risk, which arises when
commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the functional currency of the relevant member of the Enlarged Group. While policies will be
adjusted to take account of these increased exposures in the Enlarged Group, there can be no
assurance that the financial performance and condition of the Enlarged Group will not be adversely
affected by movements in the sterling/Euro and the US Dollar/sterling exchange rate or other
exchange rates.

Impact of Brexit
On 23 June 2016, the UK held a referendum in relation to its continued membership of the
European Union which resulted in a vote for the UK to exit the European Union. The majority of
the JD Group’s retail stores across Europe are supplied with stock from the warehouse in
Rochdale, UK, and so the business model of the Company requires access to these markets. The
UK’s future trading relationship with the remaining members of the European Union remains
unclear and there are uncertainties as to the impact on the regulatory, monetary and fiscal
framework in the UK. It is not possible to fully predict the effects of the UK’s exit from the European
Union but any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on the business, operations and
financial condition of the Enlarged Group.

Protection of intellectual property rights
The trademarks and other intellectual property rights of the Company and Finish Line are important
to the value of their brands and their future success. Following Completion, third parties may look
to counterfeit the Enlarged Group’s own brands or otherwise infringe its intellectual property rights.
The Enlarged Group may not always be successful in securing protection or stopping
infringements of its intellectual property rights and may need to resort to litigation to enforce such
rights. Any litigation or disputes could be costly, time consuming and result in a diversion of
resources. Failure of the Enlarged Group to enforce its intellectual property rights could have a
material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business, operations and overall financial
condition.
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Disruption to the information technology systems and breach of security
The business of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group is and, following Completion, the Enlarged
Group will be, reliant on uninterrupted running of the information technology systems of each of
the businesses as well as equivalent systems of third parties. A significant compromise, or any
serious disruptions to the information technology or communications systems of the Enlarged
Group could have an effect on the proper functioning of stores and online business. Further, a
security breach in the information technology systems of Enlarged Group, or of third parties it
engages with for the purposes of its business, that leads to sensitive information (including
personal data) being compromised could adversely affect the reputation of either the Company or
Finish Line. Such cyber security breaches and disruptions to information technology systems may
have a material adverse effect on the business, operations and financial condition of the Enlarged
Group. The Company and Finish Line continue to work on protecting the information technology
systems against cyber risks, security breaches and disruptions but there is no guarantee that the
Enlarged Group will not be affected by any of these issues.

Vulnerability to hacker intrusion, DDoS, malicious viruses and other cybercrime attacks

As with all companies having an online business, the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and,
following Completion, the Enlarged Group will be vulnerable to cybercrime attacks which could
adversely affect their business. Examples include distributed denial of service (DDoS) attacks,
ransomware attacks, malware attacks (such as the WannaCry ransomware attack and the Petya
malware attack suffered by companies globally in May 2017 and June 2017 respectively) and other
forms of cybercrime, such as attempts by computer hackers to gain access to the systems and
databases of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group
for the purpose of manipulating results which may cause systems failure, business disruption and
have a materially adverse effect on the financial condition of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group
and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group.

The JD Group and the Finish Line Group employ certain cyber security measures, but
nevertheless such attacks are, by their nature, technologically sophisticated and therefore may be
difficult or impossible to detect and/or defend against. If the measures were to fail or be
circumvented, the reputation of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following Completion,
the Enlarged Group may be harmed, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on their
financial condition and prospects.

Vulnerability to hackers stealing customers’ details for the purposes of identity theft

The JD Group and the Finish Line Group hold data pertaining to card holders including, but not
limited to, credit card numbers, names and addresses. Both Finish Line and the Company hold
information and data on customers beyond their standard credit transaction details. The operations
of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group could be
materially and adversely impacted by breaches of security and systems intrusions conducted for
the purpose of stealing such personal information of customers, including via ransomware attacks.
Any such activity could harm the reputation of the JD Group, the Finish Line Group and, following
Completion, the Enlarged Group, expose it to penalties, fines and legal claims and deter current
or potential customers from using their services, thereby resulting in a material adverse effect on
their financial condition.

Data privacy compliance breaches or failure to protect confidential information
The Company is subject to a number of laws relating to privacy and data protection, including the
UK’s Data Protection Act 1998. Such laws govern the Company’s ability to collect, use and transfer
personal information relating to its customers and others. The Company is exposed to the risk that
such data could be wrongfully appropriated, lost or disclosed, damaged or processed in breach of
data protection law and regulation.
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The Company is subject to the GDPR which places more onerous obligations on the Company in
relation to data protection compliance. The Company will take steps to prepare for the
implementation of GDPR but there is a risk that such measures may not be deemed sufficient in
order to comply with the regulation or regulatory guidance. Additionally, there is a risk that the
penalties for the Company for any breach of the GDPR would potentially be more severe than
under the current laws relating to privacy and data protection.

If the Company or any of the third party service providers on which it relies fails to store or transmit
information and/or payment details online in a secure manner, or if any unauthorised or unlawful
loss, inadvertent disclosure or unapproved destruction of personal data were otherwise to occur,
the Company may be subject to sanctions, claims from third parties relating to the infringement of
privacy rights and/or investigative or enforcement action by the Information Commissioner’s Office
in the UK. Any perceived or actual failure to protect confidential data may harm the Company’s,
and following Completion, the Enlarged Group’s, reputation and or result in litigation or other
actions being brought against the Company as a result, could have a material adverse effect on
its financial condition.

Shareholders may earn a negative or no return on their investment in the Company

Stock markets have, in the last few years, experienced significant price and volume fluctuations
that have affected the market price of the JD Shares. Furthermore, the JD Group’s and, following
Completion, the Enlarged Group’s operating results and prospects from time to time may be below
the expectations of market analysts and investors. Any of these events could result in a decline in
the market price of the JD Shares and, following Completion, the Enlarged Group, and
consequently holders of JD Shares may get back less than their original investment or may lose
the whole of their investment.

Significant sale of JD Shares could adversely affect the market price of outstanding JD

Shares

An offering or significant sale of JD Shares by any of the Enlarged Group’s major shareholders, or
the perception that such sales might occur, could have an adverse effect on the market price of
the JD Shares. This may make it more difficult for holders of the JD Shares to sell their JD Shares
at a time and price that they deem appropriate, and could also impede the Enlarged Group’s ability
to issue equity securities in the future. Further issues of JD Shares may also be dilutive to holders
of the JD Shares or may result in the issuance of shares where rights, preferences and privileges
are senior to those attaching to the JD Shares.

The level of any dividend paid in respect of the JD Shares is subject to a number of factors

The level of any dividend paid in respect of the JD Shares is at the discretion of the Directors and
is subject to a number of factors, including the business and financial condition, earnings and
cashflow of, and other factors affecting, the Enlarged Group, as well as the availability of funds
from which dividends can be legally paid. The level of any dividend in respect of the JD Shares is
also subject to the extent to which the Enlarged Group receives funds, directly or indirectly, from
its operating subsidiaries and divisions in a manner which creates funds from which dividends can
be legally paid. Any reduction in dividends paid on JD Shares from those historically paid on JD
Shares, or the failure to pay dividends in any financial year, could adversely affect the market price
of JD Shares. The interpretation of tax legislation or any change thereto could affect the Directors’
ability to provide returns to holders of the JD Shares. Statements in this document concerning the
taxation of investors in the JD Shares are based on current tax law and practice in the UK and the
Isle of Man, which is subject to change. The taxation of an investment in the Enlarged Group
depends on the individual circumstances of the relevant investor.
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PART III

                     FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON FINISH LINE                     

This Part III contains consolidated financial information for Finish Line for the three years ended
27 February 2016, 25 February 2017 and 3 March 2018.

The information contained in this Part III in relation to the years ended 3 March 2018 and
25 February 2017 has been extracted without material adjustment from the consolidated audited
financial statements of Finish Line as published in the Form 10-K for the year ended 3 March 2018.

The information contained in this Part III in relation to the year ended 27 February 2016 has been
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of Finish Line as published in the
Form 10-K for the year ended 25 February 2017 without material adjustment save for the separate
presentation of certain definite-lived Intangible Assets (principally capitalized software) which was
previously included within furniture, fixtures and equipment.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except per share data)

                                                                                             3 March     25 February     27 February
                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents                                                  $93,385           $90,856           $79,495
Accounts receivable, net                                                         16,530             20,470             16,482
Merchandise inventories, net                                                321,742           331,146           347,966
Income taxes receivable                                                           2,439             35,559             28,877
Other current assets                                                               28,042             13,379             17,009
Current assets held for sale                                                             –                      –             31,524
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total current assets                                                               462,138           491,410           521,353

Property and equipment:

Land                                                                                          1,557               1,557               1,557
Building                                                                                   44,637             44,249             43,665
Leasehold improvements                                                      184,771           206,446           193,852
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment                                        139,579           143,576           128,694
Construction in progress                                                           3,749               5,966               9,164
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                             374,293           401,794           376,932
Less accumulated depreciation                                            235,731           244,200           230,721
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total property and equipment, net                                        138,562           157,594            146,211
Intangible assets, net                                                              68,884             90,303             92,856
Other assets, net                                                                      5,448               7,161               7,857
Long-term assets held for sale                                                        –                      –             49,271
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total assets                                                                         $675,032         $746,468         $817,548                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
See accompanying notes.
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                                                                                             3 March     25 February     27 February
                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable                                                               $122,590         $166,614         $150,050
Employee compensation                                                        12,085             15,407             17,602
Accrued property and sales tax                                              10,087               9,750             10,225
Other liabilities and accrued expenses                                   25,809             30,200             30,029
Current liabilities held for sale                                                         –                      –             13,281
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total current liabilities                                                           170,571           221,971           221,187
Commitments and contingencies
Deferred credits from landlords                                              34,629             32,133             30,503
Deferred income taxes                                                            11,813             32,226             25,441
Other long-term liabilities                                                          7,029               8,640             10,869
Long-term liabilities held for sale                                                     –                      –               1,904

Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 1,000 shares
authorised; none issued                                                               –                      –                      –

Common stock, $.01 par value; 110,000 shares
authorised; 60,145 shares issued

Shares outstanding – (2018 – 40,370; 2017 – 40,337; 
2016 – 42,377)                                                                         601                  601                  601

Additional paid-in capital                                                       249,195           245,335           237,129
Retained earnings                                                                 600,368           604,136           639,296
Treasury stock, shares held – (2018 – 19,388;

2017 – 19,421; 2016 – 17,381)                                       (399,174)         (398,574)         (349,382)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total shareholders’ equity                                                     450,990           451,498           527,644
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity                             $675,032         $746,468         $817,548                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS                                                                       

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended
                                                                                             3 March     25 February     27 February
                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Net sales                                                                          $1,838,956      $1,844,393      $1,798,982
Cost of sales (including occupancy costs)                        1,306,859        1,295,989        1,242,960
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Gross profit                                                                           532,097           548,404           556,022
Selling, general, and administrative expenses                     486,484           480,897           469,836
Impairment charges and store closing costs                          36,691             13,312             43,637
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Operating income                                                                     8,922             54,195             42,549
Interest (income) expense, net                                                     (73)                 279                    65
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Income from continuing operations before income 

taxes                                                                                      8,995             53,916             42,484
Income tax (benefit) expense                                                  (5,719)            18,760             13,562
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Net income from continuing operations                                  14,714             35,156             28,922
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax                      (304)           (53,364)             (7,126)
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Net income (loss)                                                                    14,410            (18,208)            21,796
Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling

interest of discontinued operations                                              –                      –                    96
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Net income (loss) attributable to Finish Line                        $14,410          $(18,208)          $21,892                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders:
Continuing operations                                                               $0.36               $0.86               $0.64
Discontinued operations                                                            (0.01)               (1.31)               (0.15)
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders                                                       $0.35              $(0.45)              $0.49                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders:
Continuing operations                                                               $0.36               $0.85               $0.64
Discontinued operations                                                            (0.01)               (1.29)               (0.16)
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders                                                       $0.35              $(0.44)              $0.48                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Dividends declared per share                                                 $0.445               $0.41               $0.37                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS                                                                      

(in thousands)

Year Ended
                                                                                                                      3 March           25 February           27 February
                                                                                                                            2018                      2017                      2016
Operating activities:

Net income (loss)                                                                                           $14,410                $(18,208)                $21,796

Net loss from discontinued operations                                                                (304)                 (53,364)                   (7,126)
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Net income from continuing operations                                                           14,714                   35,156                   28,922

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Impairment charges and store closing costs                                                   36,691                   13,312                   43,637

Depreciation and amortization                                                                         52,870                   49,376                   42,190

Deferred income taxes                                                                                   (20,413)                    8,223                       (570)

(Gain) loss on disposals of property and equipment                                               (2)                       703                        139

Share-based compensation                                                                               6,999                     9,945                   10,567

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net                                                                                    3,940                    (3,988)                      (255)

Merchandise inventories, net                                                                             9,404                   16,820                  (25,974)

Other assets                                                                                                   (14,257)                    1,700                    (8,339)

Accounts payable                                                                                           (40,359)                  15,576                   26,888

Employee compensation                                                                                  (2,993)                   (3,515)                      (323)

Income taxes receivable/payable                                                                        (739)                  25,523                  (15,629)

Other liabilities and accrued expenses                                                             (2,565)                   (2,475)                    2,906

Deferred credits from landlords                                                                         2,496                     1,630                     3,345
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Net cash provided by operating activities –

continuing operations                                                                                   45,786                 167,986                 107,504

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities –

discontinued operations                                                                               31,953                    (2,975)                   (7,800)
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Net cash provided by operating activities                                                        77,739                 165,011                   99,704

Investing activities:

Capital expenditures for property and equipment                                          (38,163)                 (60,937)                 (34,165)

Payments for intangible assets                                                                       (11,346)                 (13,847)                 (27,979)

Payments for sale of discontinued operations                                                  (2,486)                   (8,317)                           –

Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment                                             39                        596                          52
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Net cash used in investing activities – continuing

operations                                                                                                    (51,956)                 (82,505)                 (62,092)

Net cash used in investing activities – discontinued

operations                                                                                                              –                    (1,659)                 (12,259)
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Net cash used in investing activities                                                               (51,956)                 (84,164)                 (74,351)

Financing activities:

Borrowings on revolving credit facility                                                                5,000                   47,000                   30,000

Repayments on revolving credit facility                                                            (5,000)                 (47,000)                 (30,000)

Dividends paid to shareholders                                                                      (18,011)                 (16,749)                 (16,407)

Proceeds from issuance of common stock                                                             80                          39                     1,976

Purchases of treasury stock                                                                             (3,823)                 (52,776)                 (79,880)
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Net cash used in financing activities – continuing

operations                                                                                                    (21,754)                 (69,486)                 (94,311)

Net cash used in financing activities – discontinued

operations                                                                                                      (1,500)                           –                    (1,116)
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Net cash used in financing activities                                                              (23,254)                 (69,486)                 (95,427)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                     2,529                   11,361                  (70,074)
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                                             90,856                   79,495                 149,569
                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year                                                    $93,385                 $90,856                 $79,495

                                                                                                                ––––––––––          ––––––––––          ––––––––––
Supplemental disclosure of noncash operating 

and investing activities:

Capital expenditures incurred but not yet paid                                                $2,749                    $3,111                   $5,700

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY                          

(in thousands)

                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                  Additional
                                                                            Number of Shares         Amount        Paid-in     Retained     Treasury
                                                                          Common     Treasury     Common        Capital     Earnings          Stock          Totals
Balance at 28 February 2015                              46,052        13,706           $601    $227,006    $633,910   $(271,873)   $589,644

Net income attributable to Finish Line.                                                                                              21,892                           21,892

Cash dividends declared ($0.37 per share)                                                                                     (16,506)                         (16,506)

Non-qualified common stock options

exercised and related tax benefits                          111             (111)                               887                             1,339          2,226

Share-based compensation                                                                                            10,932                                              10,932

Restricted shares vested, net of repurchase

for taxes                                                                    88              (88)                           (1,399)                               629            (770)

Shares issued under employee stock

purchase plan                                                           39              (39)                               321                                403             724

Treasury stock purchased                                      (3,913)         3,913                                                                (79,880)      (79,880)

Purchase of redeemable noncontrolling

membership interest of discontinued

operations                                                                                                                       (618)                                                 (618)
                                                                         ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––
Balance at 27 February 2016                              42,377        17,381             601      237,129      639,296     (349,382)     527,644
                                                                         ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Net income attributable to Finish Line                                                                                              (18,208)                         (18,208)

Cash dividends declared ($0.41 per share)                                                                                     (16,952)                         (16,952)

Non-qualified common stock options

exercised and related tax benefits                          179            (179)                            1,517                             2,036          3,553

Share-based compensation                                                                                            11,060                                               11,060

Restricted shares vested, net of repurchase

for taxes                                                                  244            (244)                           (4,600)                            1,125         (3,475)

Shares issued under employee stock

purchase plan                                                           37              (37)                               229                                423             652

Treasury stock purchased                                      (2,500)         2,500                                                                (52,776)      (52,776)
                                                                         ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––
Balance at 25 February 2017                              40,337        19,421             601      245,335     604,136    (398,574)     451,498
                                                                         ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––
Adoption of Accounting Standards 

Update No. 2016-09                                                                                                                              50                                  50

Net income attributable to Finish Line                                                                                               14,410                           14,410

Cash dividends declared ($0.445 per share)                                                                                   (18,228)                         (18,228)

Non-qualified common stock options

exercised and related tax benefits                            50              (50)                              (265)                               573             308

Share-based compensation                                                                                              6,999                                                6,999

Restricted shares vested, net of repurchase

for taxes                                                                  185            (185)                           (2,892)                            2,112            (780)

Shares issued under employee stock

purchase plan                                                           48              (48)                                 18                                538             556

Treasury stock purchased                                         (250)            250                                                                  (3,823)        (3,823)
                                                                         ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––
Balance at 3 March 2018                                    40,370        19,388           $601    $249,195    $600,368   $(399,174)   $450,990

                                                                         ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––
See accompanying notes.

35



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS                                                              

1.       Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Finish Line
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Finish Line”). All intercompany transactions and balances have
been eliminated. Throughout these notes to the consolidated financial statements, fiscal years
ended 3 March 2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016 are referred to as fiscal 2018,
fiscal 2017, and fiscal 2016, respectively.

Finish Line’s consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, and cash flows presented
reflect its former JackRabbit business as discontinued operations (See Note 2 – “Discontinued
Operations and Goodwill Impairment”).

Finish Line uses a “Retail” calendar. Finish Line’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to the
last day of February and included 53 weeks in fiscal 2018 and 52 weeks in fiscal 2017, and 2016.

Nature of Operations. Finish Line is a premium retailer of athletic shoes, apparel, and
accessories for men, women, and kids, with 555 mall-based locations throughout the United States
and Puerto Rico, which average 5,602 square feet as of 6 April 2018. In addition, Finish Line has
an online presence through its e-commerce and mobile sites.

In addition, Finish Line is the exclusive retailer of athletic shoes, both in-store and online, for
Macy’s Retail Holdings, Inc., Macy’s Puerto Rico, Inc., and Macys.com, Inc. (collectively, Macy’s).
Finish Line is responsible for the athletic footwear assortment, inventory, fulfillment, and pricing at
all of Macy’s locations and online at www.macys.com. Finish Line operates branded and
unbranded shops in-store at Macy’s. Branded shops include Finish Line signage within those
shops and are staffed by Finish Line employees, while unbranded shops do not include Finish Line
signage and are generally serviced by Macy’s employees. There are no differences in the
merchandise that is sold, the classification of revenue recorded at retail, or Finish Line’s operation
of the athletic footwear inventory and business between branded and unbranded shops and
www.macys.com.

In fiscal 2018, Finish Line purchased approximately 94 per cent. of its merchandise from its five
largest suppliers. The largest supplier, Nike, accounted for approximately 66 per cent., 71 per
cent., and 73 per cent. of merchandise purchases in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

Use of Estimates. Preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segment Information. Finish Line operates through multiple operating segments. Finish Line’s
operating segments have similar economic characteristics, which include a similar nature of
products sold, type of customer, and method of distribution. As such, Finish Line’s operating
segments are aggregated into one reportable segment. The following table sets forth net sales of
Finish Line by major category for each of the following fiscal years (in thousands):

Category 2018 2017 2016
Footwear                     $1,721,020             94%  $1,715,348             93%  $1,619,002             90%
Softgoods                         117,936               6%       129,045               7%       179,980             10%
                                   –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––
Total net sales            $1,838,956           100%  $1,844,393           100%  $1,798,982           100%                                   –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––  –––––––––
Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on hand and
highly liquid instruments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase. At 3 March
2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016 respectively, substantially all of Finish Line’s cash
was invested in deposit accounts at banks. The majority of payments due from banks for credit
card transactions process within 24 to 48 hours and are accordingly classified as cash and cash
equivalents.
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Merchandise Inventories. Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market
value using a weighted-average cost method. Finish Line’s valuation of merchandise inventory
includes markdown adjustments for merchandise that will be sold below cost and the impact of
inventory shrink. Markdowns are based upon historical information and assumptions about future
demand and market conditions. Inventory shrink is based on historical information and
assumptions about current inventory shrink trends. Supplier rebates are applied as a reduction to
the cost of merchandise inventories.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets: 30 years for buildings, three to
10 years for furniture, fixtures, and equipment, and three to 10 years for software. Improvements
to leased premises are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful
life of the asset, generally 10 years, or the remaining lease term. Significant additions and
improvements that extend the useful life of an asset are capitalised. Maintenance and repairs are
charged to current operations as incurred. Depreciation expense for fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016
was $34.9 million, $33.1 million, and $31.7 million, respectively.

Definitive-lived intangible assets include capitalized external and internal computer software and
software development costs incurred during the application development stage. Definitive-lived
intangible assets are stated at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which are between three and 10 years. The application development stage
generally includes software design and configuration, coding, testing, and installation activities.
Capitalized costs include only external direct costs of materials and services consumed in
developing or obtaining internal-use software and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees
who are directly associated with and devote time to the internal-use software project. Capitalization
of such costs ceases no later than the point at which the project is substantially complete and
ready for its intended use. Training and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred, while
upgrades and enhancements are capitalized if it is probable that such expenditures will result in
additional functionality. Software capitalized, net of accumulated amortization, was $68.9 million
and $90.3 million at March 3, 2018 and February 25, 2017, respectively. Amortization expense for
fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $18.0 million, $16.3 million, and $10.5 million, respectively.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 360, Finish Line reviews its property
and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Finish Line considers historical performance
and future estimated results in its evaluation of potential impairment and then compares the
carrying amount of the asset to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment recognised is
measured by comparing projected discounted cash flows to the asset’s carrying value. The
estimation of fair value is measured by discounting expected future cash flows at the discount rate
Finish Line utilises to evaluate potential investments.

Store Closing Costs. Store closing costs represent the non-cash write-off of fixtures and
equipment upon a store/shop closing. In the event a store is closed before its lease has expired,
any estimated post-closing lease obligations are provided for when the leased space is no longer
in use. Finish Line closed 23, 43, and 58 stores/shops in fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Finish Line accounts for goodwill and other intangible
assets in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (ASC 350). ASC 350
requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives not be amortised, but reviewed for
impairment if impairment indicators arise and, at a minimum, annually.

The goodwill impairment test is a two-step test. In the first step, Finish Line compares the fair value
of each reporting unit with goodwill to its carrying value. Finish Line determines the fair value of its
reporting units with goodwill using a combination of a discounted cash flow and a market value
approach. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets
assigned to that reporting unit, goodwill is not impaired and Finish Line is not required to perform
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further testing. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair
value of the reporting unit, then Finish Line must perform the second step of the goodwill
impairment test in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill and
compare it to the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. The activities in the second step
include valuing the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities. If the implied fair value of goodwill
is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognised for the difference.

All of Finish Line’s goodwill and intangible assets were the result of acquisitions made by its
discontinued operation. An impairment charge for goodwill was recorded during fiscal year 2017
(see Note 2 – “Discontinued Operations and Goodwill Impairment”). There were no similar
impairment charges recognised by Finish Line or its discontinued operation in fiscal 2018 or 2016.

Leases. Deferred credits from landlords consist of step rent and allowances from landlords related
to Finish Line’s retail stores. Step rent represents the difference between actual minimum
operating lease payments due and straight-line rent expense, which is recorded by Finish Line
over the term of the lease, starting at the lease commencement date. Landlord allowances are
generally comprised of amounts promised to Finish Line by landlords in the form of cash. These
allowances are part of the negotiated terms of the lease. In situations where cash is to be received,
Finish Line records a receivable for the full amount of the allowance when certain performance
criteria articulated in the lease are met and a liability is concurrently established. This deferred
credit from landlords is amortised into income (through lower rent expense) over the term, starting
at the lease commencement date, of the applicable lease and the receivable is reduced as
amounts are received from the landlord.

Finish Line recognises rent expense for minimum lease payments on a straight-line basis over the
expected lease term, including rent holidays, rent escalation clauses, and/or cancelable option
periods where failure to exercise such options would result in an economic penalty. The
commencement date of the lease term is the earlier of the date when Finish Line becomes legally
obligated for the rent payments or the date when Finish Line takes possession of the leased space
for build-out.

Certain leases provide for contingent rents and/or license fees, which are determined as a
percentage of gross sales in excess of specified levels. Finish Line records a contingent rent
liability in other liabilities and accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets and the
corresponding rent expense when specified levels have been achieved or when management
determines that achieving the specified levels during the fiscal year is probable.

Revenue Recognition. Revenues are recognised at the time the customer receives the
merchandise, which for digital commerce revenues reflects an estimate of shipments not yet
received by the customer based on shipping terms and estimated delivery times. As it relates to
Macy’s, Finish Line assumes the risks and rewards of ownership for merchandise at all of Macy’s
locations and online at www.macys.com, including risk of loss for delivery, returns, and loss of
inventory value. Net sales include merchandise, net of returns, and excludes all taxes.

Finish Line sells gift cards with no expiration dates to customers and does not charge
administrative fees on unused gift cards. Finish Line recognises revenue from gift cards when they
are redeemed by the customer. In addition, Finish Line recognises revenue on unredeemed gift
cards when the likelihood of the gift card being redeemed is remote and there is no legal obligation
to remit the value of unredeemed gift cards to the relevant jurisdictions. Finish Line determines the
gift card breakage rate based on historical redemption patterns. During the fourth quarter of fiscal
2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded $0.6 million, $0.8 million and $0.8 million of revenue
related to gift card breakage, respectively. Gift card breakage is included in net sales in Finish
Line’s consolidated statements of operations, but it is not included in the comparable sales
amounts.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales includes the cost associated with acquiring merchandise from
suppliers, occupancy costs, license fees, provision for inventory shortages, and credits and
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allowances from merchandise suppliers. Cash consideration received from merchandise suppliers
after the related merchandise has been sold is recorded as an offset to cost of sales in the period
negotiations are finalised. For cash consideration received on merchandise still in inventory, the
allowance is recorded as a reduction to the cost of on-hand inventory and recorded as a reduction
of cost of sales at the time of sale.

Because Finish Line does not include the costs associated with operating its distribution centre
and freight within cost of sales, Finish Line’s gross profit may not be comparable to those of other
retailers that may include all such costs related to their distribution centres and freight in cost of
sales and in the calculation of gross profit.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general, and administrative expenses
include store/shop payroll and related payroll benefits, store/shop operating expenses, advertising,
co-operative advertising credits, share-based compensation, costs associated with operating its
distribution centre, license fees, and other corporate related expenses. Additionally, selling,
general, and administrative expenses include inbound freight from vendors to the distribution
centre as well as outbound freight from the distribution centre to stores/shops, to vendors for
returns, to third party liquidators, and for shipments of product to customers.

Advertising. Finish Line expenses the cost of advertising as incurred, net of reimbursements for
co-operative advertising. The reimbursements for co-operative advertising are agreed upon with
vendors and are recorded in the same period as the associated expenses are incurred. The
following table shows advertising expense for each of the following fiscal years (in thousands):

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Advertising expense                                                             $47,517           $47,137           $42,668
Co-operative advertising credits                                            (10,870)             (7,882)             (6,342)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Net advertising expense                                                       $36,647           $39,255           $36,326                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Store/Shop Pre-opening Costs. Store/shop pre-opening costs and other non-capitalised
expenditures, including payroll, training costs, and straight-line rent expense, are expensed as
incurred.

Income Taxes. Finish Line accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under
this method, the amount of taxes currently payable or refundable are accrued and deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognised for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets are also recognised for realizable loss and tax credit
carry forwards. The deferred tax assets may be reduced by a valuation allowance, which is
established when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will
not be realised. In addition, management is required to evaluate all available evidence, including
estimating future taxable income by taxing jurisdictions, the future reversal of temporary
differences, tax planning strategies, and recent results of operations, when making its judgment to
determine whether or not to record a valuation allowance for a portion, or all, of its deferred tax
assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted income tax rates in effect
for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in income tax rates is recognised in Finish
Line’s consolidated statements of operations in the period that includes the enactment date.

On 22 December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Act) was enacted into law. See Note 7,
Income Taxes for further discussion of the Tax Act.

Finish Line calculates an annual effective income tax rate based on annual income, permanent
differences between book and tax income, and statutory income tax rates. Finish Line adjusts the
annual effective income tax rate as additional information on outcomes or events becomes
available. Finish Line’s effective income tax rate is affected by changes in tax law, the tax
jurisdiction of new stores/shops or business ventures, the level of earnings or losses, the results
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of tax audits, permanent tax deductions and credits, the level of investment income, and other
items.

Finish Line’s income tax returns, like those of most companies, are periodically audited by tax
authorities. These audits include questions regarding Finish Line’s tax filing positions, including the
timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. At
any one time, multiple tax years are subject to audit by the various tax authorities. Finish Line
accounts for uncertainty in income taxes using a two-step approach for evaluating income tax
positions. The first step requires Finish Line to conclude that a tax position, based solely on its
technical merits, is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by a tax authority. The
second step applies if Finish Line has concluded that the tax position is more likely than not to be
sustained upon examination and requires Finish Line to measure the largest amount of benefit,
determined on a cumulative probability basis, which is more likely than not to be realised upon
ultimate settlement. Finish Line adjusts its accrual for uncertain tax positions and income tax
provision in the period in which matters are effectively settled with tax authorities at amounts
different from its established accrual, the statute of limitations expires for the relevant taxing
authority to examine the tax position, new court cases, regulations, or rulings are issued, or when
more or new information becomes available. Finish Line includes its accrual for uncertain tax
positions, including accrued penalties and interest, in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets unless the liability is expected to be paid within one year. Changes to the accrual
for uncertain tax positions, including accrued penalties and interest, are included in income tax
expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share attributable to Finish Line shareholders is
calculated by dividing net income attributable to Finish Line associated with common shareholders
by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share attributable to Finish Line shareholders assumes the issuance of additional
shares of common stock by Finish Line upon exercise of all outstanding stock options and
contingently issuable securities if the effect is dilutive, in accordance with the treasury stock
method or two-class method (whichever is more dilutive).

Restricted stock units without performance criteria are included as participating securities, since
they have the right to share in dividends, if declared, equally with common shares. During periods
of net income, participating securities are allocated a proportional share of net income attributable
to Finish Line determined by dividing total weighted average participating securities by the sum of
total weighted average common shares and participating securities (“the two-class method”).
During periods of net loss, no effect is given to participating securities since they do not share in
the losses of Finish Line. When discontinued operations are reported, income from continuing
operations represents the “control number” in determining whether potential shares of common
stock are dilutive or anti-dilutive. Participating securities have the effect of diluting both basic and
diluted earnings per share during periods of net income.

Financial Instruments. Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, and accounts payable. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these
instruments.

As of 3 March 2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016, Finish Line had not invested in, nor
did it have, any derivative financial instruments.

Share-Based Compensation. Finish Line accounts for share-based compensation by the
measuring and recognizing of compensation expense for all share-based awards made to
employees and directors based on estimated fair values on the grant date. Finish Line is required
to estimate the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant and recognise as expense
the value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest over the requisite service
period.
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Share-based compensation expense recognised in the consolidated statements of operations is
based on awards ultimately expected to vest, and accordingly has been reduced for estimated
forfeitures. Forfeitures are required to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary,
in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Finish Line applies an
estimated forfeiture rate based on historical data to determine the amount of compensation
expense.

Compensation expense for stock options is recognised, net of forfeitures, over the requisite service
period on a straight-line basis, using a single option approach (each option is valued as one grant,
irrespective of the number of vesting tranches). Restricted stock expense is recognised, net of
forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

Fair Value Measurements. Fair value measurements are determined based upon the exit price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants exclusive of any transaction costs. Finish Line utilises a fair value
hierarchy based upon the observability of inputs used in valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1:       Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;

Level 2:       Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly
or indirectly; and

Level 3:       Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the
reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

Self-Insurance Reserves. Finish Line is self-insured for certain losses related to health, workers’
compensation, and general liability insurance, although Finish Line maintains stop-loss coverage
with third-party insurers to limit its liability exposure. Liabilities associated with these losses are
estimated in part by considering historical claims experience, industry factors, severity factors, and
other actuarial assumptions.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued guidance on revenue from contracts with customers and has subsequently issued
several amendments which clarify the guidance as well as provide guidance for implementation.
The guidance outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance,
including industry-specific guidance. The guidance requires entities to recognise revenue in a way
that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. In August
2015, the FASB approved a one year deferral of the effective date, to make it effective for annual
or interim reporting periods beginning after 15 December 2017. Finish Line finalized its
assessment of the new guidance, which it adopted on 4 March 2018, using a modified
retrospective transition approach. Finish Line has determined that the new guidance will result in
a net cumulative effect adjustment to decrease beginning retained earnings as of the date of
adoption, primarily due to a change in how Finish Line accounts for its loyalty program. Finish Line
has determined that the adoption of the guidance will result in the following impacts:

•         Estimated costs of returns will be recorded as a current asset rather than netted with Finish
Line’s sales return reserve and;

•         Change from the cost deferral accounting method to the revenue deferral accounting
method to record Finish Line’s unredeemed awards for its customer loyalty program.

The impacts from the adoption of this guidance, including the net cumulative-effect adjustment, did
not have a material impact on the Finish Line’s consolidated results of operations, financial
position, or cash flows.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance on accounting for leases. A primary purpose of the
guidance is to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about
leasing arrangements. Specifically, lessees will be required to recognise the rights and obligations
resulting from leases classified as operating leases as assets and liabilities. The guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after 15 December 2018, including interim periods within those
fiscal years, and requires a modified retrospective adoption, with early adoption permitted. Finish
Line is currently assessing the impact of adopting this guidance and its potential impact to its
consolidated results of operations, financial position, cash flows, and related disclosures and is
expecting the guidance to have a material impact due to the significant number of store leases that
Finish Line is under contract for.

Other recently issued accounting pronouncements did not, or are not believed by management to,
have a material effect on Finish Line’s present or future consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements. In July 2015, the FASB issued guidance on
simplifying the measurement of inventory. The guidance, which applies to inventory that is
measured using any method other than the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) or retail inventory method,
requires that entities measure inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Finish Line
adopted the provisions of this guidance prospectively on February 26, 2017. The adoption of this
guidance did not have a material impact on Finish Line’s consolidated results of operations,
financial position, or cash flows.

In March 2016, the FASB issued guidance on simplifying several aspects of the accounting for
share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of
awards as either equity or liabilities, classification on the statement of cash flows, and accounting
for forfeitures. Finish Line adopted the provisions of this guidance on 26 February 2017. The
impact of the adoption resulted in the following:

•         Excess tax benefits (deficiencies) resulting from share-based compensation are now
recorded within income tax expense when the awards vest or are settled, rather than within
equity. Additionally, excess tax benefits are now excluded from assumed future proceeds in
Finish Line’s calculation of diluted shares for purposes of determining diluted earnings per
share. The prospective adoption of this provision did not have a material effect on Finish
Line’s consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. Finish Line
recorded excess tax deficiencies related to share-based compensation of approximately
$1.4 million in fiscal 2018 to income tax expense, whereas such expense previously would
have been recorded in equity. In addition, Finish Line recorded approximately $0.1 million of
previously unrecognized tax benefits as a cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning
retained earnings.

•         Finish Line elected to continue to expense share-based awards based on awards ultimately
expected to vest, which requires Finish Line to continue to estimate forfeitures on the date
of their grant.

•         Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements are classified as cash
flows from operations, rather than as cash flows from financing activities. The Company
adopted this change retrospectively, which resulted in an increase of $0.5 million and $0.3
million to net cash provided by operating activities and an increase of $0.5 million and $0.3
million in cash flows used in financing activities for fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively.

2.       Discontinued Operations and Goodwill Impairment

On 24 February 2017 (Acquisition Date), Finish Line completed the sale of its JackRabbit division
to affiliates of CriticalPoint Capital, LLC (Buyers). The transaction took the form of a sale by Finish
Line of its entire membership interest in its affiliated company, which owns JackRabbit, with
payments totalling $11.1 million, which included a working capital adjustment agreed with the
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Buyers on 23 June 2017 of $1.0 million, of which $0.3 million remains payable as of 3 March 2018
once certain conditions have been met by the Buyers. The Buyers acquired all JackRabbit assets,
inventory, leasehold interests, customary liabilities, intellectual property, and the JackRabbit
trademark and name pursuant to the Agreement.

The sale of JackRabbit resulted in an aggregate loss of $34.0 million, which represented the total
cash payments to the Buyers of $11.1 million, net assets assumed by the Buyers of $18.3 million,
and one-time costs of approximately $4.6 million associated with the transaction.

Net loss from discontinued operations in fiscal 2018 include the working capital adjustment of $1.0
million, offset by certain one-time benefits recorded that were associated with the JackRabbit
division and the income tax benefit associated with the loss for the periods presented.

The following table presents key financial results of JackRabbit included in “Net loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax” for each of the following fiscal years (in thousands):

Year Ended
                                                                                             3 March     25 February    27 February
                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Net sales                                                                                  $ –           $89,739           $89,906
Cost of sales (including occupancy costs)                                       –             68,495             62,936
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Gross profit                                                                                      –             21,244             26,970
Selling, general, and administrative expenses                                –             30,488             33,824
Impairment charges and store closing costs                                   –             44,202               5,055
Loss on sale of discontinued operations                                     483             33,500                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Loss from discontinued operations before

income tax benefit                                                                   (483)           (86,946)           (11,909)
Income tax benefit                                                                       179             33,582               4,783
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax                    $(304)         $(53,364)           $(7,126)                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
The following table presents the major classes of assets and liabilities presented as held for sale
as of 27 February 2016 related to JackRabbit (in thousands):

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Accounts receivable, net                                                                                                         $1,745
Merchandise inventories, net                                                                                                  28,540
Other                                                                                                                                          1,239
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
Total current assets                                                                                                                 31,524
Property and equipment:

Building                                                                                                                                         103
Leasehold improvements                                                                                                          4,341
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment                                                                                            2,586
Construction in progress                                                                                                                18
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
                                                                                                                                                  7,048
Less accumulated depreciation                                                                                                 2,722
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
Total property and equipment, net                                                                                             4,326
Goodwill                                                                                                                                   44,029
Other assets, net                                                                                                                          916
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
Total assets                                                                                                                           $80,795                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
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LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable                                                                                                                    $7,601
Employee compensation                                                                                                           1,237
Accrued property and sales tax                                                                                                    485
Other liabilities and accrued expenses                                                                                     3,958
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
Total current liabilities                                                                                                              13,281
Deferred credits from landlords                                                                                                 1,824
Other long-term liabilities                                                                                                                80
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
Total liabilities                                                                                                                        $15,185                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
During fiscal 2017, Finish Line determined that it was more likely than not that the fair value of
JackRabbit was less than its carrying value, and upon completion of an impairment analysis, that
goodwill was impaired during Finish Line’s third fiscal quarter. The decrease in JackRabbit’s fair
value from Finish Line’s prior year impairment analysis was the result of preliminary indications of
interest for JackRabbit that indicated that the fair value was below its carrying value. Fair value of
the JackRabbit reporting unit was determined using preliminary bids from interested parties. As a
result of the second step of the goodwill impairment test, JackRabbit’s goodwill had no implied fair
value and was written down to zero. This resulted in a pretax non-cash goodwill impairment charge
of $44.0 million that is reflected in asset impairment charges in discontinued operations for the year
ended 25 February 2017.

During fiscal 2016, Finish Line completed one immaterial acquisition for total consideration of
$8.9 million. The entity from which the assets were acquired operated four specialty running stores
in New York. In connection with this acquisition, Finish Line recorded goodwill of $9.1 million.
Goodwill is deductible for US federal income tax purposes.

Finish Line allocated the aggregated purchase price for the acquisition based upon the tangible
and intangible assets acquired, net of liabilities. The allocation of the purchase price is detailed
below (in thousands):

                                                                                                                                       Allocation of
                                                                                                                                  Purchase Price
Goodwill                                                                                                                                   $9,147
Tangible assets, net of liabilities                                                                                                  (216)
                                                                                                                                         –––––––––
Total purchase price                                                                                                                $8,931
                                                                                                                                         –––––––––
The following table provides a reconciliation of Finish Line’s goodwill for each of the following fiscal
years (in thousands):

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Beginning balance                                                                  $ –           $44,029           $34,719
Acquisitions                                                                                      –                      –               9,147
Other                                                                                                –                      –                  163
Impairment                                                                                       –            (44,029)                     –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Ending balance                                                                       $ –             $ –           $44,029                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
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3.       Intangible Assets

Information regarding Finish Line’s intangible assets is as follows:

                                                                                                                     3 March    25 February
                                                                                                                           2018                2017
Gross carrying amount                                                                                $119,676           138,691
Accumulated amortisation                                                                               50,792             48,388
                                                                                                                   ––––––––        ––––––––
Net carrying amount                                                                                      $68,884             90,303
                                                                                                                   ––––––––        ––––––––
During fiscal 2018, Finish Line recorded an impairment charge of $14.7 million, primarily related to
the write-off of technology software assets related to enterprise-wide system infrastructure, as
Finish Line determined that the systems were no longer going to be utilized. During fiscal 2017,
Finish Line recorded an impairment charge of $0.2 million due to the write-off of corporate assets.
During fiscal 2016, Finish Line recorded an impairment charge of $32.1 million primarily related to
the write-off of technology software assets related to enterprise-wide systems infrastructure, as
Finish Line determined that the systems were no longer going to be used for their originally
intended purpose. The asset impairment charges were calculated as the difference between the
carrying amount of the impaired assets and their estimated future discounted cash flows.

A schedule of expected amortization expense related to intangible assets by fiscal year as of
3 March 2018, is as follows (in thousands):

2019                                                                                                                                      $15,126
2020                                                                                                                                        13,987
2021                                                                                                                                        10,816
2022                                                                                                                                          7,337
2023                                                                                                                                          6,165
Thereafter                                                                                                                               15,453
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
                                                                                                                                              $68,884
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
4.       Fair Value Measurements

The following table provides a summary of the recognised assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (in thousands):

3 March 2018 25 February 2017 27 February 2016
                                                       Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Level 1    Level 2    Level 3
Assets:

Non-qualified deferred
compensation plan                      $4,210    $ –    $ –     $5,517    $ –    $ –     $5,531    $ –    $ –

Included in Level 1 assets are mutual fund investments under a non-qualified deferred
compensation plan. Finish Line estimates the fair value of these investments on a recurring basis
using readily available market prices.

There were no liabilities measured at fair value and there were no transfers into or out of Level 1,
Level 2, or Level 3 assets or liabilities for any of the periods presented.

Level 3 Valuation Techniques

Financial assets and liabilities are considered Level 3 when the fair values are determined using
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques and at least one
significant model assumption or input is unobservable.

Finish Line has certain assets that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis and
adjusted to fair value under certain circumstances that include those described in Note 2,
Discontinued Operations and Goodwill Impairment, Note 3, Intangible Assets, and Note 12,
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Impairment Charges and Store Closing Costs. The categorization used to price the implied fair
value of goodwill and assets was considered a Level 3 measurement due to the subjective nature
of the unobservable inputs used to determine the fair values.

Additionally, in connection with the acquisitions and purchase price allocations that are described
in Note 2, Discontinued Operations and Goodwill Impairment, Finish Line recognised the acquired
assets and liabilities at fair value. All amounts are recognised as Level 3 measurements due to the
subjective nature of the unobservable inputs used to determine fair values.

5.       Debt Agreement

Finish Line has an unsecured $125 million credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions,
which expires on 30 November 2021 (Credit Facility). The Credit Facility provides that, under
certain circumstances, Finish Line may increase the maximum amount of the Credit Facility in an
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $200 million. The Credit Facility is used by Finish Line,
among other things, to issue letters of credit, support working capital needs, fund capital
expenditures, and for other general corporate purposes.

There were no outstanding borrowings as of 3 March 2018. Approximately $1.6 million in stand-by
letters of credit were outstanding as of 3 March 2018. Accordingly, the total revolving credit
availability was $123.4 million as of 3 March 2018.

Finish Line’s ability to borrow in the future is subject to certain conditions, including compliance
with certain representations and warranties. The Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants that
limit, among other things, mergers and acquisitions (including the planned merger with JD Sports
Fashion plc discussed in Note 14, Subsequent Events). In addition, Finish Line must maintain a
maximum leverage ratio (as defined by the Credit Facility) and minimum consolidated tangible net
worth (as defined by the Credit Facility). Finish Line was in compliance with all such covenants as
of 3 March 2018.

The pricing grid is adjusted quarterly and is based on Finish Line’s leverage ratio. The minimum
pricing is LIBOR plus 0.90 per cent. or Base Rate (as defined by the Credit Facility) and the
maximum pricing is LIBOR plus 1.75 per cent. or Base Rate plus 0.75 per cent. Finish Line is also
subject to an unused commitment fee based on Finish Line’s leverage ratio with minimum pricing
of 0.10 per cent. and maximum pricing of 0.25 per cent. In addition, Finish Line is subject to a letter
of credit fee based on Finish Line’s leverage ratio with minimum pricing of 0.40 per cent. and
maximum pricing of 1.25 per cent.

6.       Leases

Finish Line leases retail stores under non-cancelable operating leases, which generally have lease
terms ranging from three to ten years. Most of these lease arrangements do not provide for
renewal periods; however, management expects that in the normal course of business, expiring
leases will generally be renewed or, upon making a decision to relocate, replaced by leases at
other premises. Finish Line recognises rent expense for minimum lease payments on a straight-
line basis over the expected lease term, including rent holidays, rent escalation clauses, and/or
cancelable option periods where failure to exercise such options would result in an economic
penalty. In addition, the commencement date of the lease term is the earlier of the date when
Finish Line becomes legally obligated for the rent payments or the date when Finish Line takes
possession of the leased space for build-out.
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In addition to rent payments, leases generally require additional payments covering real estate
taxes, insurance, maintenance, and other costs. These additional payments are excluded from the
table below. The components of rent expense incurred under these leases are as follows for each
of the following fiscal years (in thousands):

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Minimum rent                                                                      $103,361         $103,935         $102,916
Contingent rent                                                                       32,041             34,397             28,560
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Rent expense                                                                      $135,402         $138,332         $131,476                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
A schedule of future base rent payments by fiscal year with initial or remaining non-cancelable
terms of one year or more is as follows (in thousands):

2019                                                                                                                                     $125,252
2020                                                                                                                                       116,311
2021                                                                                                                                       109,975
2022                                                                                                                                       104,819
2023                                                                                                                                         91,781
Thereafter                                                                                                                              123,515
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
Total                                                                                                                                     $671,653
                                                                                                                                           ––––––––
The lease commitments in the table above include the guaranteed minimum license fee associated
with shops within department stores.

7.       Income Taxes

The following table sets forth the components of income tax expense from continuing operations
for each of the following fiscal years (in thousands):

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Current:

Federal                                                                                  $14,317             $9,422           $13,553
State                                                                                             377                1,115                  579
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                               14,694             10,537             14,132
Deferred:

Federal                                                                                   (20,381)              6,944                  533
State                                                                                             (32)              1,279              (1,103)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                              (20,413)              8,223                 (570)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total income tax (benefit)/expense                                        $(5,719)          $18,760           $13,562                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

47



Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes. Significant components of Finish Line’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows
(in thousands):

                                                                                             3 March     25 February     27 February
                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Deferred tax assets:

Deferred credits from landlords                                              $2,496             $3,243           $10,719
Share-based compensation                                                      5,645               8,655               6,462
Compensation accrual                                                              1,754               1,253               1,091
Deferred compensation                                                            1,103               2,151               2,149
State net operating loss and credit carryforwards                    2,113               2,838                      –
Other                                                                                         3,804               6,361               8,692
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total deferred tax assets                                                        16,915             24,501              29,113

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment and intangible assets                     (18,191)           (38,094)           (39,350)
Merchandise inventories                                                          (9,861)           (18,520)           (12,286)
Other                                                                                           (676)                (113)             (2,918)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total deferred tax liabilities                                                    (28,728)           (56,727)           (54,554)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Net deferred tax liability                                                       $(11,813)         $(32,226)         $(25,441)                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
On 22 December 2017, H.R. 1, originally the Tax Cuts & Jobs Act (Tax Act), was signed into law
making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include a corporate rate
decrease from 35 per cent. to 21 per cent., effective 1 January 2018, as well as a variety of other
changes including eliminating certain deductions for executive compensation and limiting the
deduction for interest. In applying the impacts of the Tax Act, Finish Line re-measured its deferred
tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in the future,
which is generally a 21 per cent. federal tax rate and its related impacts on the state tax rates. The
resulting impact was the recognition of an income tax benefit of $10.1 million in the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2018. In addition, applying the new U.S. federal corporate tax rate of 21 per cent. on
1 January 2018, resulted in a federal income tax statutory rate of 32.6 per cent. in fiscal 2018.

While Finish Line believes the $10.1 million of income tax benefit is a reasonable estimate of the
impact of the Tax Act, additional guidance and clarifications of the Tax Act are expected to be
provided in the future. Although Finish Line does not anticipate any material adjustments, future
tax expense or benefit related to the Tax Act may need to be recorded as additional guidance and
clarifications of the Tax Acts are provided. Once Finish Line finalizes certain tax positions when it
files its fiscal 2018 U.S. tax return, it will conclude whether any further adjustments are necessary
and record the amounts as a component of income tax expense (benefit) in the reporting period in
which such adjustments are determined, which will be no later than the fourth quarter of fiscal
2019.

The income tax (benefit) expense reported differs from the expected tax computed by applying the
federal income tax statutory rate of 32.6 per cent. for fiscal 2018 and 35 per cent. for fiscal 2017
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and 2016 to income before income taxes. The reasons for this difference and their tax effects are
as follows:

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Tax at statutory federal income tax rate                                  32.6%              35.0%              35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit                                    6.1                   4.1                   0.7
Re-measurement of net deferred tax liability                           (110.7)                     –                      –
Tax contingencies                                                                        (3.5)                 (0.7)                     –
Tax credits                                                                                    (7.5)                 (1.5)                 (6.4)
Excess tax deficiencies – share based compensation               15.9                      –                      –
Transaction costs                                                                          4.1                      –                      –
Retired executive officer’s compensation                                        –                  (2.9)                     –
Other                                                                                            (0.6)                  0.8                   2.6
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                                  (63.6)%          34.8%              31.9%                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
As of 3 March 2018, Finish Line had $18.2 million of net operating loss carryforwards for state
purposes. If not used, these carryforwards will expire between fiscal 2022 and 2037. As of 3 March
2018, Finish Line also had state tax credit carryforwards of $1.6 million. If not used, these state tax
credit carryforwards will expire between fiscal 2022 and 2028.

Finish Line recorded a valuation allowance of $0.2 million in fiscal 2018 that is included in the
“State Net Operating Loss and Credit Carryforwards” section of total deferred tax assets. In
assessing the realizability of the deferred tax asset related to certain state net operating losses and
credits, Finish Line considered whether it was more likely than not to utilize the state net operating
losses and credits before they would expire. The ultimate realization of the state net operating
losses and state credits is contingent on whether a substantial amount of income may be
generated in that specific state in the future allowing a benefit of the loss and credit before they
expire. Based on current estimate of future taxable income in certain states, Finish Line does not
believe it is more likely than not to generate enough taxable income allowing for full utilization of
certain state net operating losses and credits before they would expire.

Finish Line began recording excess tax (benefits) deficiencies resulting from share-based
compensation within income tax expense when the awards vest or are settled, rather than within
equity, starting in fiscal 2018 due to guidance issued by the FASB which Finish Line adopted on
February 26, 2017 (see Note 1, Significant Accounting Policies). Finish Line recorded excess tax
deficiencies related to share-based compensation of approximately $1.4 million to income tax
expense in fiscal 2018, whereas such expense previously would have been recorded in equity.

State income taxes, net of federal benefit and tax credits listed above in the effective tax rate
reconciliation represent a larger tax effect in fiscal 2018 versus fiscal 2017, primarily because
income before tax in fiscal 2018 is less than it was in fiscal 2017.

During fiscal 2017, Finish Line’s executive chairman retired. As a result of the retirement, the
executive’s compensation was no longer subject to the Internal Revenue Code Section 162
limitation on the deduction for non-performance based compensation as he was not an employee
at the end of the fiscal year. Finish Line claimed a tax benefit upon retirement for expenses not
deducted in prior years related to the executive’s time based restricted stock that had not vested
in prior years, but did vest during fiscal 2017. During fiscal 2017, the increase in state income
taxes, net of federal benefit, compared to fiscal 2016 is primarily attributable to state research and
development credits generated during fiscal 2016 that were not generated in fiscal 2017.

Payments (refunds) of income taxes for fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016 equalled $(18.4) million,
$(15.1) million and $29.6 million, respectively.

Finish Line is subject to US federal income tax as well as income tax by multiple state and local
jurisdictions. Finish Line has substantially concluded all US federal income tax matters through
fiscal 2014 and all state and local income tax matters through fiscal 2010. In the future, Finish Line
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may resolve some or all of the issues related to tax matters of open fiscal years, which may require
Finish Line to make payments to settle agreed upon liabilities.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As of 3 March 2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016, Finish Line had $2.3 million,
$2.6 million and $3.2 million of unrecognised tax benefits respectively, included in other long-term
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, $1.9 million, $1.9 million and $2.3 million
respectively, of which, if recognised, would affect the effective income tax rate. Of the total
unrecognised tax benefits as of 3 March 2018, it is reasonably possible that the total unrecognised
tax benefits could decrease by up to $0.5 million during the next twelve months due to audit
settlements, expiration of statute of limitations, or other resolution of uncertainties. Due to the
uncertain and complex application of tax rules and regulations, it is possible that the ultimate
resolution of audits may result in liabilities that could be different from this estimate. In such case,
Finish Line will record additional tax expense or tax benefit in the tax provision or reclassify
amounts on the consolidated balance sheets in the period in which such matter is effectively
settled with the tax authority.

Finish Line recognises interest and penalty expense, as well as reversal of expense, related to
unrecognised tax benefits as components of income tax expense. In fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016,
$0.0 million, $(0.3) million and $(0.8) million, respectively, of interest and penalties were included
in income tax expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Finish Line has accrued $0.4
million, $0.4 million and $0.7 million for the payment of interest and penalties as of 3 March 2018,
25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016, respectively.

The following table summarises by fiscal year the activity related to Finish Line’s unrecognised tax
benefits for US federal and state tax jurisdictions and excludes accrued interest and penalties (in
thousands):

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Unrecognised tax benefits at beginning of year                     $2,155             $2,485             $1,999
Increases in tax positions for prior years                                     209                  212               1,167
Decreases in tax positions for prior years                                  (203)                  (26)                (259)
Increases in unrecognised tax benefits as a

result of current year activity                                                      41                    19                  176
Decreases to unrecognised tax benefits as a 

result of a lapse of the applicable
statute of limitations                                                                (372)                (535)                (598)

                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Unrecognised tax benefits at end of year                               $1,830             $2,155             $2,485                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
8.       Retirement Plans

Finish Line sponsors a qualified defined contribution profit sharing plan, which covers substantially
all employees of Finish Line who are age twenty-one or older. Contributions to this plan are
discretionary and are allocated to employees as a percentage of each covered employee’s wages.
The plan has a 401(k) feature whereby Finish Line matches employee contributions to the plan.
Finish Line matches 100 per cent. of employee contributions to the 401(k) plan on the first three
per cent. of an employee’s wages and matches an additional 50 per cent. of employee
contributions to the 401(k) plan on the next two per cent. up to five per cent. of their wages
(maximum of four per cent. Finish Line match). Employee contributions and Finish Line matching
contributions vest immediately. Finish Line’s matching contribution expense for the 401(k) plan in
fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $2.2 million, $1.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively.

Finish Line has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for highly compensated employees
whose contributions are limited under the qualified defined contribution profit sharing plan.
Amounts contributed and deferred under the non-qualified deferred compensation plan are
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credited or charged with the performance of investment options offered under the plan and elected
by the participants. In the event of bankruptcy, the assets of this plan are available to satisfy the
claims of general creditors. The liability for compensation deferred under Finish Line’s non-
qualified deferred compensation plan was $4.2 million, $5.5 million and $5.5 million for fiscal 2018,
2017 and 2016 respectively and is included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets. Finish Line’s total expense recorded for this plan was $0 in each of fiscal 2018,
2017 and 2016. On 25 March 2018, Finish Line terminated its non-qualified deferred compensation
plan. The distribution of the plan assets and participant balances could begin in fiscal 2019 and will
be completely paid out no later than March, 2019 depending on participant elections.

9.       Share-Based Compensation

General
In July 2009, Finish Line’s shareholders approved and adopted Finish Line 2009 Incentive Plan
(2009 Incentive Plan), previously approved by Finish Line’s Board of Directors. In July 2014,
Finish Line’s shareholders approved and adopted Finish Line 2009 Incentive Plan Amended and
Restated as of 16 April 2014, which was further amended as of 27 June and 14 July 2016
(Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan). All such amendments were previously approved
by Finish Line’s Board of Directors. Finish Line’s Board of Directors has reserved an aggregate of
10,500,000 shares of common stock available for issuance under the Amended and Restated
2009 Incentive Plan. The number of shares which may be used for awards other than stock options
or stock appreciation rights is limited to 4,000,000. Under the Amended and Restated 2009
Incentive Plan, Finish Line can provide newly issued shares or treasury stock to satisfy stock
option exercises and for the issuance of restricted stock. Future grants are no longer permitted
under the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan of Finish Line (2002 Incentive Plan); however, options
previously issued under the 2002 Incentive Plan remain outstanding and exercisable.

Total share-based compensation expense in fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $7.0 million from
continuing operations, $11.0 million ($9.9 million from continuing operations and $1.1 million from
discontinued operations) and $10.9 million ($10.6 million from continuing operations and $0.3
million from discontinued operations), respectively.

Stock Option Activity
Stock options have been granted to non-employee directors, officers, and other key employees.
Generally, options outstanding under the 2002 Incentive Plan and Amended and Restated 2009
Incentive Plan are exercisable at a price equal to the fair market value on the date of grant, vest
over four years, and expire ten years after the date of grant. During fiscal 2018 no stock options
were granted. The estimated weighted-average fair value of the individual options granted during
fiscal 2017 and 2016 was $4.82, and $6.49, respectively, on the date of the grants. The fair values
of all options granted were determined using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions for each fiscal year:

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Dividend yield                                                                              N/A                2.2%                1.5%
Volatility                                                                                        N/A              32.9%              33.4%
Risk-free interest rate                                                                  N/A                1.3%                1.4%
Expected life                                                                                N/A         5.0 years         5.0 years

The dividend yield assumption is based on Finish Line’s history and expectation of dividend
payouts. The expected volatility assumption is based on Finish Line’s analysis of historical
volatility. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the average daily closing rates during
the period for US treasury notes that have a life which approximates the expected life of the option.
The expected life of employee stock options represents the weighted-average period the stock
options are expected to remain outstanding based on historical exercise experience.
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A reconciliation of Finish Line’s stock option activity and related information for fiscal 2018 is as
follows:

                                                                                           Weighted         Weighted
                                                                                             Average           Average
                                                                                             Exercise       Remaining        Aggregate
                                                                 Number of          Price Per      Contractual            Intrinsic
                                                                       Shares               Share       Life (years)              Value
Outstanding at 25 February 2017             3,592,592             $21.35
Granted                                                                    –                      –
Exercised                                                       (49,656)                6.19                                  $358,000
Forfeited and expired                                  (285,218)              22.69
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––
Outstanding at 3 March 2018                    3,257,718             $21.46                   6.4         $374,000
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––
Exercisable at 3 March 2018                     2,183,552             $21.32                   5.8         $374,000

As of 3 March 2018, there was $2.6 million of total unrecognised compensation cost, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested options. That cost is expected to be recognised over a
weighted average period of 1.3 years.

Intrinsic value for stock options is the difference between the current market value of Finish Line’s
stock and the option strike price. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2018,
2017 and 2016 was $0.4 million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

The following table summarises information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at
3 March 2018:

                                                                  Weighted-
                                                                     Average        Weighted-                                Weighted-
                                                                 Remaining           Average                                   Average
Range of Exercise                Number      Contractual           Exercise            Number           Exercise
Prices                             Outstanding                   Life                Price      Exercisable                Price
$1.00 – $10.00                       86,177                   0.9               $6.02             86,177               $6.02
$10.01 – $15.00                     47,404                   2.0               13.14             47,404               13.14
$15.01 – $20.00                   686,983                   5.9               18.62           601,304               18.86
$20.01 – $25.00                1,955,937                   7.1               21.85        1,062,164               22.04
$25.01 +                               481,217                   6.1               27.53           386,503               27.58
                                        –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––
                                          3,257,718                   6.4                                2,183,552                                                                –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––      –––––––––
Finish Line recorded compensation expense related to stock options of $2.6 million, $4.4 million
and $5.9 million in fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

Restricted Stock Activity
Finish Line has granted shares of Finish Line’s stock to non-employee directors, officers, and other
key employees that are subject to restrictions. The shares or restricted stock granted to employees
in fiscal 2018 generally vest ratably over a three-year period or vest upon the achievement of
specified levels of earnings per share growth and net sales growth over a three-year period. The
shares of restricted stock granted to employees prior to fiscal 2018 either vest upon the
achievement of specified levels of earnings per share growth over a three-year period or cliff-vest
after a three-year period. For performance-based awards, should the net income or earnings per
share growth criteria not be met over the three-year period, the shares will be forfeited. All
restricted stock awards issued to non-employee directors cliff-vest after a one-year period from the
grant date. Finish Line recorded compensation expense related to restricted stock of $4.3 million,
$6.5 million and $4.9 million, in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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A reconciliation of Finish Line’s restricted stock activity and related information for fiscal 2018 is as
follows:

                                                                                                                                            Weighted
                                                                                                                                              Average
                                                                                                                  Number of       Grant Date
                                                                                                                       Shares        Fair Value
Unvested at 25 February 2017                                                                     597,145             $21.36
Granted                                                                                                         723,184               13.13
Vested                                                                                                          (256,767)              21.17
Forfeited                                                                                                       (147,921)              18.08
                                                                                                                 –––––––––      –––––––––
Unvested at 3 March 2018                                                                            915,641             $15.45                                                                                                                 –––––––––      –––––––––
As of 3 March 2018, there was $6.5 million of total unrecognised compensation cost, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to non-vested restricted stock. That cost is expected to be recognised
over a weighted average period of 1.5 years. The total fair value of awards for which restrictions
lapsed (upon which the stock vested) during fiscal 2018 was $5.4 million.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Finish Line has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). Under the ESPP, participating
employees are able to contribute up to 15 per cent. of their annual compensation to acquire shares
of Finish Line’s common stock at 85 per cent. of the market price on a specified date each offering
period. The amount of shares purchased per calendar year per employee cannot have a fair
market value in excess of $25,000. There are 2,400,000 shares of common stock authorised for
purchase under the ESPP, of which 48,000, 37,000 and 39,000 shares were purchased during
fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Finish Line recognises compensation expense based on
the 15 per cent. discount at purchase. Finish Line recorded compensation expense related to the
ESPP of $0.1 million in each of fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016.

10.     Earnings Per Share

Finish Line measured its diluted earnings per share utilizing the two-class method for fiscal 2018
and 2016 and the treasury method for fiscal 2017 as those measurements were determined to be
more dilutive between the two available methods in each of those fiscal years.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing earnings
per share for each of the following fiscal years (in thousands, except per share amounts):

                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Net income from continuing operations                                $14,714           $35,156           $28,922
Net income from continuing operations attributable to

Finish Line attributable to participating securities                    253                      –                  347
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Net income from continuing operations attributable to

Finish Line attributable to shareholders                            $14,461           $35,156           $28,575
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Net loss from discontinued operations                                     $(304)         $(53,364)           $(7,126)
Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling

interest of discontinued operations                                              –                      –                   (96)
Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to

Finish Line attributable to participating securities                       (4)                     –                   (84)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to

Finish Line attributable to shareholders                                $(300)         $(53,364)           $(6,946)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Net income/(loss) attributable to Finish Line

attributable to shareholders                                               $14,161          $(18,208)          $21,629                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
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                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
Basic earnings per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders:

Weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding                                                                          40,281              40,911             44,565

Basic earnings per share attributable to
Finish Line shareholders:

Continuing operations                                                               $0.36               $0.86               $0.64
Discontinued operations                                                            (0.01)               (1.31)               (0.15)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Basic earnings per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders                                                       $0.35              $(0.45)              $0.49                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Diluted earnings per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders:

Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding                                                              40,281              40,911             44,565

Dilutive effect of potential common shares(a)                                 58                  456                  222
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Diluted weighted-average number of

common shares outstanding                                               40,339             41,367             44,787
Diluted earnings per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders:
Continuing operations                                                               $0.36               $0.85               $0.64
Discontinued operations                                                            (0.01)               (1.29)               (0.16)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Diluted earnings per share attributable to

Finish Line shareholders                                                       $0.35              $(0.44)              $0.48                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
(a)   The computation of diluted earnings per share attributable to Finish Line shareholders excludes options to purchase

approximately 3.4 million, 3.0 million and 1.7 million shares of common stock in fiscal 2018, 2017, and 2016,

respectively, because the impact of such options would have been antidilutive.

11.     Common Stock

On 21 July 2011, the Finish Line Board authorised a share repurchase program to repurchase
shares of Finish Line’s common stock with subsequent amendments on 26 March 2015 and 13
July 2016 authorizing further share repurchases through 31 December 2019 (Share Repurchase

Program).

Finish Line repurchased 0.3 million shares of its common stock at an average price of
$15.29 per share for an aggregate amount of $3.8 million in fiscal 2018. As of 3 March 2018, there
were 4.5 million shares remaining available to repurchase under the Share Repurchase Program.

As of 3 March 2018, Finish Line held 19.4 million shares of its common stock as treasury shares
at an average price of $20.59 per share for an aggregate carrying amount of $399.2 million. Finish
Line’s treasury shares may be issued upon the exercise of employee stock options, under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), in the form of restricted stock, or for other corporate
purposes. The number of shares of common stock available for issuance of awards of restricted
stock and other awards, or upon the exercise of options, is limited under the Amended and
Restated 2009 Incentive Plan. Further purchases may occur from time to time as market
conditions warrant and as Finish Line deems appropriate when judged against other alternative
uses of cash.

On 17 January 2018, Finish Line increased its quarterly cash dividend to $0.115 per share from
$0.11 per share of Finish Line’s common stock. Finish Line declared dividends of $18.2 million,
$17.0 million and $16.5 million during fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. As of 3 March 2018
and 25 February 2017, dividends declared but not paid were $4.7 million and $4.5 million,
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respectively. Further declarations of dividends remain at the discretion of Finish Line’s Board of
Directors.

Shareholder Rights Plan
On August 28, 2017, the Company announced that its Board of Directors unanimously adopted a
shareholder rights plan (Rights Plan) to protect the best interests of Finish Line shareholders. The
Board of Directors authorized the adoption of the Rights Plan to protect against any coercive or
abusive takeover tactics, and help ensure that the Company’s shareholders are not deprived of the
opportunity to realize the full and fair value of their investments.

In connection with the adoption of the Rights Plan, the Board of Directors authorized 10,000 shares
of series A junior participating stock, no par value (Preferred Stock) and declared a dividend of
one Preferred Stock purchase right (Right) for each outstanding share of common stock of Finish
Line on August 25, 2017. The authorization of the Preferred Stock became effective on August 28,
2017. The dividend was paid on September 11, 2017 to shareholders of record at the close of
business on that date. Each Right initially entitles the registered holder to purchase from Finish
Line one ten-thousandth of a share of Preferred Stock at a price of $26.00 per Right, in the event
the Rights become exercisable, subject to adjustment.

In general, the Rights will become exercisable if a person or group becomes the beneficial owner
of 12.5 per cent. or more of the outstanding common stock of Finish Line. In the event that the
Rights become exercisable due to the triggering threshold being crossed, each Right will entitle its
holder to purchase, at the Right’s exercise price, a number of shares of common stock having a
market value at that time of twice the Right’s exercise price. Rights held by the triggering person
or group will become void and will not be exercisable to purchase any shares. The Board, at its
option, may exchange each Right (other than Rights owned by the triggering person or group that
have become void) in whole or in part, at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock per
outstanding Right, subject to adjustment.

Persons or groups that beneficially owned 12.5 per cent. or more of the outstanding Finish Line
common stock prior to Finish Line’s announcement of the Rights Plan will not cause the Rights to
be exercisable until such time as those persons or groups become the beneficial owner of any
additional shares of Finish Line common stock.

The Rights Plan has an expiration date of August 28, 2020, or earlier if shareholder approval of the
Rights Plan has not been obtained at or before Finish Line’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
The Board of Directors will, in general, be entitled to redeem the Rights at $0.0001 per Right at
any time before the triggering threshold is crossed.

12.     Impairment Charges and Store Closing Costs

The $36.7 million in impairment charges and store closing costs recorded during fiscal 2018 were
primarily the result of a $13.5 million write-off of technology assets related to enterprise-wide
system infrastructure, as the Company determined the systems were no longer going to be
utilized, an $11.6 million write-off of long-lived assets of underperforming stores, and an
$11.1 million write-off of obsolete store fixtures and corporate assets. The asset impairment
charges were calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the impaired assets and
their estimated future discounted cash flows. Additionally, Finish Line recorded $0.4 million in store
closing costs during fiscal 2018, which represents the non-cash write-off of fixtures and equipment
upon a store/shop closing.

The $13.3 million in impairment charges and store closing costs recorded during fiscal 2017 were
primarily the result of an $11.5 million write-off of long-lived assets of underperforming stores and
a $1.0 million write-off of obsolete store fixtures and corporate assets. The asset impairment
charges for the obsolete store technology assets and fixtures were calculated as the difference
between the carrying amount of the impaired assets and their estimated future discounted cash
flows. Additionally, Finish Line recorded $0.8 million in store closing costs during fiscal 2017.
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The $43.6 million in impairment charges and store closing costs recorded during fiscal 2016 were
primarily the result of a $33.3 million write-off of technology assets related to enterprise-wide
systems infrastructure, as Finish Line determined that the systems were no longer going to be
used for their originally intended purpose and instead Finish Line will focus on smaller upgrades
and enhancements to its core systems going forward, an $8.4 million write-off of long-lived assets
of underperforming stores, and a $1.1 million write-off of obsolete store fixtures and corporate
assets. The asset impairment charges were calculated as the difference between the carrying
amount of the impaired assets and their estimated future discounted cash flows. Additionally,
Finish Line recorded $0.8 million in store closing costs during fiscal 2016.

13.     Commitments and Contingencies

Finish Line is subject, from time to time, to certain legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary
course of conducting its business. Finish Line establishes a liability related to its legal proceedings
and claims when it has determined that it is probable that Finish Line has incurred a liability and
the related amount can be reasonably estimated. If Finish Line determines that an obligation is
reasonably possible, Finish Line will, if material, disclose the nature of the loss contingency and
the estimated range of possible loss, or include a statement that no estimate of loss can be made.
Finish Line believes there are no pending legal proceedings in which Finish Line is currently
involved which will have a material adverse effect on Finish Line’s financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

14.     Subsequent Event

On 25 March 2018, Finish Line entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (Merger

Agreement) with JD Sports Fashion Plc, a company incorporated under the laws of England and
Wales (JD Sports), and Genesis Merger Sub, Inc., an Indiana corporation and a wholly owned
subsidiary of JD Sports (Merger Sub). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, and subject to the
terms and conditions thereof, Merger Sub will merge with and into Finish Line (Merger), with
Finish Line surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of JD Sports. At the effective time
of the Merger, each issued and outstanding class A Common Share, no par value, of Finish Line
(Company Common Shares) (other than shares held by Finish Line in treasury or owned by any
subsidiary of Finish Line, JD Sports, Merger Sub, or any other subsidiary of JD Sports) will
automatically be converted into the right to received $13.50 in cash (Merger Consideration). In
addition, at the effective time of the Merger, all outstanding and unexercised Finish Line stock
options (whether vested or unvested) granted under Finish Lineʼs 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as
amended, and Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan, as amended, will be cancelled and
JD Sports, or the surviving corporation, will pay the holder of each such option an amount in cash
(without interest) equal to the product of (x) the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration over
the exercise price per share of the Company Common Shares underlying such option, and (y) the
number of Company Common Shares subject to the option (net of withholding taxes and rounded
down to the nearest cent). Each award of Finish Line restricted stock that is outstanding and
unvested immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will become fully vested and free
of forfeiture restrictions immediately prior to the effective time, and each such share of restricted
stock will be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration (net of withholding
taxes). Finish Lineʼs execution of the Merger Agreement did not materially impact Finish Lineʼs
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3 March 2018.

The closing of the transaction is subject to the receipt of any required regulatory approvals, the
approvals of the Finish Lineʼs and JD Sportsʼ shareholders and the satisfaction of other customary
closing conditions. The Merger is expected to close as soon as practicable after the satisfaction or
waiver of all the conditions to the closing in the Merger Agreement, which is currently expected to
be in the late second quarter or early third quarter of calendar year 2018, although delays may
occur.

The payment of the Merger Consideration will be funded in part, through debt financing that has
been committed to JD Sports by Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank plc, PNC Bank, National
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Association, and PNC Capital Markets LLC. The Merger Agreement does not contain a financing
condition.

The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights in favor of the parties, as set forth
therein, including, among other things, the right of either party, subject to specified limitations, to
terminate the Merger Agreement if the Merger is not consummated by 25 September 2018. Upon
the termination of the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, Finish Line may be
required to pay JD Sports a termination fee of $28 million. In addition, if the Merger Agreement is
terminated in certain other circumstances, then Finish Line must pay JD Sports its reasonable and
documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger and related
transactions, as well as JD Sports’ fees and expenses in connection with JD Sports’ financing of
the transaction, in an aggregate amount up to $5.6 million. Any fees and expenses paid by Finish
Line will be credited against any termination fee that may become due and payable.

15.     Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Finish Line’s merchandise is marketed during all seasons, with the highest volume of merchandise
sold during the second and fourth fiscal quarters as a result of back-to-school and holiday
shopping. The third fiscal quarter has traditionally had the lowest volume of net sales and the
lowest results of operations.

The following tables set forth quarterly operating data of Finish Line, including such data as a
percentage of net sales, for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016. This quarterly information is unaudited
but, in management’s opinion, reflects all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the periods presented.
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Quarter Ended
                                                              May 27, 2017              August 26, 2017         November 25, 2017         March 3, 2018

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales $429,772       100.0%    $469,352       100.0%    $378,533       100.0%    $561,299       100.0%

Cost of sales (including

occupancy costs) 302,345            70.4      339,020            72.2      281,117            74.3      384,377            68.5
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Gross profit 127,427            29.6      130,332            27.8        97,416            25.7      176,922            31.5

Selling, general, and

administrative expenses 112,412            26.1      121,772            26.0      114,703            30.3      137,597            24.5

Impairment charges and store

closing costs 2,158              0.5          2,335              0.5          4,286              1.1        27,912              5.0
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Operating income (loss) 12,857              3.0          6,225              1.3       (21,573)            (5.7)       11,413              2.0

Interest (income) expense, net –                 –               10                 –                 7                 –               56                 –
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Income (loss) from continuing

operations before

income taxes 12,857              3.0          6,235              1.3       (21,566)            (5.7)       11,469              2.0

Income tax expense (benefit)(c) 4,860              1.1          2,888              0.6         (8,625)            (2.3)        (4,842)            (0.9)
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Net income (loss) from

continuing operations 7,997              1.9          3,347              0.7       (12,941)            (3.4)       16,311              2.9

Net loss from discontinued

operations, net of tax 143                 –            (504)            (0.1)              27                 –               30                 –
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Net income (loss)

attributable to Finish Line $8,140              1.9        $2,843              0.6     $(12,914)            (3.4)     $16,341            $2.9

Basic earnings (loss)

per share attributable

to Finish Line shareholders(a):

Continuing operations $0.20                             $0.08                            $(0.32)                            $0.40                   

Discontinued operations –                              (0.01)                                   –                                    –
––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                   

Basic earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a) $0.20                             $0.07                            $(0.32)                            $0.40                   

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                   
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a):

Continuing operations $0.20                             $0.08                            $(0.32)                            $0.40                   

Discontinued operations –                              (0.01)                                   –                                    –
––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                   

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a) $0.20                             $0.07                            $(0.32)                            $0.40                   

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                   
Dividends declared per share $0.11                              $0.11                              $0.11                            $0.115                   

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                   
(a)   Earnings (loss) per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the

quarterly amounts may not equal the total for the fiscal year.

(b)   The quarter ended March 3, 2018 consisted of 14 weeks compared to 13 weeks in the comparable prior year period.

(c)   During the quarter ended March 3, 2018, the Company recorded a provisional $10.1 million benefit resulting from the

enactment of the Tax Act due to the re-measurement of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as

discussed in Note 7, Income taxes.
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Quarter Ended
                                                              28 May 2016               27 August 2016          26 November 2016       25 February 2017

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales $430,044       100.0%    $485,156       100.0%    $371,741       100.0%    $557,452       100.0%

Cost of sales (including

occupancy costs) 296,867            69.0      331,447            68.3      272,377            73.3      395,298            70.9
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Gross profit 133,177            31.0      153,709            31.7        99,364            26.7      162,154            29.1

Selling, general, and

administrative expenses 117,549            27.3       116,511            24.0      118,133            31.7      128,705            23.1

Impairment charges and store

closing costs –                 –             182                 –                 –                 –        13,129              2.4
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Operating income (loss) 15,628              3.7        37,016              7.7       (18,769)            (5.0)       20,320              3.6

Interest (income) expense, net (6)                –               32                 –             152              0.1             101                 –
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes 15,634              3.7        36,984              7.7       (18,921)            (5.1)       20,219              3.6

Income tax expense (benefit) 5,546              1.3        13,627              2.8         (8,332)            (2.3)         7,919              1.4
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Net income (loss) from continuing

operations 10,088              2.4        23,357              4.9       (10,589)            (2.8)       12,300              2.2

Net loss from discontinued

operations, net of tax (462)            (0.1)        (1,282)            (0.3)      (29,849)            (8.1)      (21,771)            (3.9)
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Net income (loss) attributable

to Finish Line $9,626              2.3      $22,075              4.6     $(40,438)          (10.9)      $(9,471)            (1.7)

Basic earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a):

Continuing operations $0.24                             $0.56                            $(0.26)                            $0.30

Discontinued operations (0.01)                             (0.03)                             (0.74)                             (0.53)
––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––

Basic earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a) $0.23                             $0.53                            $(1.00)                           $(0.23)

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a):

Continuing operations $0.24                             $0.56                            $(0.26)                            $0.30

Discontinued operations (0.01)                             (0.03)                             (0.74)                             (0.53)
––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a) $0.23                             $0.53                            $(1.00)                           $(0.23)

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––
Dividends declared per share $0.10                             $0.10                             $0.10                              $0.11

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––
(a)   Earnings (loss) per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly

amounts may not equal the total for the fiscal year.
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Quarter Ended
                                                              30 May 2015               29 August 2015          28 November 2015       27 February 2016

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales $419,398       100.0%    $458,713       100.0%    $361,025       100.0%    $559,845       100.0%

Cost of sales (including

occupancy costs) 288,283            68.7      307,846            67.1      277,986            77.0      368,845            65.9
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Gross profit 131,115            31.3      150,867            32.9        83,039            23.0      191,000            34.1

Selling, general, and

administrative expenses 108,076            25.8      109,449            23.9      115,716            32.1      136,594            24.4

Impairment charges and store

closing costs 168                 –             160                 –             167                 –        43,142              7.7
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Operating income (loss) 22,871              5.5        41,258              9.0       (32,844)            (9.1)       11,264              2.0

Interest expense (income), net 2                 –                (1)                –                 3                 –               61                 –
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes 22,869              5.5        41,259              9.0       (32,847)            (9.1)       11,203              2.0

Income tax expense (benefit) 8,800              2.1        15,707              3.4       (13,389)            (3.7)         2,444              0.4
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Net income (loss) from

continuing operations 14,069              3.4        25,552              5.6       (19,458)            (5.4)         8,759              1.6

Net (loss) income from

discontinued operations,

net of tax (280)            (0.1)            350              0.1         (2,377)            (0.6)        (4,723)            (0.9)
––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––   ––––––––

Net income (loss) attributable

to Finish Line $13,789              3.3      $25,902              5.7     $(21,835)            (6.0)       $4,036              0.7

Basic earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a):

Continuing operations $0.31                             $0.56                            $(0.44)                            $0.20

Discontinued operations (0.01)                              0.01                              (0.05)                             (0.11)
––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––

Basic earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a) $0.30                             $0.57                            $(0.49)                            $0.09

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a):

Continuing operations $0.30                             $0.56                            $(0.44)                            $0.20

Discontinued operations –                               0.01                              (0.05)                             (0.11)

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Finish Line

shareholders(a) $0.30                             $0.57                            $(0.49)                            $0.09

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––
Dividends declared per share $0.09                             $0.09                             $0.09                             $0.10

––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––                      ––––––––
(a)   Earnings (loss) per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly

amounts may not equal the total for the fiscal year.
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                                                   PART IV                                                   

UNAUDITED RECONCILIATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON

FINISH LINE TO IFRS AS APPLIED BY THE JD GROUP

Unaudited reconciliations of Finish Line historical information to JD Sports’ accounting

policies

The following unaudited reconciliations summarise the material adjustments which reconcile Finish
Line’s consolidated net income (profit for the period) for the three years ended 3 March 2018, 25
February 2017 and 27 February 2016 as well as the balance sheet (total equity) as at 3 March
2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016, as previously reported by Finish Line to estimate
those that would have been reported had Finish Line applied the accounting policies used by JD
Sports in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements for each of the three years ended
3 March 2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016.

These differences relate to methods for recognition and measurement of the amounts shown in the
consolidated financial statements. The reconciliation does not seek to reflect any changes to the
judgements made by Finish Line in preparing the underlying financial information and does not
reflect any fair value adjustments which the Board will need to make as a result of the Proposed
Acquisition or would have made had the Proposed Acquisition happened at any other date during
the historical period shown.

The following unaudited reconciliations present the effect of the material differences between the
accounting policies of Finish Line (using US GAAP) and the accounting policies of the JD Group
(using IFRS (EU)); the adjustment to the balance sheet (total equity) is a cumulative adjustment
whereas the net income adjustment represents the effect for the accounting period only and
therefore does not correspond with the total equity adjustment amount for the corresponding
accounting period.
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Unaudited reconciliation of Finish Line’s consolidated profit/(loss) under JD Sports

accounting policies for the 3 years ended  3 March 2018

                                                                                               For the             For the             For the
                                                                                        year ended      year ended      year ended
                                                                                             3 March     25 February     27 February
                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
                                                                                                  $000                $000                $000
Net income /(loss) for the period attributable to

Finish Line as reported by Finish Line

(U.S. GAAP)(1)                                                                     14,410            (18,208)            21,892
Adjusted for differences from JD Sports

accounting policies:
Revenue recognition on e-commerce sales(2)                            (243)                   82               1,247
Loyalty program(3)                                                                         (45)              1,294                     (2)
Capitalized software costs(4)                                                     2,081                 (230)                (427)
Share based compensation(5):
(a) Accelerated recognition of vesting of

share based compensation                                        (1,071)                (114)                 425
(b) Deferred tax asset related to

share based compensation                                            792                  788                  629
Tax effect of above adjustments(6)                                              (632)                (447)                (319)
                                                                                                                                                       ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Consolidated profit/(loss) for the period

attributable to Finish Line under JD Sports

accounting policies (IFRS EU)                                         15,292            (16,835)            23,445                                                                                                                                                       ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
(1)   The consolidated profit/(loss) of Finish Line for the years ended 3 March 2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February

2016 has been extracted without material adjustment from the consolidated financial statements of Finish Line for

each of the respective years included in Finish Line’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 3 March 2018.

(2)   The revenue recognition policy for Finish Line states that revenue is recognised at the time the customer receives

the merchandise. For digital commerce revenues this includes an estimate of shipments not yet received by the

customer based on shipping terms and delivery times. In accordance with the revenue recognition policy for the

Company, title is deemed to have passed when the goods are dispatched from the warehouse. Consequently, the

estimate of shipments not yet received by the customer has been reversed so as to recognise revenue in the financial

statements of Finish Line when goods are dispatched.

(3)   The Finish Line Winner’s Circle programme is a customer loyalty program that awards a $20 customer incentive for

every $200 in purchases within a 12 month period. The awards are redeemable for 90 days after issuance. In

accordance with US GAAP, Finish Line has elected to account for the program using the incremental cost method

which accrues the estimated costs of providing the discounted merchandise as eligible purchases are made. The

Company does not have a comparable loyalty program therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in

accordance with IFRS, specifically IFRIC 13. IFRIC 13 requires that a proportion of revenue from the initial sale is

deferred and recognised as revenue when the entity has fulfilled its obligations and the reward is redeemed.

(4)   Finish Line capitalises within Intangible Assets the payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly

associated with and devote time to the internal-use software project. The internal labour would not have met the

criteria to be capitalised under the accounting policy of the Company and consequently the amount capitalised in

each financial period by Finish Line has been adjusted to income, net of the reversal of amortisation costs charged

in the period relating to capitalised internal labour.

(5)   (a)   In accordance with US GAAP, Finish Line has elected to account for share based compensation cost on a

straight line basis over the requisite period for the entire award. The Company does not have a comparable

share based compensation award scheme therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in

accordance with IFRS, specifically IFRS 2. IFRS 2 requires that the share based compensation cost is

recognised in accordance with the accelerated method whereby the share based compensation cost is

recognised on a straight line basis over the requisite period for each separately vesting portion of the award.

(b)   Finish Line accounts for the deferred tax benefit on share based compensation in accordance with US GAAP,

whereby the deferred tax asset is calculated based on the cumulative compensation cost recognised over the

vesting period and is trued up or down upon realisation of the tax benefit. If the realised tax benefit exceeds the

deferred tax asset, the excess is credited directly to shareholders’ equity. These increases to shareholders’

equity are accumulated in a pool of excess tax benefits. A shortfall of the realised tax benefit when compared to
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the deferred tax asset is charged to shareholders’ equity until the pool is fully utilised and to tax expense

thereafter.

IFRS estimates the future tax deduction for the award measured at the end of each reporting period under

applicable tax law. If the estimated or actual tax deduction exceeds cumulative compensation cost multiplied by

the tax rate, the deferred tax benefit excess is credited to shareholders’ equity. If the estimated or actual tax

deduction is less than or equal to cumulative compensation cost multiplied by the tax rate, the entire tax benefit

is recorded in the income statement.

(6)   The tax effect of adjustments 1 to 4 has been calculated at the applicable corporation tax rate for each period, being

35.3 per cent. for 2018 and 39 per cent. for 2017 and 2016.
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Unaudited reconciliation of Finish Line consolidated income statement under JD Sports

accounting policies and income statement presentation for the year ended 3 March 2018

                                              Historical                                                                                                             Adjusted      Adjusted
                                           Finish Line                             Reclassifications and US GAAP                         Finish Line   Finish Line
                                           (US GAAP)                                to IFRS (EU) adjustments                                (IFRS EU)    (IFRS EU)
For the year ended                           (1)                (2)                (3)                (4)                (5)                (6)                                    (7)
3 March 2018                               $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            £000
Net sales                              1,838,956             (243)              (45)                 –                   –                   –     1,838,668    1,402,904

Cost of sales                        1,306,859                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –     1,306,859       997,133
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
Gross profit                              532,097             (243)              (45)                 –                   –                   –        531,809       405,771

Selling, general and

administrative expenses      486,484                  –                   –          (2,081)          1,071                  –        485,474       370,416

Impairment charges and

store closing costs                 36,691                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –          36,691         27,995
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––
Operating income                        8,922             (243)              (45)          2,081          (1,071)                 –            9,644           7,360

Interest income, net                          73                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –                 73                56
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––
Income from continuing

operations before

income taxes                           8,995             (243)              (45)          2,081          (1,071)                 –            9,717           7,416

Income tax benefit                       5,719                  –                   –                   –               792             (632)          5,879           4,485
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––
Net income from

continuing operations            14,714             (243)              (45)          2,081             (279)            (632)        15,596          11,901

Net loss from

discontinued operations,

net of tax                                    (304)                 –                   –                   –                   –                   –             (304)            (232)
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––
Net income (loss)

attributable to

Finish Line shareholders:      14,410             (243)              (45)          2,081             (279)            (632)        15,292          11,669

                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
(1)   Finish Line income statement line items are directly extracted without material adjustment from Finish Line

consolidated income statement for the year ended 3 March 2018 as set out within Finish Line’s Form 10-K. The order

of the line items may be different from those in Finish Line consolidated income statement to allow each line to be

matched to the presentational format of JD Sports’ consolidated income statement.

(2)   The revenue recognition policy for Finish Line states that revenue is recognised at the time the customer receives

the merchandise. For digital commerce revenues this includes an estimate of shipments not yet received by the

customer based on shipping terms and delivery times. In accordance with the revenue recognition policy for the

Company, title is deemed to have passed when the goods are dispatched from the warehouse. Consequently, the

estimate of shipments not yet received by the customer has been reversed so as to recognise revenue in the financial

statements of Finish Line when goods are dispatched.

(3)   The Finish Line Winner’s Circle programme is a customer loyalty program that awards a $20 customer incentive for

every $200 in purchases. The awards are redeemable for 90 days after issuance. In accordance with US GAAP,

Finish Line has elected to account for the program using the incremental cost method which accrues the estimated

costs of providing the discounted merchandise as eligible purchases are made. The Company does not have a

comparable loyalty program therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in accordance with IFRS,

specifically IFRIC 13. IFRIC 13 requires that a proportion of revenue from the initial sale is deferred and recognised

as revenue when the entity has fulfilled its obligations and the reward is redeemed.

(4)   Finish Line capitalises within Intangible Assets the payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly

associated with and devote time to the internal-use software project. The internal labour would not have met the

criteria to be capitalised under the accounting policy of the Company and consequently the amount capitalised in

each financial period by Finish Line has been adjusted to income, net of the reversal of amortisation costs charged

in the period relating to capitalised internal labour.

(5)   (a)   In accordance with US GAAP, Finish Line has elected to account for share based compensation cost on a

straight line basis over the requisite period for the entire award. The Company does not have a comparable

share based compensation award scheme therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in

accordance with IFRS, specifically IFRS 2. IFRS 2 requires that the share based compensation cost is

recognised in accordance with the accelerated method whereby the share based compensation cost is

recognised on a straight line basis over the requisite period for each separately vesting portion of the award.

(b)   Finish Line accounts for the deferred tax benefit on share based compensation in accordance with US GAAP,

whereby the deferred tax asset is calculated based on the cumulative compensation cost recognised over the

vesting period and is trued up or down upon realisation of the tax benefit. If the realised tax benefit exceeds the

deferred tax asset, the excess is credited directly to shareholders’ equity. These increases to shareholders’

equity are accumulated in a pool of excess tax benefits. A shortfall of the realised tax benefit when compared to
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the deferred tax asset is charged to shareholders’ equity until the pool is fully utilised and to tax expense

thereafter.

IFRS estimates the future tax deduction for the award measured at the end of each reporting period under

applicable tax law. If the estimated or actual tax deduction exceeds cumulative compensation cost multiplied by

the tax rate, the deferred tax benefit excess is credited to shareholders’ equity. If the estimated or actual tax

deduction is less than or equal to cumulative compensation cost multiplied by the tax rate, the entire tax benefit

is recorded in the income statement.

(6)   The tax effect of adjustments 1 to 4 has been calculated at the applicable corporation tax rate for each period, being

26.1 per cent.

(7)   Finish Line’s presentation currency is USD, while JD Group’s presentation currency is GBP. Thus, Finish Line’s

adjusted income statement was translated using an exchange rate of $1.31:£1 which was the mid market weighted

average for the year ended 3 March 2018.
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Unaudited reconciliation of Finish Line balance sheet as at 3 March 2018, 25 February 2017

and 27 February 2016

                                                                                                  As at                As at                As at
                                                                                             3 March     25 February     27 February
                                                                                                  2018                2017                2016
                                                                                                  $000                $000                $000
Consolidated total equity as reported by

Finish Line (US GAAP)(1)                                                 450,990           451,498           527,644
Adjusted for differences from JD Sports

accounting policies:
Revenue recognition on e-commerce sales(2)                           2,811               3,054               2,972
Loyalty program(3)                                                                    (2,026)             (1,981)             (3,274)
Capitalized software costs(4)                                                  (10,258)           (12,339)           (12,108)
Share based compensation(5):
(a) Accelerated recognition of vesting of share

based compensation                                                          –                      –                      –
(b) Deferred tax asset related to share based

compensation                                                               1,116               1,496               1,408
Tax effect of above adjustments(6)                                            2,468               4,394               4,840
                                                                                                                                                       ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Consolidated total equity of Finish Line under

JD Sports accounting policies (IFRS (EU))                  445,101           446,122           521,482                                                                                                                                                       ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
(1)   The consolidated total equity of Finish Line for the years ended 3 March 2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February

2016 has been extracted without material adjustment from Finish Line’s consolidated financial statements for each

of the respective years included in Finish Line’s Form 10-K for the year ended 3 March 2018.

(2)   The revenue recognition policy for Finish Line states that revenue is recognised at the time the customer receives

the merchandise. For digital commerce revenues this includes an estimate of shipments not yet received by the

customer based on shipping terms and delivery times. In accordance with the revenue recognition policy for the

Company, title is deemed to have passed when the goods are dispatched from the warehouse. Consequently, the

estimate of shipments not yet received by the customer has been reversed so as to recognise revenue in the financial

statements of Finish Line when goods are dispatched.

(3)   The Finish Line Winner’s Circle programme is a customer loyalty program that awards a $20 customer incentive for

every $200 in purchases within a 12 month period. The awards are redeemable for 90 days after issuance. In

accordance with US GAAP, Finish Line has elected to account for the program using the incremental cost method

which accrues the estimated costs of providing the discounted merchandise as eligible purchases are made. The

Company does not have a comparable loyalty program therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in

accordance with IFRS, specifically IFRIC 13. IFRIC 13 requires that a proportion of revenue from the initial sale is

deferred and recognised as revenue when the entity has fulfilled its obligations and the reward is redeemed.

(4)   Finish Line capitalises within Intangible Assets the payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly

associated with and devote time to the internal-use software project. The internal labour would not have met the

criteria to be capitalised under the accounting policy of the Company and consequently the amount capitalised in

each financial period by Finish Line has been adjusted to income, net of the reversal of amortisation costs charged

in the period relating to capitalised internal labour.

(5)   (a)   In accordance with US GAAP, Finish Line has elected to account for share based compensation cost on a

straight line basis over the requisite period for the entire award. The Company does not have a comparable

share based compensation award scheme therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in

accordance with IFRS, specifically IFRS 2. IFRS 2 requires that the share based compensation cost is

recognised in accordance with the accelerated method whereby the share based compensation cost is

recognised on a straight line basis over the requisite period for each separately vesting portion of the award.

(b)   Finish Line accounts for the deferred tax benefit on share based compensation in accordance with US GAAP,

whereby the deferred tax asset is calculated based on the cumulative compensation cost recognised over the

vesting period and is trued up or down upon realisation of the tax benefit. If the realised tax benefit exceeds the

deferred tax asset, the excess is credited directly to shareholders’ equity. These increases to shareholders’

equity are accumulated in a pool of excess tax benefits. A shortfall of the realised tax benefit when compared to

the deferred tax asset is charged to shareholders’ equity until the pool is fully utilised and to tax expense

thereafter.
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IFRS estimates the future tax deduction for the award measured at the end of each reporting period under applicable

tax law. If the estimated or actual tax deduction exceeds cumulative compensation cost multiplied by the tax rate, the

deferred tax benefit excess is credited to shareholders’ equity. If the estimated or actual tax deduction is less than or

equal to cumulative compensation cost multiplied by the tax rate, the entire tax benefit is recorded in the income

statement.

(6)   The tax effect of adjustments 1 to 4 has been calculated at the applicable corporation tax rate for each period, being

26.1 per cent. for 2018 and 39 per cent. for 2017 and 2016.
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Unaudited reconciliation of Finish Line consolidated balance sheet under JD Sports

Fashion Plc accounting policies and balance sheet presentation at 3 March 2018

                                              Historical                                                                                                             Adjusted      Adjusted
                                           Finish Line                             Reclassifications and US GAAP                         Finish Line   Finish Line
                                           (US GAAP)                                to IFRS (EU) adjustments                                (IFRS EU)    (IFRS EU)
As at                                                  (1)                (2)                (3)                (4)                (5)                (6)                                     (7)
3 March 2018                               $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            £000
ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents       93,385                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –          93,385         67,704

Accounts receivable, net           16,530                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –          16,530          11,984

Merchandise inventories,

net                                        321,742                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        321,742       233,263

Income taxes receivable             2,439                  –                   –                   –                   –            2,468           4,907           3,557

Other current assets                  28,042                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –          28,042         20,330
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
Total current assets                 462,138                  –                   –                   –                   –            2,468       464,606       336,838

Property and equipment:

Land                                            1,557                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –            1,557           1,129

Building                                     44,637                  –                   –                   –                   –                  –          44,637         32,362

Leasehold improvements        184,771                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        184,771       133,959

Furniture, fixtures and

equipment                            139,579                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        139,579       101,195

Construction in progress             3,749                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –            3,749           2,718
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
                                                374,293                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        374,293       271,363

Less accumulated

depreciation                         235,731                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        235,731       170,905
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
Total property and

equipment, net                     138,562                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        138,562       100,458

Intangible assets                       68,884                  –                   –        (10,258)                 –                   –          58,626         42,504

Other assets, net                         5,448                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –            5,448           3,950
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
Total assets                             675,032                  –                   –        (10,258)                 –            2,468       667,242       483,750

                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
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                                              Historical                                                                                                             Adjusted      Adjusted
                                           Finish Line                             Reclassifications and US GAAP                         Finish Line   Finish Line
                                           (US GAAP)                                to IFRS (EU) adjustments                                 (IFRS EU)    (IFRS EU)
As at                                                  (1)                (2)                (3)                (4)                (5)                (6)                                     (7)
3 March 2018                               $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            $000            £000
LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable                    122,590                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        122,590         88,878

Employee compensation           12,085                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –          12,085           8,762

Accrued property and

sales tax                                10,087                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –          10,087           7,313

Other liabilities and

accrued expenses                 25,809           (2,811)          2,026                  –                   –                   –          25,024         18,142
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––

Total current liabilities              170,571           (2,811)          2,026                  –                   –                   –        169,786       123,095

Deferred credits from

landlords                                34,629                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –          34,629         25,106

Deferred income taxes              11,813                  –                   –                   –           (1,116)                 –          10,697           7,755

Other long-term liabilities            7,029                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –            7,029           5,096

Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $.01

par value; 1,000

shares authorised;

none issued                                   –                   –                   –                   –                   –                   –                   –                   –

Common stock, $.01 par

value; 110,000 shares

authorised; 60,145

shares issued                                –                   –                   –                   –                   –                   –                   –                   –

Shares outstanding –

(2018 – 40,370)                          601                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –               601              436

Additional paid-in capital         249,195                  –                   –                   –                   –                   –        249,195       180,666

Retained earnings                   600,368            2,811          (2,026)       (10,258)           1,116           2,468       594,479       430,997

Treasury stock, shares

held – (2018 – 19,388)       (399,174)                 –                   –                   –                   –                   –      (399,174)     (289,401)
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
Total shareholders’ equity       450,990            2,811          (2,026)       (10,258)           1,116           2,468       445,101       322,698
                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
Total liabilities and

shareholders’ equity             675,032                  –                   –        (10,258)                 –            2,468       667,242       483,750

                                             ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––      –––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––    ––––––––
(1)   Finish Line’s balance sheet line items are directly extracted without material adjustment from Finish Line’s balance

sheet for the year ended 3 March 2018 as set out within Finish Line’s Form 10-K. The order of the line items may be

different from those in Finish Line’s balance sheet to allow each line to be matched to the presentational format of

JD Group’s consolidated balance sheet.

(2)   The revenue recognition policy for Finish Line states that revenue is recognised at the time the customer receives

the merchandise. For digital commerce revenues this includes an estimate of shipments not yet received by the

customer based on shipping terms and delivery times. In accordance with the revenue recognition policy for the

Company, title is deemed to have passed when the goods are dispatched from the warehouse. Consequently, the

estimate of shipments not yet received by the customer has been reversed so as to recognise revenue in the financial

statements of Finish Line when goods are dispatched.

(3)   The Finish Line Winner’s Circle programme is a customer loyalty program that awards a $20 customer incentive for

every $200 in purchases. The awards are redeemable for 90 days after issuance. In accordance with US GAAP,

Finish Line has elected to account for the program using the incremental cost method which accrues the estimated

costs of providing the discounted merchandise as eligible purchases are made. The Company does not have a

comparable loyalty program therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in accordance with IFRS,

specifically IFRIC 13. IFRIC 13 requires that a proportion of revenue from the initial sale is deferred and recognised

as revenue when the entity has fulfilled its obligations and the reward is redeemed.

(4)   Finish Line capitalises within Intangible Assets the payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly

associated with and devote time to the internal-use software project. The internal labour would not have met the

criteria to be capitalised under the accounting policy of the Company and consequently the amount capitalised in

each financial period by Finish Line has been adjusted to income, net of the reversal of amortisation costs charged

in the period relating to capitalised internal labour.

(5)   (a)   In accordance with US GAAP, Finish Line has elected to account for share based compensation cost on a

straight line basis over the requisite period for the entire award. The Company does not have a comparable

share based compensation award scheme therefore the adjustment reflects the accounting treatment in

accordance with IFRS, specifically IFRS 2. IFRS 2 requires that the share based compensation cost is
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recognised in accordance with the accelerated method whereby the share based compensation cost is

recognised on a straight line basis over the requisite period for each separately vesting portion of the award.

(b)   Finish Line accounts for the deferred tax benefit on share based compensation in accordance with US GAAP,

whereby the deferred tax asset is calculated based on the cumulative compensation cost recognised over the

vesting period and is trued up or down upon realisation of the tax benefit. If the realised tax benefit exceeds the

deferred tax asset, the excess is credited directly to shareholders’ equity. These increases to shareholders’

equity are accumulated in a pool of excess tax benefits. A shortfall of the realised tax benefit when compared to

the deferred tax asset is charged to shareholders’ equity until the pool is fully utilised and to tax expense

thereafter.

IFRS estimates the future tax deduction for the award measured at the end of each reporting period under

applicable tax law. If the estimated or actual tax deduction exceeds cumulative compensation cost multiplied by

the tax rate, the deferred tax benefit excess is credited to shareholders’ equity. If the estimated or actual tax

deduction is less than or equal to cumulative compensation cost multiplied by the tax rate, the entire tax benefit

is recorded in the income statement.

(6)   The tax effect of adjustments 1 to 4 has been calculated at the applicable corporation tax rate for each period, being

26.1 per cent.

(7)   Finish Line’s presentation currency is USD, while JD Group’s presentation currency is GBP. Thus, Finish Line’s

adjusted balance sheet was translated using an exchange rate of £1:$1.38, which was the spot rate at 3 March 2018.
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Accountant’s report on reconciliation of financial information

The Directors
JD Sports Fashion Plc
Hollinsbrook Way
Pilsworth
Bury
BL9 8RR

30 May 2018

Dear Sirs

JD Sports Fashion Plc proposed acquisition of Finish Line

We report on the reconciliation of net income/loss in the consolidated income statement for each
of the years in the three year period ended 3 March 2018, and of total equity in the consolidated
balance sheet as at 3 March 2018, 25 February 2017 and 27 February 2016, (together ‘the
financial information’), as previously reported in the financial statements of Finish Line prepared
under United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, showing the adjustments
necessary to restate it on the basis of the accounting policies used by JD Sports Fashion Plc in
preparing its latest annual accounts (the ‘reconciliation’), set out in Part IV of the Class 1 circular
of the Company dated 30 May 2018. This report is required by Listing Rule 13.5.27R (2) (a) of the
Financial Conduct Authority and is given for the purpose of complying with that Listing Rule and
for no other purpose.

Responsibility

It is the responsibility of the directors of JD Sports Fashion Plc (‘the Directors’) to prepare the
reconciliation in accordance with Listing Rule 13.5.27R(2)(a) of the Financial Conduct Authority.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by Listing Rule 13.5.27R (2) (a), as to
whether:

(1)     the reconciliation has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and

(2)     the adjustments are appropriate for the purpose of presenting the financial information (as
adjusted) on a basis consistent in all material respects with JD Sports Fashion Plc’s
accounting policies, and to report that opinion to you.

The reconciliation is based on the audited balance sheets as at 27 February 2016, 25 February
2017 and 3 March 2018 and income statements for each of the years then ended of Finish Line
which were the responsibility of the directors of Finish Line and were audited by another firm of
accountants. We do not accept any responsibility for any of the historical financial statements of
Finish Line, nor do we express any opinion on those financial statements.

Save for any responsibility which we may have to those persons to whom this report is expressly
addressed and which we may have to Ordinary shareholders as a result of the inclusion of this
report in the Class 1 circular, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any
responsibility and will not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such
other person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement,
required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Listing Rule 13.4.1R(6),
consenting to its inclusion in the Class 1 circular.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of
making this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial
information, consisted primarily of checking whether the unadjusted financial information of Finish
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Line has been accurately extracted from an appropriate source, assessing whether all adjustments
necessary for the purpose of presenting the financial information on a basis consistent in all
material respects with the Company’s accounting policies have been made, examination of
evidence supporting the adjustments in the reconciliation and checking the arithmetical accuracy
of the calculations within the reconciliation.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we
considered necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the reconciliation has
been properly compiled on the basis stated and that the adjustments are appropriate for the
purpose of presenting the financial information (as adjusted) on a basis consistent in all material
respects with the Company’s accounting policies.

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices
generally accepted in the United States of America and accordingly should not be relied upon as
if it had been carried out in accordance with those standards and practices.

Opinion

In our opinion

(1)     the reconciliation has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and

(2)     the adjustments are appropriate for the purpose of presenting the financial information
(as adjusted) on a basis consistent in all material respects with JD Sports Fashion Plc
accounting policies.

Yours faithfully

KPMG LLP

72



PART V

FINISH LINE FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS

1.       Background

Finish Line does not, as a matter of course, publicly disclose forecasts or internal projections as to
future performance, earnings or other results due to, among other reasons, the uncertainty of the
underlying assumptions and estimates. Finish Line was, however, required to include in the Proxy
Statement certain non-public unaudited prospective financial information that was prepared by
Finish Line management and provided to the Finish Line Board in connection with its evaluation of
the Acquisition and which was provided to and used by the financial advisers to the special
committee of the Finish Line Board for the purposes of their financial advice to the Finish Line
Board in relation to the Acquisition. This non-public unaudited prospective financial information
was prepared as part of Finish Line’s overall process of analysing various strategic initiatives and
was not prepared with a view toward, public disclosure or with a view to complying with the
guidelines established by the American Institute of certified Public Accountants for preparation and
presentation of prospective financial information, published guidelines of the SEC regarding
forward-looking statements, or GAAP. Finish Line has stated that the inclusion of such information
in its Proxy Statement should not be regarded as an indication that Finish Line, its board of
directors or Finish Line’s financial advisers considered, or now considers, these projections and
forecasts to be a reliable predictor of future results.

The unaudited prospective financial information with respect to Finish Line for each of the financial
years ending February 2019 up to and including the financial year ending February 2021, to the
extent that such projections may be considered to be profit forecasts for the purposes of the Listing
Rules, has been extracted from the Proxy Statement and is set out in the table below (together
with the relevant notes, to the extent that such notes relate to such projections) (Proxy

Projections).

Fiscal Year Ending February,
                                                                                                  2019                2020                2021
                                                                                                  $000                $000                $000
Income Statement Data(1)

Net Sales                                                                           1,814,400        1,841,700        1,860,100 
Gross Profit                                                                           523,700           533,300           542,200 
EBITDA                                                                                   89,100             92,700             96,400 
EBIT                                                                                        41,100             44,300             48,300 
Diluted EPS                                                                              $0.71               $0.81               $0.93 
Select Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Data

Capital Expenditures                                                               35,000             34,000             33,000
Change in Net Working Capital                                                       –               5,000               5,000 

(1)   Adjusted to exclude impairment charges, store closing costs and the revaluation of deferred tax liability resulting from

the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

2.       Proxy Projections are no longer valid and JD Sports Shareholders should not rely on

Proxy Projections when deciding how to vote

The JD Sports Directors consider that the Proxy Projections are no longer valid for the following
reasons:

2.1     The Proxy Projections were not provided to JD Sports prior to signing the Acquisition
Agreement and do not reflect the JD Sports Directors’ view of the expected financial
performance of Finish Line under JD Sports’ ownership. JD Sports expects the actual results
of Finish Line for each of the financial years ending February 2019 up to and including the
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financial year ending February 2021 to differ from the respective year within the Proxy
Projections and believes that the Proxy Projections will cease to be valid under JD Sports’
ownership.

2.2     As referred to in paragraph 1 (Background) of this Part V (Finish Line Financial Projections),
Finish Line does not as a matter of course publicly disclose forecasts or internal projections
as to future performance, earnings or other results due to, among other reasons, the
uncertainty of the underlying assumptions and estimates. Accordingly, the Proxy Projections
were not prepared by Finish Line in order to be externally disclosed due to the uncertainty
of the underlying assumptions and estimates.

2.3     The Proxy Projections were not prepared by Finish Line with a view toward public disclosure,
nor, as stated by Finish Line, were they prepared with a view toward complying with the
guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for
preparation and presentation of prospective financial information, published guidelines of the
SEC regarding forward-looking statements or with accounting principles generally accepted
in the US. No independent registered public accounting firm, not any other independent
accountants, have compiled, examined or performed any procedures with respect to the
Proxy Projections, nor have they expressed any opinion or any other form of assurance on
such information or its achievability.

2.4     JD Sports did not receive the Proxy Projections during its due diligence of Finish Line and
the JD Sports Directors have relied on their own investigations, views and assessment of
Finish Line’s results of operations, financial and operating condition and future prospects in
considering and evaluating the Acquisition and determining the price of the Acquisition.

2.5     The Proxy Projections reflect numerous estimates and assumptions of Finish Line’s
management made at the time they were prepared, and assume execution of various
strategic initiatives that are no longer being pursued in light of the Acquisition.

2.6     None of JD Sports, the JD Sports Directors or their respective advisers accept responsibility
for the accuracy, reasonableness, validity or completeness of the Proxy Projections or the
estimates and assumptions that underlie them.

2.7     The JD Sports Directors do not consider the Proxy Projections to represent information
necessary for JD Sports Shareholders to make an informed decision as to how to vote at the
General Meeting as, given the reasons set out above, it would not be possible to accurately
predict future performance of Finish Line within the Enlarged Group. The JD Sports

Directors therefore consider that the Proxy Projections are no longer valid in the

context of the Acquisition. Consequently, the JD Sports Directors believe that the

reassessment of these projections for the purposes of the Listing Rules is not

necessary. JD Sports Shareholders should not rely upon the Proxy Projections in

deciding whether or not to approve the Acquisition.

74



                                                   PART VI                                                   

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS FOR THE ENLARGED GROUP

SECTION A: UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following unaudited pro forma statement of net assets and the related notes set out in this
Section A of this Part VI (Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information) have been prepared to
illustrate the effect of the Acquisition on the consolidated net assets of JD Sports as at 3 February
2018, as if the Acquisition had taken place on that date.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with
item 13.3.3R of the Listing Rules and on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
by the Company in relation to its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3 February
2018.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only
and, in accordance with Annex II of the Prospectus Directive Regulation, should be read in
conjunction with the notes set out below. Due to its nature, the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Enlarged
Group’s actual financial position or results.

For the purpose of the preparation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information, JD Sports
has attributed the excess of the purchase price paid over the book value of Finish Line’s net assets
entirely to goodwill. On apportionment of the purchase price, fair values ascribed to intangible
assets, plant & equipment, inventory and any other assets acquired or liabilities assumed, may
result in material changes to the goodwill and the net asset position as recorded in this Unaudited
Pro Forma Financial Information.
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                                                                  JD Sports       Finish Line                                                 
                                                                          as at                 as at                                 Pro forma
                                                                 3 February           3 March       Acquisition          Enlarged
                                                                          2018                2018       adjustment              Group
                                                                             £m                   £m                   £m                   £m
                                                                       Note 1              Note 2              Note 3
Assets

Intangible assets                                               211.0                 42.5                 75.2               328.7
Property, plant and equipment                         376.9               100.4                      –               477.3
Other assets                                                       66.5                   3.9                      –                 70.4
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total non-current assets                                654.4               146.8                 75.2               876.4
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Inventories                                                        478.0               233.3                      –                711.3
Trade and other receivables                             146.3                 35.8                      –               182.1
Cash and cash equivalents                              347.5                 67.7                (11.0)              404.2
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total current assets                                        971.8               336.8                (11.0)           1,297.6
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total assets                                                  1,626.2               483.6                 64.2            2,174.0                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings              (26.8)                     –              (397.7)             (424.5)
Trade and other payables                               (623.2)             (123.1)                     –              (746.3)
Provisions                                                            (2.1)                     –                      –                  (2.1)
Income tax liabilities                                          (30.2)                     –                      –                (30.2)
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total current liabilities                                  (682.3)             (123.1)             (397.7)          (1,203.1)
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings              (11.0)                     –                      –                (11.0)
Other payables                                                  (91.5)               (30.2)                     –              (121.7)
Provisions                                                            (1.8)                     –                      –                  (1.8)
Deferred tax liabilities                                          (5.3)                 (7.8)                     –                (13.1)
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total non-current liabilities                          (109.6)               (38.0)                     –              (147.6)
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total liabilities                                                (791.9)             (161.1)             (397.7)          (1,350.7)                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total assets less total liabilities                    834.3               322.5              (333.5)              823.3                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Notes:

1.    JD Sports’ financial information as at 3 February 2018 has been extracted, without material adjustment, from the JD

Sports published financial information for the year ended 3 February 2018.
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2.    Finish Line’s net assets are based on the consolidated balance sheet of Finish Line at 3 March 2018 and have been

extracted, without material adjustment, from the Finish Line published financial information for the year ended

3 March 2018, as adjusted to JD Sports’ accounting policies and presentation. A reconciliation of Finish Line’s

consolidated balance sheet to JD Sports’ accounting policies and presentation is presented below:

                                                                                                                                         Finish Line
                                                                                                                                    balance sheet
                                                                                                                                    as at 3 March
                                                                                                                                                  2018
                                                                                                                                under JD Sports’
                                                                             Finish Line                                      balance sheet             Translated
                                                                                      as at                      IFRS   presentation and       into JD Sports
                                                                                 3 March   Adjustments and              after IFRS                reporting
                                                                                      2018   Reclassifications          Adjustments                currency
                                                                                         $m                         $m                         $m                         £m
                                                                                   (note a)                  (note b)                                                (note c)
Assets

Intangible assets                                                             68.9                      (10.3)                      58.6                       42.5

Property, plant and equipment                                      138.6                            –                     138.6                     100.4

Other assets                                                                     5.4                            –                         5.4                         3.9
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total non-current assets                                            212.9                      (10.3)                    202.6                     146.8
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Inventories                                                                    321.7                            –                     321.7                     233.3

Trade and other receivables                                           47.0                         2.5                       49.5                       35.8

Cash and cash equivalents                                            93.4                            –                       93.4                       67.7
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total current assets                                                    462.1                         2.5                     464.6                     336.8
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total assets                                                                 675.0                        (7.8)                    667.2                     483.6

                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings                                –                            –                            –                            –

Trade and other payables                                            (170.6)                        0.8                    (169.8)                   (123.1)

Provisions                                                                            –                            –                            –                            –

Income tax liabilities                                                             –                            –                            –                            –
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total current liabilities                                              (170.6)                        0.8                    (169.8)                   (123.1)
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings                                –                            –                            –                            –

Other payables                                                              (41.6)                           –                      (41.6)                     (30.2)

Provisions                                                                            –                            –                            –                            –

Deferred tax liabilities                                                    (11.8)                        1.1                      (10.7)                       (7.8)
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total non-current liabilities                                         (53.4)                        1.1                      (52.3)                     (38.0)
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total liabilities                                                            (224.0)                        1.9                    (222.1)                   (161.1)

                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total assets less total liabilities                                451.0                        (5.9)                    445.1                     322.5

                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Capital and reserves

Issued ordinary share capital                                            0.6                            –                         0.6                         0.4

Share premium                                                             249.2                            –                     249.2                     180.6

Retained earnings                                                         600.4                        (5.9)                    594.5                     430.8

Other reserves                                                             (399.2)                           –                    (399.2)                   (289.3)
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total equity attributable to equity

holders of the parent                                              451.0                        (5.9)                    445.1                     322.5
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Non-controlling interest                                                        –                            –                            –                            –
                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
Total equity                                                                  451.0                        (5.9)                    445.1                     322.5

                                                                              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––              ––––––––
(a)   Finish Line’s balance sheet line items are directly extracted without adjustment from the Finish Line consolidated

balance sheet at 3 March 2018.

(b)   Certain IFRS adjustments and reclassifications were made to reflect the difference in accounting policy and

presentation under JD Sports’ IFRS accounting policies, as opposed to U.S. GAAP. These adjustments have

been set out in Part IV “Unaudited Reconciliation of financial information on Finish Line to IFRS as applied by

JD Sports” and are consistent with the adjustments contained within Part IV ‘Unaudited reconciliation of financial

information on Finish Line to IFRS as applied by JD Sports.

77



(c)   The Finish Line financial information has been converted from $ to £ using the closing exchange rate of $1.38

to £1 at 3 March 2018.

3.    The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared on the basis that the Group will apply acquisition

accounting. The unaudited pro forma statement of net assets does not reflect the fair value adjustments to the

acquired assets and liabilities as the purchase price allocation exercise will not be finalised until after Completion.

Upon completion of the purchase price allocation exercise, JD Sports expects that the fair value adjustments will be

recognised in respect of certain assets and liabilities. For the purposes of the unaudited pro forma statement of net

assets, the excess purchase consideration over the carrying amount of the net liabilities acquired has been attributed

to the line item goodwill. The fair value adjustments, when finalised following Completion, may be material. The

pro forma goodwill arising has been calculated as follows:

                                                                                                                                                                                   £m
                                                                                                                                                                             (note a)
Consideration for shares (41,300,000 shares at $13.50 each)                                                                              397.7

Less: Finish Line net assets acquired                                                                                                                   (322.5)
                                                                                                                                                                          –––––––
Proforma goodwill                                                                                                                                                     75.2
                                                                                                                                                                          –––––––

(a)   Under the terms of the Acquisition, Finish Line shareholders will receive $13.50 per Finish Line Share in cash.

The final number of shares to be used for calculating the consideration will be determined at Completion. The

Acquisition is to be funded as follows:

•      $150 million of funding will be provided via a new asset based lending facility of $315 million, underwritten

by PNC Capital Markets LLC. This has been translated from $ to £ using the closing exchange rate of $1.38

to £1 at 3 March 2018 (£108.7 million), and

•      the Acquisition cost balance of $407.6 million will be drawn down against the New RCF with the dollar cost

of acquisition hedged at $1.41:£1 (£289.0 million).

(b)   The cash outflow of £11.0 million comprises:

•      The cost to Finish Line of settling the liabilities of a number of management incentive schemes which will

crystallise as a result of the Acquisition. The cost to Finish Line of settling the schemes is $1.4 million. This

has been converted from $ to £ using the closing exchange rate of $1.38 to £1 at 3 March 2018 (£1.0

million), and

•      Transaction costs are anticipated to total £3.8 million for the account of the Company and $8.6 million for

the account of Finish Line. This has been converted from $ to £ using the closing exchange rate of $1.38 to

£1 at 3 March 2018 (£6.2 million).

4.    No adjustment has been made to reflect the trading results of JD Sports since 3 February 2018 or to reflect the

trading results of Finish Line since 3 March 2018.
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SECTION B: ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Directors
JD Sports Fashion plc
Edinburgh House
Hollinsbrook Way
Pilsworth
Bury
BL9 8RR

30 May 2018

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen

JD Sports Fashion Plc

We report on the pro forma financial information (the ‘Pro forma financial information’) set out in
Part VI of the Class 1 circular dated 30 May 2018, which has been prepared on the basis described
in notes 1-4, for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about how the acquisition of
Finish Line might have affected the financial information presented on the basis of the accounting
policies adopted by JD Sports Fashion Plc in preparing the financial statements for the period
ended 3 February 2018. This report is required by paragraph 13.3.3R of the Listing Rules of the
Financial Conduct Authority and is given for the purpose of complying with that paragraph and for
no other purpose.

Responsibilities

It is the responsibility of the directors of JD Sports Fashion Plc to prepare the Pro forma financial
information in accordance with paragraph 13.3.3R of the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by paragraph 7 of Annex II of the Prospectus
Directive Regulation, as to the proper compilation of the Pro forma financial information and to
report that opinion to you.

Save for any responsibility which we may have to those persons to whom this report is expressly
addressed and which we may have to Ordinary shareholders as a result of the inclusion of this
report in the Class 1 circular, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any
responsibility and will not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such
other person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement,
required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Listing Rule 13.4.1R(6),
consenting to its inclusion in the Class 1 circular.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of
making this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial
information, consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source
documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Pro forma
financial information with the directors of JD Sports Fashion Plc.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we
considered necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro forma
financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is
consistent with the accounting policies of JD Sports Fashion Plc.
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Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices
generally accepted in the United States of America and accordingly should not be relied upon as
if it had been carried out in accordance with those standards and practices.

Opinion

In our opinion:

•         the Pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and

•         such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of JD Sports Fashion Plc.

Yours faithfully

KPMG LLP
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PART VII

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE ACQUISITION AGREEMENT

AND OTHER KEY RELATED DOCUMENTATION

1.       Introduction

On 25 March 2018, the Company, Genesis Merger Sub, Inc. an Indiana corporation and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (Merger Sub), and Finish Line entered into the
Acquisition Agreement pursuant to which the Company will, on the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in the Acquisition Agreement, acquire Finish Line by means of a merger of
Merger Sub with and into Finish Line, with Finish Line surviving such merger as an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Concurrently with the execution and delivery of the Acquisition Agreement, Pentland Group plc has
executed and delivered an irrevocable undertaking as described more fully in Part I of this Circular,
and the members of the Finish Line Board and Finish Line’s executive officers have executed and
delivered to the Company a voting and support agreement, pursuant to which they have agreed,
among other things, to vote all of their Finish Line Shares in favour of the approval of the
Acquisition at a special meeting of the holders of the Finish Line Shares (Finish Line Shareholder

Meeting).

The following is a summary of certain principal terms of the Acquisition Agreement. This summary
is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the Acquisition
Agreement, which is available for inspection as described in paragraph 12 of Part VIII of this
Circular. The Company urges all Shareholders to read carefully the Acquisition Agreement in its
entirety because this summary may not contain all information about the Acquisition Agreement
that is important to a Shareholder.

2.       Consideration

2.1     At the effective time of the Acquisition (Effective Time), on the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in the Acquisition Agreement, all issued Finish Line Shares that are
outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than any Finish Line Shares
held in treasury by Finish Line, owned by a subsidiary of Finish Line or owned by the
Company, Merger Sub or any other subsidiary of the Company, which Finish Line Shares will
be automatically cancelled and retired without consideration) will automatically be cancelled
and converted into the right to receive $13.50 in cash (without interest and less any
applicable withholding taxes) (Merger Consideration).

2.2     Equity awards of Finish Line outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time will be
subject to the following treatment:

(A)     each option to purchase Finish Line Shares issued pursuant to Finish Line’s equity
award plans that is outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (whether
vested or unvested) will be cancelled or terminated and the Company, or at the
Company’s election, Finish Line will pay to the holder of such option an amount in
cash (without interest) equal to the product of (i) the number of Finish Line Shares
underlying such option multiplied by (ii) the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration
over the exercise price per Finish Line Share underlying such option (net of
withholding taxes and rounded down to the nearest whole cent). All options per Finish
Line Share with an exercise price equal to or greater than the Merger Consideration
will be cancelled or terminated at the Effective Time with no consideration paid in
respect of such options; and
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(B)     each unvested restricted Finish Line Share issued pursuant to Finish Line’s equity
award plans that is outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time will vest
and the Finish Line Shares represented thereby (net of any common stock or
corresponding cash withheld to cover applicable withholding taxes) will be converted
into the right to receive the Merger Consideration.

2.3     The Merger Consideration is subject to equitable adjustment in the event of any change in
the number of outstanding Finish Line Shares by reason of reclassification, recapitalisation,
share split or combination, split-up, exchange or readjustment, share dividend or issuance
of Finish Line Shares or shares of preferred stock of Finish Line upon exercise of rights
under the rights agreement between Finish Line and Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions,
Inc., dated 28 August 2017 (Rights Agreement).

3.       Conditions to Completion

Under the Acquisition Agreement, completion of the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of certain customary closing conditions, including:

3.1     in the case of the obligations of Finish Line and the Company to consummate the
Acquisition:

(A)     the Finish Line Shareholder Approval;

(B)     adoption of the Resolution at the General Meeting or any adjournment thereof, since
the Acquisition constitutes a Class 1 transaction for the purposes of the Listing Rules;
and

(C)     expiration or early termination of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (which occurred on 16 April 2018);

3.2     in the case of the Company’s obligations to consummate the Acquisition:

(A)     absence of a material adverse effect regarding Finish Line since the signing of the
Acquisition Agreement;

(B)     absence of any action by an applicable government agency challenging the
Acquisition Agreement or the consummation of the Acquisition, or seeking to compel
Finish Line, the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries to divest themselves,
or dispose of, or restrict the operation of, their assets or businesses or the exercise of
voting rights; and

(C)     absence of any law, action, order or other legal restraint or prohibition with respect to
the Acquisition that effectively prohibits, renders illegal or enjoins the consummation
of the Acquisition; and

3.3     in the case of each party’s obligation to consummate the Acquisition:

(A)     the continuing accuracy of the respective other party’s representations and warranties
contained in the Acquisition Agreement (subject to certain materiality standards); and

(B)     the other party’s compliance with its covenants and agreements contained in the
Acquisition Agreement in all material respects.

The Company’s and Merger Sub’s respective obligations to consummate the Acquisition are not
subject to any financing condition.

4.       Representations, warranties and covenants

The Acquisition Agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties that Finish
Line, on the one hand, and the Company and Merger Sub, on the other hand, made to and solely
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for the benefit of the other. These representations and warranties were made as of specific dates
and are, in some cases, subject to important qualifications, limitations and supplemental
information agreed to by Finish Line and the Company in connection with negotiating the terms of
the Acquisition Agreement or the related disclosure letters. The representations and warranties
under the Acquisition Agreement do not survive Completion. Information concerning the subject
matter of such representations and warranties may change after the dates specified in the
Acquisition Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be publicly disclosed by
Finish Line or the Company. In addition, the representations and warranties may have been
included in the Acquisition Agreement for the purpose of allocating risk between Finish Line and
the Company or establishing the circumstances in which a party is not obligated to complete the
Acquisition if the representations and warranties of the other party prove to be inaccurate due to a
change in circumstance or otherwise, rather than to establish matters as facts. Moreover, the
representations and warranties may also be subject to a contractual standard of materiality
different from those generally applicable to shareholders. Accordingly, Shareholders should not
rely on the representations and warranties in the Acquisition Agreement as disclosures or
characterisations of the actual state of facts or circumstances regarding Finish Line or the
Company.

Finish Line has also agreed to covenants regarding the conduct of its business prior to the
completion of the Acquisition. Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, Finish Line is
permitted to pay the ordinary quarterly dividend of to $0.115 per Finish Line Share declared on
19 April 2018.

Each of Finish Line and the Company have agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to
consummate the Acquisition in the most expeditious manner practicable. Each of Finish Line and
the Company are subject to covenants to call and hold the Finish Line Shareholder Meeting or the
General Meeting, respectively, for the purpose of obtaining the Finish Line Shareholder Approval
or the passing of the Resolution, respectively.

5.       “No shop” provision

The Acquisition Agreement contains a “no shop” obligation, pursuant to which (subject to certain
exceptions with respect to a Superior Proposal, as defined below) Finish Line is required to, and
is required to cause its subsidiaries, directors, officers, employees and other representatives to,
among other customary restrictions, (i) cease any discussions or negotiations with respect to any
Alternative Transaction Proposal (as defined below) or any proposal that would reasonably be
expected to lead to an Alternative Transaction Proposal, (ii) not solicit, initiate, propose, knowingly
facilitate, induce or encourage any inquiries or proposals or offers that constitute, or would
reasonably be expected to lead to, an Alternative Transaction Proposal, (iii) not enter into, continue
or otherwise participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any person any
non-public information with respect to, or co-operate in any way that would otherwise reasonably
be expected to lead to, any Alternative Transaction Proposal, (iv) not withdraw, change or qualify
its recommendation to the holders of Finish Line Shares to approve the Acquisition Agreement and
(v) not recommend the approval of any Alternative Transaction Proposal.

Moreover, Finish Line is required to enforce, and not waive or amend, the Rights Agreement (also
known as “poison pill”) and any applicable anti-takeover law (including Indiana “control share” and
“business combination” statutes) to anyone other than the Company and Merger Sub, subject to
the provisions on Superior Proposals, and enforce confidentiality or standstill agreements (or any
similar agreements) to which Finish Line or any of its subsidiaries is a party relating to any such
Alternative Transaction Proposal or proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to an
Alternative Transaction Proposal.

If, however, before the Finish Line Shareholder Approval has been obtained, a third party makes
a bona fide written acquisition proposal that did not result from a breach of the “no shop” obligation
and that the Finish Line Board, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and an independent
financial advisor, determines to be, or to be reasonably expected to lead to, a Superior Proposal
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(as defined below), the Company is permitted, after having entered into a confidentiality agreement
with such third party, to provide non-public information to, and negotiate with, such third party.
However, Finish Line must promptly notify the Company, provide information on such Superior
Proposal (including with respect to the material terms thereof, and the identity of the third party)
and provide to Company the same non-public information that Finish Line provides to the third
party making the Superior Proposal.

If the Finish Line Board, before the Finish Line Shareholder Approval has been obtained,
determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and an independent
financial advisor, that the failure to change its recommendation to the holders of Finish Line Shares
to approve the Acquisition Agreement or to terminate the Acquisition Agreement in order to enter
into an agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal that did not result from a breach of the “no
shop” obligation, would be a breach of its fiduciary duties under applicable law, it must notify the
Company of its intention to change its recommendation with respect to, or to terminate, the
Acquisition Agreement. Within three business days, the Company has the right to match or
otherwise to amend the terms it previously offered and Finish Line must negotiate the revised
terms with the Company in good faith. If, on the basis of the amended terms offered by the
Company, the third party’s acquisition proposal is no longer a Superior Proposal, Finish Line must
sign an amendment agreement with the Company. In the event that the third party thereupon
improves its offer, the Company has again a match right (within two business days). The number
of the Company’s match rights is not limited. If, however, the Company chooses not to exercise its
match right, the Finish Line Board may change its recommendation to the holders of the Finish
Line Shares to approve the Acquisition Agreement, or, after having paid a $28 million break fee to
the Company, to terminate the Acquisition Agreement in order to enter into an agreement with
respect to such Superior Proposal.

Alternative Transaction Proposal is defined in the Acquisition Agreement as an offer, inquiry,
proposal or indication of interest relating to (i) a merger, consolidation, share exchange, tender
offer, business combination, reorganisation, recapitalisation, liquidation, dissolution or other similar
transaction involving Finish Line which would result in a third party or a group of persons owning,
directly or indirectly, 15 per cent of more of the aggregate voting power of Finish Line or any of its
subsidiaries or the surviving entity, as applicable, (ii) a direct or indirect acquisition, licence or
purchase by a third party or a group of persons of assets or properties that constitute 15 per cent
or more of the fair market value of the assets or properties of Finish Line and its subsidiaries, taken
as a whole, or to which 15 per cent or more of the consolidated revenue or net income of Finish
Line are attributable, (iii) a direct or indirect acquisition by a third party or group of persons of 15
per cent of more of the aggregate voting power of Finish Line or any of its subsidiaries, (iv) any
other transaction resulting in any third party or group of persons obtaining the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management or policies of Finish Line or its subsidiaries (whether by
acquisition of voting rights, contract or otherwise) or (v) any transaction with similar effects.

Superior Proposal is defined in the Acquisition Agreement as a bona fide written Alternative
Transaction Proposal (with the references therein to “15 per cent of more” being replaced generally
by “85 per cent or more”, and the reference to the “15 per cent or more” of assets in
clause (ii) thereof being replaced by “the majority of assets”) which the Finish Line Board
determines in good faith (after consultation with its outside legal counsel and an independent
financial advisor), taking into account, to the extent the Finish Line Board deems relevant, all legal,
financial, regulatory, financing, conditionality, timing and other aspects of such Alternative
Transaction Proposal and the Acquisition Agreement (including any revisions of the terms of the
Acquisition Agreement proposed by the Company in response to such Alternative Transaction
Proposal or otherwise), to be more favourable to the holders of Finish Line Shares (compared to
the Acquisition) from a financial point of view and taking into account the likelihood and timing of
consummation in accordance with its terms.
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6.       Intervening events

If, subject to certain customary exceptions, a materially beneficial (measured on a long-term basis)
fact, event, change or development in circumstances arises after the execution and delivery of the
Acquisition Agreement and continues on any date of determination, that was not known or
reasonably foreseeable to the Finish Line Board as of or prior to the execution and delivery of the
Acquisition Agreement and, with certain exceptions, became known to Finish Line prior to the date
of the Finish Line Shareholder Meeting, the Finish Line Board may withdraw its recommendation
to the holders of Finish Line Shares to approve the Acquisition Agreement (or change or qualify
such recommendation) if the Finish Line Board determines in good faith (after consultation with its
outside legal counsel and an independent financial advisor) that failure to so change its
recommendation would be a violation of its fiduciary duties.

7.       Termination rights

The Acquisition Agreement may be terminated (prior to the consummation of the Acquisition) by
mutual written consent of Finish Line and the Company, and also under the following
circumstances:

7.1     Either Finish Line or the Company may terminate the Acquisition Agreement if:

(A)     the consummation of the Acquisition has not occurred on or before 25 September
2018; or

(B)     a governmental authority has taken action permanently restraining, enjoining or
otherwise prohibiting the Acquisition, and such action has become final and
non-appealable;

7.2     each of Finish Line or the Company may terminate (provided that the terminating party is not
in breach in any material respect of its obligations under the Acquisition Agreement) the
Acquisition Agreement in the event of (i) a continuing inaccuracy in the respective other
party’s representations and warranties contained in the Acquisition Agreement (subject to
certain materiality standards) or (ii) the respective other party’s non-performance of, or non-
compliance with, its covenants and agreements contained in the Acquisition Agreement, in
each case where such breach is not curable by 25 September 2018 or has not been cured
within 30 days after notice thereof;

7.3     Finish Line may terminate the Acquisition Agreement:

(A)     in order to accept a Superior Proposal (provided that Finish Line has complied with its
“no shop” obligations and has paid a $28 million “break fee” to the Company); or

(B)     if the Resolution has not been adopted at the General Meeting or any adjournment or
postponement thereof; and

7.4     the Company may terminate the Acquisition Agreement:

(A)     if the Finish Line Shareholder Approval has not been obtained at the Finish Line
Shareholder Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof;

(B)     the Finish Line Board has withdrawn, changed or qualified its recommendation to the
holders of Finish Line Shares to approve the Acquisition; or

(C)     Finish Line has breached its “no shop” obligations.
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8.       Termination fees and expense reimbursement

8.1     Finish Line must reimburse the Company’s reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees
and expenses incurred in connection with the contemplated Acquisition up to $5.6 million
(Expense Reimbursement) if:

(A)     Finish Line or the Company terminates the Acquisition Agreement because the
consummation of the Acquisition has not occurred on or before 25 September 2018
and, prior to such termination, a pending Alternative Transaction Proposal has been
made; or

(B)     the Company terminates the Acquisition Agreement because:

(i)       the Finish Line Shareholder Approval has not been obtained at the Finish Line
Shareholder Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof;

(ii)      prior to obtaining the Finish Line Shareholder Approval, the Finish Line Board
has withdrawn, changed or qualified its recommendation to the holders of Finish
Line Shares to approve the Acquisition Agreement;

(iii)     Finish Line has breached its “no shop” obligations;

(iv)     there is a continuing inaccuracy in Finish Line’s representations and warranties
and the Company is not in breach; or

(v)      Finish Line has not performed or complied with its covenants and such breach
is not curable by 25 September 2018 or has not been cured within 30 days after
notice thereof and the Company is not in breach.

Any such Expense Reimbursement will be credited against any “break fee” paid or payable
such that Finish Line, in the aggregate, will not be required to pay more than $28 million.

8.2     Finish Line must pay a termination fee of $28 million (minus any Expense Reimbursement
paid or payable) to the Company if:

(A)     Finish Line terminates the Acquisition Agreement in order to accept a Superior
Proposal (which Finish Line may only do if it has complied with its “no shop”
obligations);

(B)     the Company terminates the Acquisition Agreement because:

(i)       prior to obtaining the Finish Line Shareholder Approval, the Finish Line Board
has withdrawn, changed or qualified its recommendation to the holders of Finish
Line Shares to approve the Acquisition; or

(ii)      Finish Line has breached its “no shop” obligations; or 

(C)

(i)       Finish Line or the Company terminates the Acquisition Agreement because the
consummation of the Acquisition has not occurred on or before 25 September
2018, or

(ii)      the Company terminates the Acquisition Agreement because (i) the Finish Line
Shareholder Approval has not been obtained at the Finish Line Shareholder
Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, (ii) prior to obtaining the
Finish Line Shareholder Approval, Finish Line has withdrawn, changed or
qualified its recommendation to the holders of Finish Line Shares to approve the
Acquisition, (iii) Finish Line has breached its “no shop” obligations, or (iv) there
is a continuing inaccuracy in Finish Line’s representations and warranties or
Finish Line has not performed or complied with its covenants and such breach
is not curable by 25 September 2018 or has not been cured within 30 days after
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notice thereof (provided the Company is not in breach), and, in each such case
under this paragraph (C)(ii);

(a)     prior to such termination, an Alternative Transaction Proposal has been
made and was still pending at such termination; and

(b)     within 12 months after such termination, Finish Line agrees to undergo
(and subsequently consummates) or otherwise consummates a change
of control transaction.

9.       Governing law

The Acquisition Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Indiana (except for any dispute
or claim against any lender or any of its affiliates providing acquisition financing, which is governed
by the laws of the State of New York).
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PART VIII

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.       Responsibility                                                                                                                         

The Company and the Directors (whose names appear in paragraph 4.1 below) accept
responsibility for the information contained in this Circular. To the best of the knowledge and belief
of the Company and the Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case), the information contained in this Circular is in accordance with the facts and does not omit
anything likely to affect the import of such information.

2.       Incorporation and registered office                                                                                      

The Company was incorporated and registered in England and Wales on 21 February 1985 as
Flintkin Limited, a private company limited by shares with registered number 1888425. On 24 June
1985, the name of the Company was changed to John David Sports Limited and, on 11 September
1996, the Company was re-registered as a public company limited by shares, and re-named as
John David Sports Plc. The name of the Company was changed to The John David Group Plc on
4 October 2002 and further amended on 3 July 2008 to JD Sports Fashion Plc.

The registered office of the Company is at Hollinsbrook Way, Pilsworth, Bury, Lancashire, BL9
8RR.

3.       Share capital

The total issued share capital of the Company as at the Last Practicable Date was £2,433,083,
comprised of 973,233,160 ordinary shares of 0.25p each.

4.       Directors

4.1     Directors
The names and principal functions of the directors of the Company are as follows:

Name Position
Peter Cowgill Executive Chairman
Brian Small Chief Financial Officer
Andrew Leslie Non-executive Director
Martin Davies Non-executive Director
Heather Jackson Non-executive Director
Andrew Rubin Non-executive Director

4.2     Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment providing for benefits upon
termination of employment

(a)      Executive Directors
                                                                            Notice period
Name                        Date of contract                    (months)                Unexpired term
Peter Cowgill             16 March 2004                           12                  Rolling 12 months
Brian Small                10 March 2004                           12                  Rolling 12 months

(i)       The Company’s policy is that notice periods for executive Directors are for no
longer than 12 months.

(ii)      Upon early termination, the Company may make a termination payment not
exceeding one year’s salary and benefits and, if appropriate, incidental
expenses may be paid. In determining the amount payable, the Board will
consider each matter individually and evaluate the contractual terms,
termination circumstances and the Company's commercial interests. 
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(iii)     Payment of a bonus to a departing Director is subject to the discretion of the
remuneration committee (Committee). 

(iv)     The Committee may make a payment to a departing Director for entering into
enhanced restrictive covenants where this is considered to be in the Company’s
best interests. 

(v)      The contract of an executive Director can be terminated immediately by the
Company in the event of gross misconduct. The only liability to make payments
is in relation to amounts accrued at the date of termination. 

(vi)     An executive Director can be put on garden leave for a maximum period of three
months. The Company may adjust this period for any new Directors. 

(vii)    An executive Director can terminate his employment by giving the Company 12
months' notice if 50 per cent. or more of the Company’s shares come under the
direct or indirect control of a person or persons acting in concert. Upon
termination, the executive Director is entitled to a sum equalling 112 per cent. of
his basic salary (less legally required deductions) and such Director waives any
claim for wrongful or unfair dismissal. 

(b)      Non Executive Directors
Each of Andrew Leslie, Martin Davies, Heather Jackson and Andrew Rubin, as Non-
Executive Directors, have entered into letters of appointment with the Company which
are terminable by the director on not less than three months’ notice. 

4.3     Directors’ interests                                                                                                                 
As at the Last Practicable Date, the interests (all of which, unless otherwise stated, are
beneficial) of each Director and (so far as is known to them or could with reasonable
diligence be ascertained by them) their connected persons (under the Companies Act 2006)
in the issued share capital of the Company which have been notified by each Director to the
Company pursuant to MAR were as follows:

                                                                                                                               Percentage
                                                                                                   Number of               of issued
Name                                                                                          JD Shares         share capital
Peter Cowgill                                                                               8,410,260                      0.86
Brian Small                                                                                     514,000                      0.05

In addition, Andrew Rubin is a Director and a shareholder of Pentland Group plc, who own
approximately 57.47 per cent. of the total issued share capital of the Company.

5.       Major interests in shares                                                                                                       

As at the Last Practicable Date, those persons (other than the Directors) who, so far as the
Company is aware, are interested, directly or indirectly, in 3 per cent. or more of the Company’s
total voting rights and issued share capital is as set out in the table below:

                                                                                                                                         Percentage
                                                                                                             Number of               of issued
Name of shareholder                                                                            JD Shares        share capital
Pentland Group plc                                                                           559,274,440                    57.47
Standard Life Aberdeen plc                                                                 65,152,102                      6.69
Fidelity Management and Research                                                    43,211,976                      4.44
JP Morgan Asset Management                                                            29,194,111                      3.00
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Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any person who either:

(a)     is interested, whether directly or indirectly, in 3 per cent. or more of the issued ordinary share
capital of the Company; or

(b)     holds 3 per cent. or more of the voting rights attaching to JD Shares, held as shareholder or
through a direct or indirect holding of financial instruments (within the meaning of DTR
5.3.1R(1)) or a combination of such holdings.

6.       Related party transactions                                                                                                    

On 13 September 2017 the Company entered into an investment agreement (Investment

Agreement) relating to both the combination of JD Sprinter Holdings 2010, S.L. (JDSH) (a joint
venture between the Company and Balaiko) with the Sport Zone business of Sonae – SGPS, SA
(Sonae) (Sports Zone Transaction) and the Company’s purchase of shares in JDSH from
Balaiko Firaja Invest, S.L. (Balaiko Transaction). The Sports Zone Transaction and the Balaiko
Transaction were inter-conditional (together the Sonae Transaction).

Further details of the Sonae Transaction are set out at section 9.1 (d) below.

7.       Litigation and other proceedings

7.1     JD Sports                                                                                                                                 
There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings
which are pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) during the 12 months prior
to the date of this Circular which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant
financial effect on the financial position or profitability of JD Sports.

7.2     Finish Line
There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings
which are pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) during the 12 months prior
to the date of this Circular which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant
financial effect on the financial position or profitability of Finish Line.

8.       No significant change                                                                                                            

8.1     JD Sports
There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of JD Sports since
3 February 2018, being the date to which the audited full-year financial statements of JD
Sports have been drawn up.

8.2     Finish Line
There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Finish Line since
3 March 2018, being the date to which the most recent audited full-year financial statements
of Finish Line have been drawn up.

9.       Material contracts

9.1     JD Sports                                                                                                                                 
No contracts have been entered into (other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course
of business) by any JD Group Company either (a) within the two years immediately
preceding the date of this Circular which are or may be material or (b) which contain any
provision under which any JD Group Company has any obligations or entitlements which are
or may be material as at the date of this Circular, save as disclosed below:
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a)       Bank Facility
On 1 September 2015, the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company and
Barclays Bank PLC (as agent) entered into an amendment and restatement
agreement relating to a multicurrency revolving facility agreement dated 12 April 2011
(as amended and restated). The facility agreement relates to a £215 million syndicated
bank facility which terminates on 11 October 2019. The facility consists of a £215
million revolving credit facility of which up to £15 million can be used by way of
ancillary facilities. The revolving credit facility is syndicated in equal portions across
four banks (being Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank plc, Lloyds Banking Group plc and
The Royal Bank of Scotland plc), with Barclays Bank PLC being the sole provider of
the working capital facility. Advances under the revolving credit facility may be drawn
in pounds sterling, Euros and US dollars, with interest payable at a margin over the
London Interbank Offered Rate or the European Interbank Offered Rate, as
appropriate.

b)       Acquisition of Aktiesport and Perry Sport
On 23 March 2016, Sports Unlimited Retail BV (a JD Group Company) acquired the
trading assets and trade of the Aktiesport and Perry Sport fascias from the Trustee of
Unlimited Sports Group BV, which was declared bankrupt by the court of Amsterdam
on 23 February 2016. A total cash consideration of €26.5 million was payable
excluding fees, retention of title and other claims arising consequently upon the
bankruptcy process. In accordance with the laws of the Netherlands, the transaction
was approved by the ACM.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the combined Aktiesport and Perry Sport
businesses delivered aggregated results which showed consolidated revenues of
€159.4 million, an operating profit of €1.5 million, a profit before tax of €0.2 million and
gross assets of €67.4 million.

Given that the business was acquired from the Trustee in Bankruptcy, the Company
was provided with a very limited set of warranties as would be usual in an insolvent
transaction of this nature.

c)       Go Outdoors
Pursuant to the Go Outdoors Agreement, the Company acquired the entire issued
share capital of Go Outdoors on 27 November 2016 for cash consideration of
£112.3 million, with the Company also assuming net debt of approximately £16 million
as part of the transaction.

Go Outdoors is a nationwide omnichannel retailer catering for the outdoor enthusiast
and specialist alike, with 58 stores across the UK at acquisition. For the 53 week
period ended 31 January 2016, Go Outdoors had consolidated revenues of
£202.2 million, an operating profit of £6.1 million, a profit before tax of £4.9 million and
gross assets of £76.4 million.

This acquisition complemented JD Sports’ existing significant interest in the outdoor
market through its Blacks, Millets, Ultimate Outdoors and Tiso businesses.

The Go Outdoors Agreement contained a customary set of warranties and limited
indemnities. A proportion of the liability for claims under the agreement was assumed
by the sellers and the remainder covered by way of a warranty and indemnity
insurance policy.
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d)       Sonae Transaction
As detailed in section 6 above, on 13 September 2017 the Company entered into an
Investment Agreement relating to the Sonae Transaction.

As consideration for the Sport Zone Transaction, Sonae received a 30 per cent
shareholding in JDSH and a cash payment from the Company of €7.1 million.
Additionally, the Company completed the Balaiko Transaction in consideration for
which Balaiko received €6 million from the Company.

There is also contingent consideration of up to €23.2 million payable to Sonae in the
future by JDSH depending on the trading performance and the level of synergies
achieved.

In addition to the Investment Agreement there was also a shareholders’ agreement
entered into between the Company, Balaiko, Sonae and JDSH (Shareholders’

Agreement) upon completion of the Investment Agreement.

Under the Shareholders’ Agreement there are a number of put and call options as well
as a lock up period of three years after completion of the Sonae Transaction (Lock Up

Period). During the Lock Up Period share transfers in the ordinary course cannot be
carried out.

All defined terms in section 6 shall have the same meaning in this section 9.1 (d).

e)       New bank facility
On 29 May 2018, the JD RCF was replaced with the New RCF, up to £25 million of
which can be utilised by way of ancillary facilities provided by Barclays Bank PLC. The
New RCF is provided by a group of lenders being Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank
plc, Lloyds Bank plc, Handlesbanken AB and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
(Original Lenders) and was arranged by HSBC Bank plc and Barclays Bank PLC with
Barclays Bank PLC as document co-ordinator and agent (Agent). The new facility
agreement also provides for an additional uncommitted accordion facility of up to
£100 million (Accordion Facility). Barclays Bank PLC as ancillary lender provides (in
place of part of its commitment under the New RCF) ancillary facilities of up to
£25 million, including an overdraft facility, bonds, guarantees and/or indemnities
facility and a multi-option facility. 

The Company’s subsidiaries, Blacks Outdoor Retail Limited, Tessuti Ltd and Go
Outdoors Limited together with the Company are borrowers and guarantors to the
New RCF providing a continuing guarantee and indemnity for the performance of all
of the borrowers’ obligations under the New RCF.

If, and where, a subsidiary of the Company (where the Company holds a minimum of
75 per cent. of the voting shares in that subsidiary or where the Company holds
between 50 per cent. and 75 per cent. of the voting shares, that subsidiary would not
be contractually prohibited from granting the guarantee) has profit before tax or total
net assets representing 10 per cent. or more of the consolidated profits before tax or
the consolidated net assets of the Enlarged Group then it shall be considered to be a
Material Company and required to accede to the New RCF as a guarantor. The
guarantee and indemnity is provided on a joint and several basis. Additionally, Material
Companies and other subsidiaries of the Company are required (to the extent possible
from a regulatory perspective) to accede to the New RCF where the aggregate profit
before tax or aggregate total net assets of the existing guarantors is less than 80 per
cent. of the aggregate consolidated profits before tax or aggregate consolidated total
net assets of the Enlarged Group. If the Company is in compliance with this guarantor
threshold test, its subsidiary, JD Sprinter Holdings 2010 SL will not be required to
accede to the New RCF as a guarantor.
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The New RCF is made available by the Original Lenders to the borrowers for general
corporate purposes provided there is no default is continuing or would occur as a
result of the utilisation of the New RCF and upon satisfaction of the conditions
precedent to initial utilisation. In addition, where the utilisation of the New RCF is made
available for the purposes of paying for the consideration under the Acquisition
Agreement and/or merger costs, the Original Lenders require evidence that the
conditions precedent under the Acquisition Agreement and the ABL Facility have been
satisfied or waived.

Each loan has an interest rate comprised of the aggregate of the applicable LIBOR (or
if made in Euros, EURIBOR) for the relevant drawing and a margin of between 0.90
and 1.50 per cent. per annum (depending on the fixed charge cover ratio range). The
margin payable is subject to a margin ratchet pursuant to which the level may adjust,
both up and down, as Enlarged Group’s fixed charge cover ratio (that is, Enlarged
Group’s consolidated EBITDAR for the twelve month period ending on a particular
covenant test date divided by the consolidated net finance charges plus rent and
operating lease expenditure for the Enlarged Group for the twelve month period
ending on that covenant test date (Fixed Charge Cover)) increases or decreases.

Subject to an extension option, the New RCF will be repayable by the borrowers on
the fifth anniversary of the date on which the revolving credit facility agreement
between, amongst others, the Company, the Original Lenders and the Agent (RCF

Agreement) is executed. The Company will have the option to request, before the first
anniversary of the date of the RCF Agreement, that the Original Lenders extend the
term of the New RCF by 12 months and then a second option, before the second
anniversary of the date of the RCF Agreement, that the Original Lenders extend the
term of the New RCF by either 12 months or provided the term was not extended at
the end of the first year of the New RCF, by 24 months.

Mandatory prepayment provisions may also apply to require earlier prepayment, for
example, as a result of a change of control or illegality. Voluntary prepayments may be
made by the borrowers provided minimum thresholds for amounts and notice periods
have been met.

A number of standard representations and warranties will be given under the terms of
the RCF Agreement, many of which will be repeated on the date of each utilisation
request, each utilisation, on the first day of each interest period and on the date of any
extension of the term of the New RCF. Customary materiality tests, carve-outs and
grace periods will apply to the representations. 

The RCF Agreement requires that the borrowers and guarantors comply with, and, in
appropriate cases, require that the borrowers ensure the compliance of the Enlarged
Group with, a number of customary undertakings.

The terms of the RCF Agreement also contain three financial covenants, one requiring
that the Enlarged Group’s Fixed Charge Cover shall not be less than a particular level
for the twelve month period as at any test date, the second requiring that the
consolidated total net assets of the Enlarged Group is not less than £300 million at any
such test date and the third stating that the consolidated net borrowings of the
Enlarged Group shall not be more than the EBITDA of the Enlarged Group for the
twelve month period ending on a particular covenant test date. The financial
covenants are tested semi-annually by reference to the Enlarged Group’s
consolidated financial statements as at the Enlarged Group’s half year and audited
and consolidated financial statements as at the Enlarged Group’s year end (as
applicable).
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The events of default under the RCF Agreement are usual for a facility and transaction
of this type. Upon the occurrence of an event of default which is not remedied or
waived the Agent may, acting on the instructions of the majority of lenders (lenders
whose commitments aggregate more than 662⁄3 per cent. of the total commitments),
cancel the available New RCF and Accordion Facility, may declare all outstanding
payments to be immediately due and payable and may exercise all or any of its rights
under the finance documents.

9.2     Finish Line
No contracts have been entered into (other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course
of business) by any member of the Finish Line group, either (a) within the two years
immediately preceding the date of this Circular which are or may be material or (b) which
contain any provision under which any member of the Finish Line group has any obligations
or entitlements which are or may be material as at the date of this Circular, save as disclosed
below:

a)       Existing bank facility
On 30 November 2016, The Finish Line, Inc. (as parent) entered into a second
amended and restated credit agreement between, amongst others, (1) The Finish
USA, Inc., The Finish Line Distribution, Inc., Finish Line Transportation Co., Inc. and
Spike’s Holdings, LLC (Borrowers), (2) The Finish Line MA, Inc. (Guarantor), (3) the
lenders as detailed therein and (4) PNC Bank, National Association (Administrative
Agent) (Credit Agreement).

Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement the lenders would provide the
Borrowers with a $125 million revolving credit facility (RCF) and an incremental
revolving facility of up to $75 million, with each Borrower able to drawdown individual
loans to be used for the purpose of refinancing existing indebtedness, support working
capital needs and other general corporate purposes, including capital expenditures
and acquisitions. The lenders have provided (in place of part of their commitment
under the Credit Agreement) a $15 million swing loan subfacility (Swing Facility) and
a $40 million letters of credit subfacility (LOC) (together with the RCF and the Swing
Facility, the Facilities). The letters of credit had $1.6 million of drawings (as at
26 August 2017) with the RCF and swing loan subfacility under the Credit Agreement
remaining undrawn (as at 26 August 2017).

On the date of the Credit Agreement, the Guarantor has entered into a second
amended and restated continuing guaranty and suretyship, which guarantees the
obligations of the Borrowers under the Credit Agreement. Additionally, any other future
subsidiary of the Guarantor (save for i) The Running Specialty Group, LLC, ii) non-
USA subsidiaries that conduct all of their business outside of the USA, which are
incorporated under laws other than the USA and collectively have less than 10 per
cent. of the total assets or iii) all permitted joint ventures as detailed in the Credit
Agreement) shall guarantee the obligations of the Borrowers under the Credit
Agreement.

Each Facility has an interest rate comprised of the aggregate of the applicable LIBOR
(LIBOR) (or if a base rate loan the highest of i) the federal funds open rate plus 50
basis points, ii) the prime rate or iii) one month LIBOR plus 100 basis points) for the
relevant drawing and a margin of between i) 1.75-0.90 per cent. per annum in respect
of a LIBOR loan (with the margin linked to the leverage test), ii) 0.75-0.00 per cent. per
annum in respect of a Base Rate Loan (where the margin is linked to the leverage test)
and iii) where the facility drawn is a letter of credit the margin shall be between 1.25-
0.40 per cent. per annum (within the margin linked to the leverage test). In addition, a
commitment fee is payable at the rate of 0.20 per cent. per annum of the undrawn
Facilities.
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The Credit Agreement term ends on 30 November 2021 and the Credit Agreement
contains voluntary prepayment provisions provided that minimum thresholds are met
in respect of each facility and minimum notice periods in respect of each facility are
provided.

The Credit Agreement contains representations and warranties which are usual for an
agreement of this nature together with leverage and a minimum net worth financial
covenant. The events of default under the Credit Agreement are usual for these
Facilities. The Acquisition will cause a breach of the change of control clause and so
the Credit Agreement may need to be refinanced as part of the Acquisition.

b)       JackRabbit
On February 24, 2017, Finish Line completed the sale of its “JackRabbit” division of
retail stores to The Running Specialty Group, LLC, pursuant to a Membership Interest
Purchase Agreement dated January 26, 2017. The transaction took the form of a sale
by Finish Line of its entire membership interest in its affiliated company which owns
JackRabbit. As a result of the transaction, the buyers acquired all JackRabbit assets,
inventory, leasehold interests, customary liabilities, intellectual property, and the
JackRabbit trademark and name. Under the relevant transaction agreements, Finish
Line provided customary indemnification obligations, including liability for breach of
covenants and representations under the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement
until August 24, 2018, except for representations as to indebtedness, for which the
indemnification obligations expire on February 24, 2024, and representations for tax
and ERISA matters, for which the indemnification obligations survive for the respective
applicable statutes of limitations.

c)       New bank facility
The Company has obtained a commitment letter, dated March 25, 2018, from PNC
Bank, National Association and PNC Capital Markets LLC (Finish Line Debt

Commitment Letter) to provide debt financing to Finish Line and its subsidiaries upon
the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Finish Line Debt Commitment
Letter in the aggregate amount of up to $315 million, consisting of a $300 million
senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility and a $15 million first-in, last-out
senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility (ABL Facility). The ABL Facility is
underwritten by PNC Bank, National Association and will replace the existing revolving
credit facility of Finish Line. 

The obligations to provide the financing at Completion under the Finish Line
Commitment Letter are subject to a number of conditions, including (i) since March 25,
2018, there not having occurred any event, occurrence, fact, condition, change,
development, circumstance or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or
would reasonably be expected to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect (ii) the
consummation of the Acquisition in accordance in all material respects with the terms
of the Acquisition Agreement (without giving effect to any amendment, modification or
waiver thereof or any consent thereunder that is materially adverse to the lenders
without the prior written consent of the administrative agent for the lenders)
substantially simultaneously with the initial borrowings under the debt facilities, (iii) the
Company and/or its affiliates shall have invested a minimum of 33.33 per cent. of the
total pro forma capitalization of Finish Line and its subsidiaries on the closing date in
the form of cash equity into the capital stock or other equity securities of Finish Line,
(iv) the consummation of the closing refinancing substantially simultaneously with the
initial borrowings under the debt facilities, including the termination of all commitments
under Finish Line’s existing credit facilities and the release of all liens related thereto,
(v) the delivery of pro forma projections (including a pro forma closing balance sheet
and pro forma statements of operations and cash flows) for Finish Line and its
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subsidiaries for the years 2018 through 2023, with quarterly projections for the first
four quarters after the closing date and annual projections thereafter, including the
assumptions used in preparing such projections, (vi) in the case of the Finish Line debt
facilities, the taking of certain actions necessary to establish and perfect a security
interest in the applicable collateral, subject to certain exceptions, (vii) the receipt by
the arrangers, the agents and the lenders of documentation and other information
about the borrowers and guarantors required under applicable “know your customer”
and anti-money laundering rules and regulations (including the U.S.A. PATRIOT Act),
(viii) the execution and delivery by the applicable borrowers and guarantors of
definitive documentation with respect to the applicable debt facilities consistent with
the applicable debt commitment letter, (ix) the delivery of certain customary closing
documents (including customary closing certificates, officer’s or director’s certificates,
solvency certificates, legal opinions, funds flow statements, authorizing board
resolutions, required shareholder consents or resolutions, lien searches and
insurance certificates), (x) there shall be no order, injunction or decree of any
governmental authority restraining or prohibiting the merger or the transactions
contemplated under the debt facilities, (xi) all regulatory approvals and licenses, if any,
required to be obtained by the borrowers for the execution and delivery of the definitive
documentation for the debt facilities shall have been obtained, (xii) the administrative
agent shall have received copies of all third-party due diligence reports initiated and
received by the Company as it relates to the merger, (xiii) the administrative agent
shall have received copies of the Acquisition Agreement and other material
documentation relating to the Acquisition, (xiv) the availability under the Finish Line
debt facilities at closing after the making of the initial borrowings thereunder, the
payment of all fees and expenses and subtraction of trade payables over 60 days past
due not otherwise on formal extended terms, shall be at least $60 million, (xv) the
making and accuracy in all material respects of certain representations and
warranties, including the specified representations set forth in the applicable debt
commitment letter and certain representations and warranties in the Acquisition
Agreement, and (xvi) the payment of applicable fees and expenses.

The obligations of the financing sources under the Finish Line Debt Commitment
Letter to provide the ABL Facility will terminate at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on
October 25, 2018 (or such earlier date which is the earlier of (i) the completion of the
Acquisition without the use of the Finish Line debt facilities, (ii) the closing of the Finish
Line debt facilities or (iii) written notice by JD Sports to the financing sources under the
Finish Line debt commitment letter, or the public announcement, of the abandonment
or termination of the Acquisition Agreement), unless such financing sources shall
agree to an extension.

10.     Working capital statement                                                                                                     

The Company is of the opinion that, taking into account the bank facilities (which include the New
Bank Facilities available to the Enlarged Group), the Enlarged Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements, that is for the next 12 months from the date of this Circular.

11.     Consents

11.1   Sponsor                                                                                                                                   
Investec Bank plc has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this
Circular with the inclusion of its name and references to it in the form and context in which
they appear.
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11.2   Financial adviser
Barclays Bank PLC acting through its Investment Bank has given and has not withdrawn its
written consent to the inclusion of its name and references to it in the form and context in
which they appear.

11.3   Accountants
KPMG LLP has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in Part IV of
this Circular of its report on the unaudited reconciliation of financial information on Finish
Line to IFRS as applied by the JD Group set out in Part IV and to the inclusion in Part VI of
this Circular of its report on the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged
Group set out in Part VI in the form and context in which the reports are included.

12.     Documents on display                                                                                                           

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Company’s registered office at
Hollinsbrook Way, Pilsworth, Bury, Lancashire, BL9 8RR and at the offices of Addleshaw Goddard
LLP, Milton Gate, 60 Chiswell Street, London, EC1Y 4AG, during normal business hours on any
Business Day from the date of this Circular until the conclusion of the General Meeting:

(A)     the articles of association of the Company;

(B)     the written consents referred to in paragraph 11 above;

(C)     the Acquisition Agreement;

(D)     the reports from KPMG LLP set out in Parts IV and VI of this Circular;

(E)     the audited consolidated accounts of JD Sports for the years ended 30 January 2016,
28 January 2017 and 3 February 2018;

(F)     the service contracts and letters of appointment of the Directors; and

(G)     a copy of this Circular.

Dated 30 May 2018
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DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply throughout this Circular unless the context requires otherwise:

Acquisition the proposed acquisition by the Company of Finish Line on

the terms set out in the Acquisition Agreement;

Acquisition Agreement the merger agreement entered into among the Company,

Genesis Merger Sub, Inc. and Finish Line dated 25 March

2018 relating to the Acquisition, further details of which are

set out in Part VII of this Circular;

Alternative Transaction Proposal has the meaning given in paragraph 5 of Part VII of this

Circular;

Board or the Directors the directors of the Company whose names are set out in

paragraph 4.1 of Part VIII of this Circular (or, where the

context requires, the directors of the Company for the time

being);

Business Days a day (other than Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays in

the UK) on which banks are open for business in the City of

London;

Circular this document;

Company JD Sports Fashion Plc (a company incorporated and

registered in England and Wales with number 1888425);

means a material adverse effect on (i) the business, assets,

liabilities, results of operations or financial condition of Finish

Line and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, subject to a

number of customary exceptions, or (ii) the ability of Finish

Line to perform its obligations under the Acquisition

Agreement or to consummate the Acquisition and the other

transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement.

Completion the completion of the Acquisition;

CREST the system of paperless settlement of trades in securities and

the holding of uncertificated securities operated by Euroclear

UK & Ireland Limited in accordance with the Uncertificated

Securities Regulation 2001;

CREST Proxy Instruction a proxy appointment or instruction made via CREST,

authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland

Limited’s specifications and containing the information set out

in the CREST Manual;

the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules of the

FCA;

EBITDA income from continuing operations before income taxes,

depreciation, amortisation, impairment charges and store

closing costs;

Enlarged Group JD Sports as at and from completion of the Acquisition;

Disclosure Guidance and

Transparency Rules or DTR

Company Material Adverse

Effect
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Equiniti or the Registrar Equiniti Limited, a limited company incorporated in England

and Wales with registered number 6226088 whose registered

office is at Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West

Sussex, BN99 6DA;

FCA the Financial Conduct Authority;

Finish Line The Finish Line, Inc., an Indiana Corporation;

the directors of Finish Line for the time being;

Finish Line Group Finish Line and its subsidiaries;

Finish Line Shares Class A common shares of Finish Line;

Finish Line The Finish Line, Inc. (a corporation incorporated in Indiana,

US);

approval by the holders of a majority of the issued and

outstanding Finish Line Shares;

Form of Proxy the form of proxy enclosed with this Circular for use by

Shareholders in connection with the General Meeting;

General Meeting the general meeting of the Company to consider the

Resolution, which is expected to be held on 15 June 2018, or

any adjournment of that meeting;

Go Outdoors Go Outdoors Topco Limited (registered number 7575615);

Go Outdoors Agreement the sale and purchase agreement dated 27 November 2016

and entered into between Paul Caplan and others and the

Company;

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards;

JD Group and JD Sports the Company and its subsidiaries;

JD Group Company an entity in the JD Group;

JD Shares ordinary shares of 0.25p each in the capital of the Company;

Last Practicable Date 29 May 2018 (being the last practicable date prior to

publication of this Circular);

LIBOR the London Interbank Offered Rate;

London Stock Exchange plc;

Listing Rules the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority;

MAR the Market Abuse Regulation (2014/596/EU);

New Bank Facilities the New RCF and the ABL Facility;

Notice the notice convening the General Meeting which is set out at

the end of this Circular;

Proxy Statement the proxy statement pursuant to section 14(a) of the

US Securities Exchange Act of 1934 filed by Finish Line with

the SEC on 7 May 2018 in relation to the Acquisition;

LSE or London Stock

Exchange

Finish Line Directors or Finish

Line Board

Finish Line Shareholder

Approval
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Resolution the ordinary resolution to approve the Acquisition to be

considered by Shareholders at the General Meeting and

which is set out in the Notice;

SEC the United States Securities and Exchange Commission;

Shareholder a holder for the time being of JD Shares;

Superior Proposal has the meaning given in paragraph 5 of Part VII of this

Circular;

UK the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

UK Listing Authority the FCA acting in its capacity as the competent authority for

the purposes of Part VIII of the Financial Services and

Markets Act 2000;

United States or US the United States of America, its territories and possessions,

any state of the United States of America and the District of

Columbia; and

U.S. GAAP generally accepted accounting principles in the United

States.
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JD Sports Fashion Plc
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with number 1888425)

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a GENERAL MEETING of JD Sports Fashion Plc (Company)

will be held at Hollinsbrook Way, Pilsworth, Bury, Lancashire, BL9 8RR at 9.00 a.m. on 15 June

2018 for the purposes of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolution, which will

be proposed as an ordinary resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION

THAT the proposed acquisition by the Company (or one of its subsidiaries) of The Finish Line, Inc.

on the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the merger agreement dated 25 March

2018 made between the Company, Genesis Merger Sub, Inc. and The Finish Line, Inc.

(Acquisition) and summarised in the circular (Circular) sent to shareholders on 30 May 2018 and

the associated and ancillary arrangements related thereto be and are hereby approved, and any

and all of the directors (or duly authorised committee thereof) be and are hereby authorised to (i)

do all such acts and things and execute all such agreements and make such arrangements as may

seem to them necessary, expedient or appropriate for the purpose of giving effect to, or otherwise

in connection with, the Acquisition and any associated ancillary arrangements related thereto, and

(ii) agree and make such modifications, variations, revisions, waivers or amendments in relation to

any of the foregoing (provided that such modifications, variations, revisions, waivers or

amendments are not material) as they may in their absolute discretion think necessary, expedient

or appropriate.

By order of the Board                                                                                            Registered Office:
Siobhan Mawdsley                                                                                               Hollinsbrook Way

Company Secretary                                                                                                             Pilsworth

                                                                                                                                                    Bury

                                                                                                                                         Lancashire

                                                                                                                                            BL9 8RR

Dated 30 May 2018

Notes:

1.    The right to vote at the meeting is determined by reference to the register of members. Only the members registered

in the register of members of the Company as at 6.30 p.m. on 13 June 2018 or, in the event that the meeting is

adjourned, in the register of members as at 6.30 p.m. on the day that is two days prior to the date of any adjourned

meeting shall be entitled to attend or vote at the meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name

at that time. Changes to entries in the register of members after 6.30 p.m on 13 June 2018 or, in the event that the

meeting is adjourned, after 6.30 p.m. on the day that is two days prior to the date of any adjourned meeting shall be

disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote (and the number of votes they may cast) at the

meeting. In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by

proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holder and for this purpose seniority shall be

determined by the order in which the names appear in the register of members.

2.    A member is entitled to appoint another person as his or her proxy to exercise all or any of his or her rights to attend,

speak and vote at the meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. A member may appoint more than

one proxy in relation to the meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a

different share or shares held by that member. In order to appoint more than one proxy, a member will need to

complete a separate Form of Proxy in relation to each appointment. Additional Forms of Proxy may be obtained by

contacting the Company’s Registrar on 0371 384 2356 (lines are open 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. from Monday to Friday

excluding public holidays in England and Wales) or you may photocopy the enclosed Form of Proxy. Overseas

Shareholders should call +44 121 415 7047. You will need to state clearly on each Form of Proxy the number of JD

Shares in relation to which the proxy is appointed. All Forms of Proxy must be signed and should be sent to the

Registrar in the same envelope. A failure to specify the number of JD Shares which each proxy appointment relates

to or the specification of a number of JD Shares which, on its own or when taken together with the numbers of JD

Shares set out in the other proxy appointments, is in excess of the number of JD Shares held by the member, may

result in the proxy appointment being invalid. You can only appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in these

notes and the notes to the Form of Proxy.
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3.    To be valid, Forms of Proxy must be received by post or (during business hours only) by hand at the office of the Registrar,

Equiniti, at Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing BN99 6DA, no later than 9.00 a.m. on 13 June 2018 (or, if the meeting

is adjourned, not less than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting). A Form of Proxy is enclosed.

4.    Completion and return of the Form of Proxy or any electronic proxy appointment or any CREST proxy instruction will

not prevent a member from attending and voting in person should he or she so wish.

5.    CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies for the meeting (or any adjournment of it) through

the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the procedures described in the CREST

Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have

appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be

able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

6.    In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST

message (a CREST Proxy Instruction) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland

Limited’s specifications, and must contain the information required for such instruction, as described in the CREST

Manual (available via www.euroclear.com/CREST). The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the

appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to

be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the Registrar, Equiniti (ID RA19) no later than 9.00 a.m. on 13 June

2018 (or if the meeting is adjourned, no later than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting). After this time,

any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through

other means. For these purposes, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp

applied to the message by the CREST Application Host) from which Equiniti is able to retrieve the message by

enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST.

7.    CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting services providers should note that

Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular message.

Normal system timings and limitations will, therefore, apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is

the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member,

or sponsored member, or has appointed a voting service provider, to procure that his or her CREST sponsor or voting

service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of

the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST

sponsors or voting system providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning

practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

8.    The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of

the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

9.    As at 29 May 2018 (being the last practicable date prior to the publication of this document), the Company’s issued

share capital consisted of 973,233,160 ordinary shares of 0.25p each carrying one vote each. The Company does not

hold any shares in treasury. Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at 29 May 2018 were 973,233,160.

10.  A member which is a corporation may authorise one or more persons to act as its representative(s) at the meeting.

Each such representative may exercise (on behalf of the corporation) the same powers as the corporation could

exercise if it were an individual member, provided that (where there is more than one representative and the vote is

otherwise than on a show of hands) they do not do so in relation to the same shares.

11.   Where a copy of this notice is being received by a person who has been nominated to enjoy information rights under

section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (nominee):

(a)   the nominee may have a right under an agreement between the nominee and the member by whom he/she was

nominated, to be appointed, or to have someone else appointed, as a proxy for the meeting; or

(b)   if the nominee does not have any such right or does not wish to exercise such right, the nominee may have a

right under any such agreement to give instructions to the member as to the exercise of voting rights.

12.  The statements in relation to the appointment of proxies in notes 2 to 8 above do not apply to nominees. The rights

described in such notes can only be exercised by members of the Company.

13.  Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask question accordance with section 319A of the Companies Act

2006, as amended. The Company must cause to be answered any such question relating to the business being dealt

with at the meeting, but no such answer need be given if:

(a)   to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential

information;

(b)   the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question; or

(c)   it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the question be answered.

14.  You may not use any electronic address provided in either this notice or any related document (including the Form

of Proxy) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.

15.  A copy of this notice and any other information required by s311A of the Companies Act 2006, as amended, can be

found at www.jdplc.com.
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